


FROM GENES TO DRUGS

deCODE genetics is a global leader in applying human genetics to develop drugs and diagnostic
tests for common diseases. Our population apgroach has enabled us to discover and target

key biological pathways involved in conditions ranging from cardiovascular disease to cancer,
We are turning these discoveries into new medicine to better treat and prevent many of the
biggest challenges to public health. deCODE is delivering on the promise of the new genetics.




2006 HIGHLIGHTS

deCODE published its discovery of variants in the TCF7L2 gene associated with
significantly increased risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D). This discovery, the most
important inherited risk factor for T2D found to date, has since been validated in
more than twenty populations around the world. In 2007, deCODE expects o
launch a DNA-based test, based upon this discovery, for assessing inherited risk
of T2D.

Through the acquisition of [celandic cancer research group UVS, deCODE
expanded its population-based resources and gene discovery programs in
cancer.

We completed our Phase | and Phase lla clinical trials for DG0O41, our first-in-class
anti-platelet compound for the prevention of arterial thrombosis. The results of
our clinical work to date indicate that DG041 may offer a mechanism-specific
means of preventing the formation of thrombi without increasing bleeding time.

in studies in lceland, the US. and Sweden, deCODE scientists discovered
and confirmed gene variants on chromosome 8 linked to increased risk of
prostate cancer. The discovery represents one of the first common variants
ever discovered to confer significant risk of a common cancer in the general
population, ‘

deCODE and Ilumina formed a strategic alliance to develop DNA-based
diagnostics for several diseases, and deCODE began applying lllumina’s
genome-wide association SNP chips to its gene discovery work.

In its drug development programs for the prevention of heart attack targeting
the leukotriene pathway, the company has successfully completed Phase |
clinical testing of its LTA4 hydrolase inhibitor DGOS1. Preliminary results of this
work showed DGO51 to be well-tolerated, 1o reduce leukotriene B4 production
in a dose-dependent manner, and to have a pharmacokinetic profile suitable for
once-a-day dosing. The company launched a Phase lli trial for its 5-lipoxygenase
activating protein {FLAP) inhibitor DGO31, but voluntarily suspended the trial to
address a problem with tablet formulation.

deCODE scientists discovered variants in the BARD1 gene conferring risk of
breast cancer in the general population and significant additional risk in women
carrying known risk variants in the BRACAZ gene,




PRESIDENT’'S LETTER

Cver the past year deCODE has made significant progress in the execution of its product
development strategy: to advance toward the marketplace new drugs for the treatment of
major indications and DNA-based tests for gauging inherited risk of common diseases and
responsiveness to ceriain medications. At the same time we have accelerated the productivity of
the gene discovery engine that underpins our product development, underscoring the strategic
advantage of our human genetics capabilities and providing a stream of new targets for our
therapeutic and diagnostic pipelines.

In 2006, we brought into clinical trials two compounds coming cut of deCODE's integrated
human genetics and cheristry capabilities. These firsi-in-class compounds target the proteins
made by genes we have isolated in two of the biggest indications in medicine. G041, our
developmental compound for the prevention of arterial thrombaosis, is an anti-platelet inhibitor
of the EP3 receptor for prostaglandins E2. Built upon our genetics work that pinpointed EP3 as a
key modulator of thrombotic events, we believe that DG041 may offer a novel and more specific
means of inhibiting platelet aggregation at the sites where thrombi form in the vasculature.

In 2006 we completed Phase | and Phase lla clinical testing of DG041. The results of this work
suggest that DG041 can effectively inhibit platelet aggregation mediated through EP3, but
without increasing bleeding time. A novel drug with these characteristics would have broad
clinical utility and a significant advantage over existing anti-thrombotics,

In our program to develop new drugs for the prevention of heart attack we are advancing two
compounds, DG031 and DGOS 1, Both target proteins in the leukotriene pathway encoded

by genes we have linked to increased risk of heart attack. And both genes confer risk of heart
attack through a single biological mechanism: upregulating the activity of the pathway and its
production of the pro-inflammatory molecule leukotriene B4 (LTB4). :

Our drug development work is focused on inhibiting these proteins as a means of containing
the production of LTB4, thereby reining in the inflammatory processes and propensity to plaque
rupture that can lead to heart attack. DGOS 1, an inhibitor of leukotriene A4 hydrolase (LTA4H)
discovered by cur chemistry unit, has now completed Phase | clinical testing. The first results
coming out of the Phase | studies show DGO51 to be safe and well-tolerated at all doses tested,
to lower LTB4 levels in a dose-dependent manner, and with a pharmacokinetic profile suitable
for once-a-day dosing. In October of last year an unexpected formulation problem with the




tablets of our other rlmeart artack compound, DG031, which inhibits the 5-lipoxygenase activating
protein (FLAP), led us to voluntarily suspend the Phase Il trial. We are reformulating DG031 and
are on schedule to be ready to reinitiate Phase Il testing near the end of this year.

DNA-based diagnostic tests are a second major avenue through which we are capturing the
value coming out of :work in human genetics. Genetic variants conferring susceptibility to
common diseases ofrer the starting point for drug discovery rooted in the basic biology of
disease. But they are also, by definition, markers that can be directly employed in genetic tests
for gauging individual risk of disease and for identifying individuals likely to derive particular
benefit from drugs tl';at target the same pathways. We believe that such tests will become an
important new tool for improving healthcare in the years ahead, enabling more effective disease
prevention and treatment strategies.

We are positioning deCODE at the forefront of this new field. In the latter months of 2006 we set
up our genetic testim'g reference laboratory, and in early 2007 are preparing to launch our first
reference laboratory test, for a SNP in the TCF7L2 gene that we have linked to increased risk of
type 2 diabetes.

The key to the develc:pment of such tests lies in content - in the ability to effectively identify
common gene variants conferring significant increased risk of disease. deCODE is the world
leader in this fietd, and we expect 1o follow our type 2 diabetes test with others for atrial
fibrillation, prostate céncer, and heart attack, among others. With aur installation at deCODE of a
major SNP genotypinb facility, we have now brought together our established capabilities and
assets in human genetics with the new power of genome-wide SNP chips. We are now seeing
the results in a steadyI stream of major new gene discoveries.

Through our product Ldewaloprmant efforts deCODE is focused on creating and capturing
the medical and comlmercial potential of our discoveries for patients, the company and its
shareholders, | look forward to sharing our progress with you in the year ahead.

Kéari Stefansson
President, Chairman and CEQ
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OUR PIPELINE

deCODE is developing new drugs and diagnostics to better treat and prevent
common diseases, We base our drug and diagnostics development on targets
coming out of our unique population-based gene discovery engine. Qur approach
enables us to pursue drug discovery and development in major indications, focusing
on a small number of targets with a validated role in key biological pathways
underlying disease. Our gene discoveries also provide us with the content to develop
DNA-based tests for gauging predisposition to common diseases, tests aimed at
guiding more effective prevention and treatment for some of the biggest challenges
to public health.

Drug development

We are currently advancing three compounds through clinical development. DG041,
our developmental anti-platelet compound far the prevention of arterial thrombosis,
is in Phase It clinical testing, We have two compounds in clinical develocprent
targeting the leukotriene pathway for the prevention of heart attack - DG051, which
has recently completed a Phase | program, and DG03 1, which we are reformulating
for re-entry into Phase ill trials.

Drug Discovery

deCODE's strategic advantage lies in our ability to identify, in a virtually hypothesis-
free manner, genes and drug targets modulating risk for commen diseases. From the
wealth of targets coming out of our gene discovery work we select those we wish

to take into drug discovery. Our biology, structural biclogy and medicinal chemistry
units enable us to discover novel compounds against these targets and take them
forward to IND and on inio clinical development, whether on our own or with
corporate partners.

Diagnostics

We are also applying our gene discoveries to develop DNA-based diagnostic tests.
Such tests offer a novel means of gauging individual susceptibility to disease,

and may enable better-informed and more effective prevention and therapeutic
strategies. We expect to launch our first reference laboratory test in 2007, for a major
genetic risk factor conferring risk of type 2 diabetes, and expect to follow this test with
others for atrial fibrillation/stroke, prostate cancer and heart attack, among others.
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*Trials conducted on behalf of Cephalon, Inc., which is currently evaluating the next steps in developmaent. .
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Clinical Programs

deCODE is applying its discoveries in human genetics to develop drugs to prevent and treat
some of the most significant challenges to public health. We currently have three compounds
in clinical development, including one for the prevention of arterial thrombosis and two for the
prevention of heart attack.

DGO031 and DGG51 for the prevention of heart attack (myocardial infarction)

The variants in the two genes we have isofated conferring risk of heart attack have peinted us to
a major biological mechanism causing increased risk of myocardial infarction: the upregulation
of the leukotriene pathway leading to increased producticn of the inflammatory mediator
leukotriene B4 (LTB4). Our two develocpmental compounds are aimed at reducing the incidence
of heart attack by inhibiting the proteins encoded by these two genes, 5-lipoxygenase
activating protein (FLAP) and leukotriene A4 hydrolase (LTA4H), and thereby to rein in the
pathway's production of LTB4. Both compounds have been shown in clinical trials to reduce
the preduction of leukotriene B4 in a dose-dependent manner. DGOS1, a first-in-class inhibitor
of LTA4H developed by deCODE's chemistry unit, completed Phase I testing in early 2007, and
DGO31, a FLAP inhibitor licensed by deCODE from Bayer AG, is currently being reformulated for
reentry into Phase |l clinical testing.




DGO041 for the prevention of arterial thrombosis

DGO041 is our develop!rnental compound for the prevention of arterial thrombosis. tt is a novel
anti-platelet targeting} the EP3 receptor for prostaglandins E2. EP3 is transcribed by a gene we
discovered to confer fisk of thrombosis in the legs and arms, and our own and others findings
have lent growing support to the broad relevance of this pathway in modulating thrombotic
events. We believe that DG041 may offer a novel means of inhibiting platelet aggregation
specifically ai the sites where thrombi form in the vasculature. In 2006 we completed Phase | and
Phase lla clinical testirgg of DG041. The results of this work suggest that DG041 can effectively
inhibit platelet aggreg'ation mediated through EP3, without increasing bleeding time. As risk of
bleeding is one of the most serious side effects of existing anti-platelet therapy, we believe that
a mechanism-speciﬁc!anti-thrombotic that could avert this shericoming would have wide
clinical utility.




FQRBETTER HEALTH
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Discovery Programs

deCODES’ strategic advantage lies in our akility t¢ identify genes and drug targets involved
in major therapeutic areas with unmet medical need. By targeting the proteins encoded by
these genes or others within the same biclogical pathways we can take aim at disrupting the
biclogical processes that lead to disease, not just the signs and symptoms, Qur integrated drug
discovery capabilities enable us to discover novel compounds against these targets and take
them inta clinical trials. We currently have two compounds in clinical development that have
come out of our integrated iarget and drug discovery capabilities - DG041 and DGO51 — and
are currently advancing preciinical work on PDE4 inhibitors for vascular disease/stroke under our
alliance with Roche, as well as programs against targets we have identified in inflammation, pain,

| and obesity.

|




FOR BETTER PREVENTION
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Diagnostics

deCODE is employing Llits breakthrough gene discoveries in a range of disease areas to develop
DNA-based tests to gauge inherited risk of common diseases. We believe that such tests will
become an increasingly important part of healthcare in the years ahead, and that deCODE is
well positioned to take a leading role in this field. The common diseases — including cardio-
vascular disease, diabetes, obesity and many cancers — occur at the interface of genes and
the environment. Both inherited, as well as and lifestyle and health factors, play a role in the
disease process. For this reason, understanding inherited risk is empowering information with
potentially important clinical utility. It is possible to take preventive action - through lifestyle
modification or by taking medication — to minimize the likelihood of an inherited predisposition
ever developing into a disease,

[}
The key to developing such tests is the ability to identify major, common risk factars for common
diseases and deCODE i a world leader in this field. In 2007 the company plans to launch its first
reference laboratory DMA-based test, for a gene variant linked to type 2 diabetes, and expects to

follow this test with a series of other tests for atrial ibrillation/stroke, heart attack and prostate
cancer, among others. |




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Consolidated Statements of Operations

— h
f( For the)Years Ended December 31 ‘
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
REVENUE . ..o 540,510 $43,955 $42,127
Operating expenses:
Cost of revenue, including collaborative programs.. ... 42,660 37,263 43,407
Research and development—proprietary programs.................. 57,108 43,748 . 24,942
Selling, general and agministrative . ... oo oo 25,206 20,118 20,187
Total OPerating EXPeNSES ..o\t vttt e 124,974 101,129 88,536
OPBIAtING OS5 .o e e _ (84,464) (57,174) {46,409)
INTerest iNCOMIE . .. 6,685 6,397 2,903
[ e (T = o =] L = (7,808) (7.484) (8,983)
Other non-operaiing (expense) and income, net..................... 114 {4,489) (4,766)
N OS5 . o 5(85,473) 5(62,750) 5(57,255)
Basic and diluted net loss pershare ............ ... ... . ... ..., ${(1.49) S(147) $(1.07)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share ... .. 57.465 53,824 53,423
\N )

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Data
r—_— = —_ -"_""_—_—""'_""_"—""'_—_\—-""_"‘\

i At December 31, At December 31,
2006 2005

in thogsands

Cash and INVESTMIENES .ottt ettt e e 515216 $ 155,554
TOtal S5 BS « ot e e 215,609 206,758
Total liabilities .. ..o 270,988 216,095
Total stockholders’ {deficit) equity. ..o i (55,379) (9,337)

W 2
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Relative Stock Performance

Set forth below is & line graph comparing the percentage change in the cumulative total

The graph assurnes, $100 was invested on December 31, 2001 in our common stock and each

of the indices, and that dividends were reinvested. Na cash dividends have been declared on

our common stock as of December 3 1, 2006. The compariscns in the graph are required by the
Securities and Exch'ange Commission and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible
future performanceI of our common stock.

stockholder return fon our common stock to the cumulative total return of the Nasdag Composite
Index.and the Nasdaq Biotechnology Index for the period commencing December 31, 2001 and
ended December 31, 2006.
i
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December 31,
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 i
deCODE genetics, l;"nc. $100.00 $18.88 $83.57 $79.69 $84.29 $46.22 i
Nasdaq Composite|Index $100.00 | $6847 1510291 | $11233 | $11477 | $12657 i
| Nasdaq Biotechnology Index $100.00 | $54.67 $79.68 $84.59 $87.02 $87.95 | i
|
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DELIVERING ON THE PROMISE OF

THE NEW GENETICS

is applying its global leadership in human genetics to create and bring to market new

deCODE

ng new drugs and diagnostics

i

with the potential to deliver major medical benefit to patients and to create significant value for

medicine aimed at the root causes of disease. deCODE is advanc
the company and its shareholders.
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION '

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

{Mark One)

X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006

or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number 000-30469

deCODE genetics, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 04-3326704
(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer
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Sturlugata 8, Reykjavik, Iceland
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{Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Comimon Stock, $.001 par value The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known scasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.Yes d No &

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act.
YesO No&E

Indicate by check: mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months {or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.Yes @ No ¥

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not
be contained, 1o the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Parz 111 of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. ()

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition
of “accelerated filer” and “large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer (X Non-accelerated filer O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).Yes El No X

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based on the closing
price of the common stock ($6.19 per share), as of June 30, 2006, was $326,681,490.
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the reg|strant s classes of common stock, as of February 28, 2007,
Class Number of Shares
Common Stock, $.001 par value 61,697,833
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Headquartered in Reyk]awk Iceland, deCODE isa bropharmaceutlcal company applymg 1ts
dtscovenes in human genetlcs to develop drugs and dlagnostlcs for comrnon dlseases Our populanon .
approach ’and resources enable us to 1solate genes and drug targets dlrectly lnvolved in the developmenf of’
many of 't1he dlseases whlch pose 'the blggest challenges to pubhc health We are tummg these dlscoverles
lnto a growmg plpehne of therapeutlcs and dtagnostlc tests takmg aim at the' causes of dlsease not ]ust the
srgns and symptoms As these drseases are common and current therapres are of hmnted effectlveness we
beheve that our, strategy represents a 51gn1fieant opportumty to create better medlcme w1th maJor potentlal
in the global marketrplacel ; Ce "

Ty "'l" PRSP T ’ O AP AT ‘T..’ut.f i e b
.. We believe that deCODE’s advantage derives from our umque ‘competence in human genetlcs andithe
ability to apply our findings directly to drug and diagnostic development: In Iceland, we have ;0 s ur
comprehensive: population:resources that enable.our scientists to isolate key genes and gene,variants,r Do
contributing tc common diseases. The proteins encoded by these genes, and othier proteins with which they
mteract in the disease pathway, offer drug targets that we believe are ¢ dlrectly involved i in the onset and
progressmn ‘of disease. Because these genes affectldlsease risk by up regulatmg or "down regulatlng the
act1v1ty of common blologtcal pathways relevant to the populauon asa whole drugs that can modulate the
activity of these pathways may have broad potentnal medical utilify. Moreover, these” pathways often ’h ‘ '
provide biomarkers that can be used to assess the efficacy and appropriate progressing of a compOund
from preclinical to mid-stage clinical testing. We are also applymg our flndmgs to create PNA-hased r
clinical diagnostic tests for risk prediction. Because such tests analyze the same finks bétween genetrc c
variation and-disease that.we have used to identify drug targets; they can be employed as ancaid in -".:
developing more effective disease prevention strategies by helping individuals-to.better understand. thein 1
inherited risk cfa grven condmon as-well as to identify patients hkely to respond well to-a given'drug,

Through clr chemlstry and structural blology units, based in the Umted States we are able to, S

dlscover novel small molecule therapeutnc cornpounds take candldate compounds through pre-clmlcal "{:
testlng, and manufacture sufﬁcnent quantmes for early -stage clinical trlals Our produet development "
group, ‘which has expertlse in drug and disease modehng, designs and' 1mplements oir clinical tridls. We
actively explorein-licensing and co-development opportunities, and'in certain'programs:have brought!
directly into clinical trials compounds that address targets we have-identified through our genetics i«.:ts bive
research, but which were originally developed by other companies for other indications. deCODE alson:. .-
leverages its genotyping ‘and product development: infrast’ructure to offer services to fee 'paying customers. §

[

At the beginning of 2007, we are analyzing the results from a Phase Ha clinical trial for DGo41, Gur
developmental lesion-specific anti-platelet compound for arterial thrombosis. This study, which is,. b
examlmng safety, tolerability, and the effect of various dosé levels on blomarkers of platelet actlvatlon in_ ,
DGD41 can effectlvely inhibit platelet aggregatmn without i lncreasmg bleedmg time. We expect to initiate a
second phase II study in patients with other vascular disease by year end. In our program targeting the,,; ;.
leukotriene pathway for the prevention of heart attack, we have completed a Phase I single dose-ranging, .
study for our developmental compound DG051, showing it to be safe.and well-tolerated in the doses, .,
tested; to have a pharmacokinetic profile that supports its suitability for once-a-day dosmg, ‘and to lower in
a dose-dependent manner, levels‘of leukotriene B4, the pro-inflammatory biomarker that deCODE
believes confers the increased risk of heart attack through this pathway. deCODE is completing an. .y 7t
multiple-dose Phase [ trial for DG051 in the first quarter of 2007 and expects to begin Phase II testing:by -
year end. We are currently reformulating the tablets for DG031, our Phase [1I compound for the
prevention of heart attack, and expects to be in a position to restart its Phase III testing by year end or the




first quarter of 2008. deCODE is conducting drug discovery work on its targets in stroke and vascular
disease, the most advanced of its preclinical programs.

4
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We expect to receive CLIA-certification of the deCODE Diagnolstics Laboratory by end of Ql 2007
and thereafter, to begin offerlng our first DNA-based cllnlcal dlagnostlc test, for rlsk of type 2 dlabetes "

deCODE is a Delaware corporatron mcorporated in 1996 Our prmcrpal executrve ofﬁces are located
at Sturlugata 8, Reyk]awk Iceland. Our telephone number is +354 570-1900 and our websrte address is '
www.decode.com. We make avallable free of charge through the Investor Relations séction of our websnte
our Annual Reports on Form 10-K,: Quarterly Reports on Form 10- Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and
all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practlcable after such material is electromcally fi led
with or furnished to the Securmes and Exchange Commission, or the SEC We mclude our websrte address
in this Annual Report ori Form 10-K only as an inactive: textual reference and do not 1ntend it to be an
active link to our website. You may read and copy materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Publi¢
Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. You may get information on
the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC- 0330. The SEC maintains on
internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements,"and otherinformation regarding ey
issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www sec. gov. - R TR R

References i in this report to deCODE the “Company” “we” and “us efer to deCODE genet:cs Inc .
a Delaware company, and its wholly owned subsrdlanes Islensk erfdagremmg ehf, an Iéeland company
regrstered in Reyk]avrk,, and 1ts subsrdtanes and Medlchem Life Scrences Inc a Delaware corporatron
and its subsndrarles o
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Our target drscovery programs and drug development ptpelme B

We have actively studied the genetics and pathology of over 50 dlfferent common dlseases using our.
population genetics approach. Our clinical and pre-clinical programs are based upon our discoveries of.
gene variants associated with increased risk of developing a disease. We and independent researchers
routinely valldate our gene discoveries in populations outside of Iceland. We use a varlety of biclogical
methods to gain an understandmg of how the genes we d1scover affect the dlsease process, and the proteins
encoded by these génes, or others in the pathway, serve as our drug targets Tl'ns mformatlon along wnthr
medrcal and busrness consnderatlons is used to pnormze our drug drscovery and deyelopment efforts U

Based on our findings and prioritization criteria we are actively pursuing target discovery, pre- clrmcal
and clinical development in several different indications. Our most advanced.programs are already in ..
clinical trials and are listed in the following table. Squares indicate the phases inh which at least one clinical '
trial has been completed and dates reflect the earliest expected time based on deCODE’s own expectations
that the compound may enter the next phase of clinical trials.

Therapyares -~ ' ' " " - Compound ' IND " Phase]l ~__'‘Phasell : "  PhaseHI -’

Cardiovascular - SR . T “ R R
Heartattack......... et DGO3T T a & - ® /o Rejnitiate Q407
ot e S Lo ~ Q108"

Heart attack......... “.i:so0 0 DGOSE B s 2H07 ' T L
Arterial thrombosis > A e D o
(heart attack stroke) ..... L0 DGOo4L n [ I ‘B Additional - SV B
09 Mo e - : t. . - Ph. I Studies BRI
o, N S . ' .o 2HO7.. ol LS
Inﬂammatory» . ' R , . C B I
Asthma.:. " ..... %.:...tn.. CEPH-1347: m = N T T R ETIE
o . ce T : . - {



In'addition to late stage programs in drug discovery and development, deCODE is actively pursuing
gene discovery and target validation imthe following programs: addiction to;alcohol, addiction to nicotine, :
Alzheimer’s disease, anxiety, atopy/allergy, atrial fibrillation, autism, benign prostatic hypertrophy, - - .
coronary artery restenosis, endometriosis, hypertension, infectious discases, migraine, type 2 diabetes, .
osteoporosis, deep vein thrombosis, Parkinson’s disease, restless legs syndrome, preeclampsia, -
endometriosis, psoriasis, rheumatoid-arthritis, schizophrenia, vascular disease/stroke and several forms of
cancer. These programs provide us with drug and diagnostic.targets, and we will take the programs forward
based on commercial potential and our priorities and resources. . = ot i .o

Our strategy tmd approach From genes ta drugs

e LIS LA N T - - |‘

The focus of deCODE’s busmess strategy is.the discovery and commercrahzatron of novel therapeutics
and DNA-based dlagnostlcs based upon our gene discoveries. We believe our population approach and .
unique competence in human genetics give us a competitive advantage, one which we are able to apply -~
across the breadth of drug deveiopment from target discovery through chmcal trials. . - i1

" Humian genetlcs offets several advantages as a foundation for developmg better medlcme ‘We belleve
most drugs today are compounds ‘that are aimed at tréating the symptoms of disease, seldom the
underlying causes. The reason is that to date the basic biology and pathogenesis of most of the big public
health challenges—such as heart attack, stroke, obesity, diabetes or asthma—are poorly understood. These
diseases are common and complex, and arise due to the interplay of both genetic and environmental
factors. Human genetics offers a means of unraveling.this complexity and a window, into the blology of «i+
disease. Through the identification of key genes involved in predisposition to a given disease, it is possible .
to study the proteins.these genes encode and to develop an understanding of the biological.pathway.of the-
disease. Drugs targeting key elements in the pathway may be able to effectively.disrupt the disease process.
Diagnostics that test for at-risk gene variants may enable-a better-understanding of an individual’si .
likelihood of developing a disease, and can be used:to develop more effective disease prevention regimes. .
Such tests: may also be useful for 1dent1fy1ng thoserwho may derive partrcular benefit.from a certain drug .
therapy. R T S T .

deCODE has put together a unique set of resources fof ﬁndmg gcnes that contnbute to risk'of
common diseases. These include a genealogy database linking together the:entire-current:day population;
detailed genetic and medical information from the more than 110,000 Icelanders (55% percentiof the.adult
population) taking part in one or more of our research programs; and proprietary bioinformatics and, ;..
statistical tools to correlate information on disease with specific genetic variations. To confirm its findings. .
throughout the world, deCODE has samples and medical information from over. 120 000 patients from the
U.S., Europe, and Asia.-

Ty
Unlike companies studymg predetermined genes, gene expression patterns, or genes’ in anirnal

models; deCODE’s approach allows for a virtually hypothesis-free discovery process that can:pinpoint key
inherited causes of human disease in a human population. This discovery engine has enabled deCODE to
isolate key genes involved in more than a dozen common diseases in several major therapeutic areas
including myocardial infarction, stroke, type 2 diabetes, asthma, prostate and breast cafcer, and»: "
schizophrenia. deCODE's discoverics are routmely replicated by,independent research groups,in many
populations around the world. In the latter half of 2006 alone, pubhshed studies based upon ou‘r work in __
myocardial infarction, stroke, type 2 diabetes and schlzophrema have’ repllcated olur'gene dlsoovencs in
dozens of populations and validated the biological pathways ‘modulated by the protems coded for by these
genes. For example, our type 2 drabetes gene, TCF7L2 has now been confirmed in multlp]e mdependent
popu]atlons B L S A

These capabllltles dfive an approach to drug dlscovery that sets deCODE apart from othet
companies. Genes affect biology by encodmg proteins, and the genes deCODE has linked to incredsed risk




of disease:make proteins which, by definition, fepresent potential drug targets rooted in key biological
pathways underlying these’ diseases: Moreover:because these genes are linked to the comimon forms of .
disease, they confer risk'not by encoding dysfunctional proteins but by up regulating or down regulating -+
the activity of a biological pathway. They identify individuals who are at one end of a spectrum of risk that.
encompasses.the population as-a whole. Drugs that can sifely and éffectively regulate the activity-of these
pathways therefore have broad:potential utility. This s a paradigm'siniilar to that used in the development
of the statins..In‘that case the most préssing medical need ‘was to lower the cholesterol levels of those with -
severely elevated LDL; however it has now been shown that these drugs‘also reduce risk of cardiovascular
disease in those with average LDL levels.

deCODE’s approach enables development of drugs to be used along with genetrc information on the ;
target and-its effect, for both to be used analogus to the statin model and at the same time the genetic
information and associdted biomarkers-that can be used to assess the efficacy of a compound from ..
preclinical to midstage clinical trials. This enabiles trials that are smaller and more efficient than traditionat .
trials; and the results can be applied to understand not just whether people respond to a drugbutwho - .
responds best and why. We believe this offers a means for better managing risk in the development process,
for lowerlng cost and maxrmrzrng the patrent beneﬁt from and market potentlal of new drugs

PR TR IR
-1.deCODE: has demonstrated:its ability to r_dentrfy novel therapeutlc targets and compounds in major1 \.
therapeutic indications. We have also shown that-we can éfficiently advance these compounds intoand
through mid:stage clinical trials providing a clear and detailed association to the biology of disease. Our.- -
biology group works to elucidate How a target——usually the protein made by a disease gene==influences the
pathway;.and can then screen compound libraries to:identify molecules to address the target. The - ol
chemistry group then carries'out lead-compound optimization and manufactures small-molecule drug -
candidates foriuse in-preclinical and clinical studies. Structure based-design using structures of protein +..
target with'or: without drug candidate; solved by our structural biology group, accelerates development of 1
high-potency drugs. deCODE’s product development group, utilizing the latest techniques in drug and ' i :
disease-modeling and simulation, designs and conducts our clinical-trials, utilizing both compounds-»* .. . -
deCODE has discovered as well as third-party compounds which effectively address deCODE targetsibut !

which ha\{e_beenJ developed by‘other compar_ties for‘pther indications. - Co LY e
Paar, . BN R L N T . - e L B . [N vl o

. ‘This comprehensive infrastructure for drug discovery and clinical development allows deCODE to 't -
pursue product development-in-house; to'partner:projects on favorable terms; and to pursue in-licensing»'
and co-development opportunities for existing compounds with specific qualities we wish to see in a.«li -+
developmental drug. At'the'same timeé, we:are also leveraging our capabilities in.genotyping; structural 1 -

biclogy and'chemistry to generate révenue in the near-term through our fee-for-service offeringsu. .+ mi |
e e [P I j
Ourc!mrcalprograms SRR T e St e T
- The descnptlons below. of our cllmcal development programs illustrate what we believe'to be'the s .-
advantages of our-approach for makmg betterdrugs. . - v L L noaen e "'l
L AR I TR TF T S TRRRRTI ST PR ro L IO TS S A ST ..'."- C
DGo31 andDGOSIfarrheprevenuan ofheartattack - R Sl e . —i'“" S

Fidl |1.'

Our program in heart attack (also c;‘alled myocarchal 1nfarctlon or MI) is an example of how our
populatlon genetlcs approach is pomtmg the way toward the dlSCOVCI'y and development of new drugs
targetmg the root blologrcal cauises of common ‘diseases.”,

oLt VR ! . ‘}.‘ P AR LR [T { . |‘f

i Heart attack is the.leading killer in the mdustrlahzed world Nearly half of men .and one-third of.»_-. ..

women who reach the age of forty will suffer a heart attack in their lifetime. Currently, there are effective.
drugs for treatmg some of the contributing risk factors for heart attack, such as hlgh -cholesterol, diabetes

algd hypertensmn However we beheve that there are no exrstmg drugs almed at preventmg the :
s2T T v




pathogenesis of the disease itself: Our work is focused on meeting thns need based upon a bétler
understandrng, of the bro]oglcal processes that'lead to heart attack: ' = - 7er B RCR VA

Through a populat1on-based genome-wrde study mvolvmg hundreds of heart attack pat:ents from i:
across Iceland, deCODE scientists discovered, common, varjants in the gene encodmg FLAP, or,.. - ..
5- llpoxygenasc activating protein, that confer a nearly twofold mcreased risk of the disease. Thrs represents '
a risk at least as great as elevated cholesterol The FLAP proteln regulates the synthesrs of leukotrrenes, .
molecules known to be potent dnvers of mﬂammatlon Our functlonal studles showed that the at-rlsk
variants of the FLAP gene led spec1f1cally to lncreased production of leukotnene B4 (LTB4) Wthh isa
pro-inflammatory molecule. LTB4 i is produced by cells i in the atherosclcrottc plaques that bmld up msrde
artery walls. Inflammation in plaques contrlbutes to their mstabthty and propensnty to rupture the event
directly preced:ng most heart attacks.

Our 1solatlon of the F LAP gene therefore provnded compelhng ev1dence that we had 1dent1fled a basic
mechamsm inc reasing risk of heart attack, Further research in genetics and blology added welght to this
discovery. We found that md1v1duals who had prewously suffered a heart attack but who did' not have one
of the at-risk versions of the FLAP gene also produced more LTB4 than do people with no htstory of heart
disease. This ﬁndmg supports our belief that we have 1dent1féed a major brologlcal process mvolved in
heart attack in general—and a pathway through Wthh both genetlc and env1ronmental risk factors act

deCODE 'scientists also isolated another gene further down the leukotriene pathway from FLAP one
variant of which, referred to as HapK, confers increased risk of heart attack. The protein encoded by this *
gene, the leukotriene A4 hydrolase (LTA4H) is directly involved in producing LTB4. In line with the
functional work on the at- nsk variants of the FLAP gene, HapK appears to confer 1ncreased rtsk of heart
attack by increasing the, productron of LTB4 The role of the at-risk versrons of both the FLAP and R
LTA4H genes in increasing | rrsk of heart attack has been conﬁrmed in studles in Europe and the .

United States.. .. . .« . . N T o

These fmclmgs have pointed'us té a novel, direct-and potentially powerful therapeitic: approach for +
preventing heart attack: inhibiting 'the act1v1ty of the branch of the leukotriene pathway that'produces
LTB4. In October of 2003, deCODE in-licensed a compound from Bayer AG, now known as DG031, that
inhibits leukotiiene synthesis through its binding to FLAP. Becausé of the extensive safety and clinical data
already gatheréd on the compound through previous clinical testing in another indication, in-licensing
enabled us to advance dlrectly into Phase it chnlcal testing. Our Phase 11 cllmcal studies demonstrated that
DG031 was well- tolerated and reduced productlon of LTB4 in a dose- dependent manner. This effect was
seen on top of the effects of the current standard of care, Wthh mcluded statin therapy fora majonty of
patlents in our trlals .

. . i
P Voo AT AR !

The Phase II program thus demonstrated that DG{)31 can effectlvely help correct the brologlcal
process through which genetic predisposition to heart attack manifests itself. Moreover, the nature of this
process has an important bearing on the therapeutic potential of DG031 and other compounds targeting -
the products of disease genes in common diseases. In our work in heart attack; as in virtually all of the - '
programs in which we have identified genes, genétic susceptibility appears to'act primarily by either up -
regulating or down regulating the actmty of an important biological pathway. That is, the genenc variants
correlated with common diseases appear. to push individuals to one extreme or other of what is probably ai
normat distribution of the activity of a given biological pathway. We believe that this is the reason why in -
many instances we find both at-risk and protective variants of the same genes. This is important from a-
therapeutic perspective.because it means that while it may be most efficient and of greatest immediate
medical benefit to first develop such treatments for those at hlghest risk, in order to brmg them, down the
risk spectrum, the eventual therapeutlc goal from a publlc health perspectwe may b be much broader to
bring everyone, even those at “average” risk, down to. the risk proflle of those who are least llkely to suffer
the disease.

o v I T R L T I S S L !




In May 2006 we began a Phase IIlL clinical trial for DGO031. The trial was a multicenter Phase III study
focusing on African Americans who carry HapK and have a history of heart disease. The primary endpoint
of the trial is to measure DG031’s effectiveness in reducing the composite endpoint for car‘drovascular
death; non-fatal heart attack, stoke, hospitalization for heart attack and the need for urgent
revascularlzatlon In October 2006, we temporarily suspended this trial due t6 an unexpected formulatron
problem with the tablets. In routirie testing of clinical supplies we discovered that, over time, the drug - '
tablets appeared to dissolve morg¢ slowly, potentlally provrdmg lessening amounts of active drug the longer
they wére stored. This phenomenon raiséd the possrblllty that as the trial progressed patients would be B
receiving too little drug, undermmmg the trial’s chances of success The company is curreritly” - ‘
reformulating the compound to'resolve this issue and; expects to be ina posmon to re- lmtlate Phase III :
testing by year énd or thé first quarter of 2008.

As a follow-on to DG031, we are developing DGOS 1,an mhrbltor of LTA4H, a dlfferent target in the
leukotrierie pathway 'DGO51, discovered by deCODE’s chemlstry unit, lS a small- molecule inhibitor of
LTA4H, which is dlrectly involved in the synthesis of LTB4. In December 2006 we completed a single- -dose
ranging Phase I study, the results of which* demonstrated that DGOSI was 'safe and well tolerated at all
doses tested hasa pharmacokmetrc profile surted for potentlal once- a-day dosing, and that it srgnlflcantly
reduces LTB4 levels in a concentration- dependent mannér. We initiated a multi-dose rangmg Phase I *
study early in the first quarter of 2007 and anticipaté begmmng a Phase 1i trial by year end.
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DGO4Iforthetreannentofaﬁenalthmmbosts . b Lre Tt e Lo

DG041 is deCODE’s novel antl-platelet compound bemg developed to offer a lesion- spec1f1c meéans of
preventlng arterial thrombosis. The market for drugs for arterial vascular dlseases is increasing rapidly duoe’
to the aging of the population in the industrialized world In the United States ‘alone, approximately eight
million peoplé have been diagnosed with peripheral aftery disease (PAD), over 30 million with coronary
artery disease (CAD); and more than 5 million have suffered stroke. The antiplatelet and antithrombotic
drug market currently exceeds $10 billion in annual worldwide sales and is'expected to grow to $19 billion
by 2010 as referenced in the Cowen and Company, LLC, Therapeutic Categories Outlook, October 2006.
The current oral therapies for the treatment of these diseases include asplrm and platelet ADP receptor _
1nh1b1tors,uncludmg clopidogrel (Plavrx) T

DG041'is a novel, firkt-in- class orally admmlstered small molecule antl-platelet compound developed
by deCODE and which we have ‘showh to be a seléctive and potent antagomst of the EP3 receptor for
prostaglandm E2 (PGE2) deCODE rdentlfled EP3 as a target through its population genetlcs research -
linking variations in the’gene encoding EP3’ to increased risk of variobs Vascular‘diseases including stroke
MI and PAD. PGE2 amplifies platelet aggregation stimulated by collagen, adenin di-phosphate (ADP) or
a thromboxane receptor agenist. PGE2 is produced by inflammatory cells in atherosclerotic plaques-and
may, therefore increase the likelihood of an.inflammatory-mediated thrombosis over plaque lesions. By -
sclectively inhibiting the inflammatory pathway in platelet ampllﬁcatlon and subsequent aggregation.
mediated by PGE2,-DG041 may prevent thrombosis where it is needed—over atherosclerosis plagques.
Development results to'date suggest DG041 is well.tolerated and appears.to be essentially lesion-specific ,
inhibiting platelet aggregation (demonstrated in vitroiand ex vivo) involved in inflammatory mediated ..
thrombosis, but without increasing bleeding time. Therefore, this novel anti-platelet agent may have a
better benefit to risk profile than current agents and may be useful erther alone or in combination with
other anti-platelct agents. < TR R e ‘ . T
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DGO41 is currently in Phase Tl clinical development ‘At the end of 2006, deCODE completed a Phase
Iia clmlcal trial that enrolled’ approxrmately 150 cardrovascular patrents ‘with and without the EP3 genetlc :
rlsk variant. The patients were given two dose lévels of DG04T versus a placebo for thlrty days. The dose-
ranging trial'is designéd to evaluate safety and efficacy using biomarkers related to atherosclerosis to"’
evaluate its efficacy in platelet inhibition. The study is evaluating plasma levels of the biomarker pVASP




(vasodilator stimulated phosphoprotem) which measures the degree of platelet activation. In addition, a
pharmacokine tlc/pharmacodynamtc analysis'is bemg performed usmg the data from this study. This'is also :
the first study ini which DG041 was admmlstered to'a significant number of patlents also taking aspirin. " '
The company expects to release top-line résults from tlie Phase Ila trial by the second quarter of 2007. -

Third party compound in asthma g T N I

‘In 2006, deCODE comp]eted a Phase II clinical trial in asthma of Cephalon; Inc.’s compound CEP-1347.
This compound inhibits MAP3K9, a kinase encoded by a'gene we have linked to risk of asthma: In'the +*
Phase Ila trial we found that the compound had‘a dose-related effect on both lung function and" Ch
biomarkers associated with lung inflammation and seventy of disease in patients with asthma who were
already being treated wrth inhaled cortlcosterords and long-actmg beta agomst (LABA) ‘Cephalon is

currently evaluating the next steps in development for CEP-1347.

- : 1l i
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Dtagnostrcs represent an additional avénié for generatmg medlcal and commert:ra] value frorn our
genetic discoveries. Since genetic variants linked to disease are by definition markers of discasé B
susceptibility, we'can apply the same findings we ‘employ in our drug discovery efforts-to the development
of DNA-based diagnostic tests. We beélieve:that such tests may.be useful as a means for identifying patients
who are at a particularly high risk of a given discase, and those who are likely to respond well to drugs that
target the sane disease pathway.

We believe that DNA-based diagnostic tests are a new tool for i rmprovmg disease preventron ‘and that S
they will be used:in tandem with existing-approaches to incredse the success of prevention-efforts:s .
Common diseases occur at the-interface of genes and the environment, as both inherited as well as lifestyle
and environmiental risk factors play important roles in the disease process. Carrying a genetic risk variant
for.a common disease does not mean that one will necessarily develop the disease; and not having a certain
risk variant does not eliminate all risk of developing the'disease. Rather,.in the common diseases, genetlc
risk variants impact the likelihood that-one may develop a given condition. Understanding this inherited
risk is empowering information with potentially important clinical utility, as it is possible to take preventive:
action—through lifestyle modification or by taking certain medications—to minimize the likelihood of an
inherited predisposition ever developing into a disease. This is similar to the approach that is taken to
address other risk factors for common diseases, such as high cholesterol, which is commonly treated using

statin drugs to lower the risk of heart discase if dietary change is not enough. " . s

The first genetic test deCODE plans to offer is to determine risk of type 2 diabetes so that a pauent
and his/her doctor may attempt t to prevent its’ onset The test measures a varlant in the TCF7L2 gene that .
deCODE has tightly associated to mcreased risk of type 2 dlabetes (T2D) deCODE’s analysrs of cohorts, .
from Europe 'and Umted States found that mdrvrduals who have two coples ‘of this risk varrant have more '
than double the average Tisk of developing T2D Thls dlscovery has thus far been rephcated in publlshed
studies in at least 25 mdependent populanons and multrple ethnic groups by varlous research groups s
around the world. Additional support for the clinical utility of this dlécovery comes from analysrs of dataﬂ' !
from a U.S. government-sponsored clinical trial, which prospectively studied prediabetics (that is,
individuals with blood glicose levels that are-intermediate between’ normal and type 2 diabetes) and their
progression to type 2 diabetes.-About a third of prediabetics in this study progressed to'type 2 diabetes ¢
within 3 years. However, among predlabetlcs ‘who carried two copies of the gene variant in the.deCODE *
diabetes test, the risk was substantially greater—-1.8 fold compared to'those who were negative for the test.
Weight loss and drug treatment with either metformin or glitazone drugs have been shown to reduce
progression rates of prediabetics to T2D. Therefore, this genetic test may be clinically useful as a-means to-
help physicians to decide which prediabetics they wish'to treat more aggressively either through lifestyle
change or through drug treatment.




deCODE expects to have a certified reference laboratory ready to offer DNA testing services early in-,
the second quarter of 2007. deCODE and lllumina, Inc., have also established a partnership to develop
FDA-approved DNA diagnostic test kits based upon deCODE's gene discoveries in heart attack, type 2
diabetes and breast cancer, utilizing Tllumina’s Vericode clinical genotyping platform.

Drug discovery and development services TR .

.In.order to offset the cost of maintaining its proprietary drug development infrastructure, deCODE
utilizes its capabilities in chemistry, structural biology and clinical trials to offer contract services to fee-
paying customers, prmcrpally pharmaceutlcal and biotechnology companles

o Our chemlstry subsrdlary, deCODE chemlstry, Inc., based in Woodndge, Ilhnors provrdes a full
range of drug discovery technology and services using mu]tlple mtegrated hlgh throughput
technologies to streamline the drug discovery process, ' ! -

o QOur structural biology subsidiary, deCODE biostructures, Inc., based in Bainbridge Island,-near
Seattle, determines three-dimensional X-ray crystal structures of target protems for structure-based
drug desrgn and development , :

P [, - o : PR . T : T o 1 - :
‘o Qur clinical research orgamzatlon subsidiary'Encode conducts-information-rich clinical trials for
- our proprietary programs and for. contract customers, principaily pharmaceutlcal and biotechnology
companies: R e I B N T
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Addmana[ servzce aﬁ”enngs . # C e 3 ' )
At our research fac111ty in Reykjawk we have one of the largest and most advanced genotyplng
laboratory in the world. We have extensive expertise.in microsatellite genotyping and also conduct
genome-wide single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) association analyses; utilizing the Illumina platform..
We utilize these capabilities both for in-house gene discovery work and contract genotyping services to fee
paying customers. We have in place efficient, automated systems for all stages of the genotyping process,
from DNA isolation and amphﬁcauon to plate preparatton and the generation, storage and analysis of -

volumes of genotypic data. Our customers for genotyping services mclude pharmaceutlcal companies,+

research consortia-and academic institutions. v it b u e
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Significant Collaborations L T T AP -

F. Hoffmann-La Roche (Roche) o vie T e E '

Therapeuncs In 2002 we entered mto an agreement W1th Roche to collaborate on four diséases that
had been the subject of an earlier collaboratlon mth Roche Undet this' agreement which expired on | _' .
February 1, 2005, we' are entltled to receive royaltles on the sales of any drugs that are deyeloped coming '
out of work conducted under this alliance. Under this agreement we discovered genes linked to diabetes
and Roche continues drug dlscovery based on oné of these discoveries. We may receive milestone "
payments if Roche advances compounds through the development process as'well as royaltles on
successfully marketed driigs. * '

."‘U‘L(iu‘:"'t'lt" oo e b
. In November 2004, we 51gned a new, three-year agreement with Roche to co-develop inhibitors of
PDEA4 for the prevention and treatment of vascular disease, including stroke. This agreement continues
work advanced under the 2002 agreement; and we will focus on optimizing lead compounds identified .
under the previous agreement and beginning clinical development. Under the agreement; as of the end of
2006, we received $4.0 million of research funding. We and Roche will share drug discovery and clinical
trials costs under this agreement,.and we may receive an additional $2:0 million of research funding over
the remaining term of the agreement as well as milestone payments and royalties based on drug sales.




Merck & Co, Inc. (Merck).. i+ t.v- 0 o el o et 0 M g

Obesity. In September 2002, we entered into an alliance with Merck aimed at developing few *
treatments fot.obesity. The research and development portion of the agreement expired in. ! g 7
September 2005. Under this.agreement we discovered three genes linked to obesity,.and Merck has- .. 5
generated lead series of compounds against one of the targets we have validated through our genetics.' %, 1.,
research We may recerve mllestone payments if Merck advances compounds developed under the alliance
through the development process as well as royaltles on successfully marketed drugs

: 10471
Information:Rich Clinical Trials. | In. February. 2004, we entered into an agreement v with Merck to,
conduct, mformatlon nch clrmcal tnals on a range ¢ of Merck s developmental compounds that Merck e
selects for mclusron n. the program The ferm of the allrance is seven years, subject t to termmanon by ::
Merck after f}ve years Under the terms of the agreement we may receive royaltles on sales of drugs and,
dragnostlcs developed as part of the, allrance We recewedl a one -time technology access fee of $10 0 ..

mrllron,,wdl share research fundmg for the cllmcal development of compounds and pharmacogenomrc
analysrs and will receive milestone payments as compounds or pharmacogenomrc tests reach the market
To date Merck has not selected any compounds for development under the agreement
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Nationdl Instituté ofAllergy and*]nfecuous Diseases (NM]D) B L J[‘. SRR SR
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:In September 2004, we were awarded a ﬁve year $23 9 mrlhon contract by.the NIAID part of the U S,

Natronal Institutes of Health Under the contract we. are applymg our populanon approach and resources,

to drscover genettc factors assocrated with 8uscept1b1hty to.certain mfecnous diseases and wrth. Y

responsrveness to vaccmes targetmg such dlseases. The University of New Mex1co is workrng with vs tot _f'.

conduct functtonal vahdanon of brologrcal pathways dlscovered through our genetlc research The g
Natllonal Center for Genorne Resources is prowdmg bromformatrcs resources to make study 1nformat10n
and results avallable to the screntlﬁc communlty T T PR R TSV SR
BayerHealth(,areAG (Bayer) St g b .J.;!u' g ." Aot Lt
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In 2003, Bayer, granted us an, exclusrve worldwnde hcense to, develop, make and sell DG031 Under the}
agreement, we will pay Bayer, mrlestone payments upon the achievement of specrfred developmental
milestones and royalnes on sales ofthe drug.. " P N R I R ST
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Patents and Propnetary Rrghts o .‘

PR T L B VR O O I T A IO AR
Patents and other proprietary rights protectlons ate'an eSsential element of-our business. We rely onJ
patems trade secret law and contractual fion-disclosuré and confidentiality arrarigements-to protect our
proprietary information and technology We will be-able to protect our proprictary rights fiom! - 1.
unauthorized use by third parties only to thé extent that-6ur’ propnetary rights‘are‘covéred by valld and nt

enforceable’patents, coritractual confidentiality obligations, or if they are efféctively maintainéd as trade’
sécrets. -~ b i ‘. I TR TS B T r_.‘.‘l". .'l.c preh oot
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Aocord:ngly, we acnvely seek pateht protectlon in the Umted States ‘andbot‘her ;urrsdlcl:tro!ns to protect
technology, 1nvent1ons and improvements to inventions that are commerctally rmportant tothe, .,
development of our business. These include, among other thmgs the compounds that we 1nvent and wrll
develop as potentlal drugs, the genes and related drug targets we discover; mutations and variants of genes
and rélated | processes; new {ISGS of ‘existing third party compounds that may be uséd to rnampulate those
genes ‘mutationsand drug targets technologres ‘which may be used to discover' and characterize genes;- " /!
therapeutlc or diagnostic processes tests 'and: other inventions based ofi those genes; as wéll-as' methods
developed in our blostructures and: pharmaceutlcal groups for the discovery and development of drugs As
of year-gnd 2006, we had approxlmately 32! issued u. S. paténts’and approxtmately 11 issued patents in non-
U.S. jurisdictiofis. We' also-h4d-approximately 57 pendmg patent applications in the U.S.-as wéllas - -7



approximately 95 PCT national patent applications in non-U.S, jurisdictions that we have deemed to be of -
commercial interest. o : . . . o,
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We have filed a series of composmon of matter:type patent applications for the compounds we have it
discovered ourselves and are the main focus-of our pre-clinical and:clinical development, including DG0412

andDG{]Sl . S . , T B omer 1.y

"“We have ltcensed from Bayer a composmon of matter patent and a manufacturmg process patent for' '
DGO31. The licensed patents expire in 2009 and 2012, respectively. L e

We'have also filed additional patent applications that’ claim Specrﬁc Uses of DGO31 and' other
compounds with similar mode of ‘action, and methods for selecting those pattents that we belieVe are most
likely to beneﬁt from admtmstratton of those compounds due to their spec;fte genetic composxtton Such “
patents covéring approved uses of DG031, if issued and found to be valld and enforceable could extend
the life cycle of DGO031 for several years beyond the exptry of the patents that we licensed from Bayef. -
However, it is not certain that such paténts will' ulttmately be issued, and even if tssued that they will be
enforceable in mfnngement proceedmgs before the courts : e . IJ i
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The United States Drug Price Competltlon and Patent Term Restoratlon Act of 1984 ‘known as the
Hatch-Waxman Act, provides for the restoration of up to 5 years of patent term for a patent that covers a. /.
new product or its use, to compensate for time lost from the effective life of the patent due 1o the
régulatory review process of the FDA. An apphcatton for patent term réstoration is subject to approval by
the U.S. Paterit and Trademark Office in COIlelnCthIl with thé FDA. While'the composmon of matter "
patent we licensed from Bayer that expires in 2009 would be eligible for patent ‘terni’restoration’, because
we do not expect to recéive FDA approval for DGO31 prior to the exptratlon ‘of the term of this patent we
will not benefit from applymg for patent restoration with respect to that patent’ since any such restoratlon
would run concurrently with any NCE marketing exclusivity we obtain, as discussed in the next paragraph
The manufacturing process patent we licensed from Bayer is not eligible for patent term restoratlon

H

b.L.
I

The Hatch-Waxman Act also establishes a 5 year period of marketing exclusivity from the dateof -,
NDA approval for new chemical entities (NCE) approved after September 24,1984, We believe that
DGO031 is an NCE, and if the NDA for DG031 is approved we expéct to receive such marketmg
exclusivity. Under the Hatch-Waxman Act generic versions of infiovative’medicines ‘may be approved
without the complete safety and efficacy studies contained in an' NDA. Instead, the genéric manufacturer’
may submit an Abbreviated New Drug Application (ANDA) or a so-called Section 505(b)(2) (or “paper”)
NDA. During the 5 year marketing exclusivity period for an NCE, a manufacfurer that proposes to sell'a’® *
generic version of DG031 may not submit to the FDA an ANDA or a paper, NDA except that such .,
applications may be submitted after 4 years if they contain a certification of patent invalidity or-, -~ ., 1.
noninfringement. If at the time such an application is submitted we have recgived a use patent for DG031. :
that is listed in the FDA’s Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations, or Orange
Book, and if we commence a suit alleging patent infringementin a timely manner after the ANDA or- ,
paper NDA for a generic drug is submitted, FDA approval of the generic drug will automaticaily be stayed
for up to 30 months from the expiration of the 5 year markettng exclusivity perlod to allow a _]UdlClal
résolution of the mfrmgement action. Thus, under the Hatch-Waxman' Act, the'combination of NCE
marketmg exclusivity and'the 30 month stay may create as much asa 7 1/2 excluswlty perlod for our
marketmg and sale ofDGO31 S et el LRI ot

A e SR T VP ot
Other jurisdictions have statutory provlsnons snmllar to those ot' the Hatch- Waxman Act, that afford -
both patent extensions and market éxclusivity for drugs that have obtamed market authorizations, such as,
European Supplementary Protection Certificates that extend effectwe patent life and European data ,{_
exclusivity rules that.create marketing exclusivity for certain ttme periods followmg marketing | ... .
authorization. European data exclusivity is more generous than,the equtvalent NCE marketing excluswlty .
in the U.S., providing exclusmty, for as long as 11 years. We believe that if we ootaln marketing | K

LY |
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authorization for DG031 in Europe or other jurisdictions with similar statutory provisions, DG031 may be
eligible.for patent term extension and marketing exclusrvrty under these provisions and we plan to seek
suchpnwleges R SR . T
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Com'petition' P, o LR

We face ‘and \ylll coptmue to face intense competrtron in our gene dlscovery programs from
phannaceuttcal compames brotechnology companies, uhiversities and other research mstltutlons A
number of entities, are attemptrng to raprdly 1dent1fy and patent genes responsrble for causing dlseases or

an increased Susceptlblllty to diseases and to develop products based on ‘these dlscovenes

. .We also face intense, competltron in drug development, particularly from pharmaceutrcal and
brotechnology compamcs Certaln of these companies may, using other approaches identify and decide to
pursue | the drscovery and development of new drugs targets or disease pathways that we have 1dent1f1ed
through our human population genetics research Many of our competitors, either aloné or together wrth '
their collaborative partners, have substantially greater f financial Tesources and larger research and .
development operatrons than we do. These competrtors may discover, characterize or develop 1rnportant
genes, drug targets or drug leads before we'or ‘our collaborators do or may obtam regulatory approvals of
their’ drugs rnore raprdly than we or our collaborators’ do. + " nto

Dl y oM PERE TR B ' . +
. Developments by others may render pharrnaceutrcal product candldates or technologres that we Or.
our collaborators develop obsolete or non-competitive. Any product candidate that we or our collaborators
successfully develop,may compete with existing therapies that have long histories of safe and effective use.

Qur competitors may obtain patent protection or other intellectual property rights that could limit our
rights, or.our customers™ability, to use our technologies or. databases, or commercialize therapeutic or
diagnostics products. In addition, we face,.and will continue to face, intense competition from other -
companies for collaborative arrangements with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, for- '
establishing relationships.with-academic and research lnstrtutlons and for licenses to proprretary RN
technology. '-v, . .-!- T A T . o .

4o
Our ability to compete successfully will depend in part on our ablhty, and that of our collaborators

to: develop’ proprretary .products; develop and maintain products that reach the market first, and are!
technologrcallv superior to and more cost effective-than other products on the market; obtain patent or’ ‘
other proprlet ary protection for our products -and-technologies; attract and retain scientific and product
development personnel obtain’ requrred regulatory approvals -and manufacture market and sell products
that we develop e Wi . aoem e o0
Ao HEE T . SR R VLA A PR
Government Regulation

+

Regulatlon by governmiéntal authorities’ w1ll be a significant factor in our ongoing research and
development activities. In addmon the development production and marketing of any pharrnaceutlcal and
diagnostic products which we ora partner may develop is subject to regulatlon by governmental C
authorities. Strict regulatory controls govern the pre ~clinical and clinical testrng, design, manufacture
labelmg, supplv, distribution, recordkeepmg, reportmg, sale, advertrsmg and marketmg of the products
These regulatory controls will mfluence our and our partners abrlrty to successfully manufacture and

" market therapeuttc or diagnostic products b o ‘

[ALE LA PR LT '
Our success will depend in part, on the development and marketmg of products based onour -
research and development. Most countries require a company to obtain and maintain regulatory approval
for a product_ from the relevant regulatory authority to enable the product to be marketed. Obtammg
regulatory approval and complying with approprlate statutes and regulatrons is trme conSummg and
requlres the expendrture of substantlal resources ‘ ”

L — .
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In the United States.we and our products are subject to comprehensive:regulation by the United <.~ ...,
States Food and Drug-Administration (FDA). Thé process required by the FDA before our drug products .
may be approved for marketing in the United States generally involves (i) pre-clinical new drug laboratory
and animal tests, (ii) submission to the FDA of an investigational new drug (IND) application, which must
become effective before clinical trials may begin, (iii} adequate and well-controlled human clinical.trials to”
establish the safety and efficacy of the drug for its intended indication, (iv) submission to the FDA of a new
drug apphcatlon (NDA) (v) review by an advrsory commrttee to FDA for recommendatrons regardmg
whether thé NDA should be approved and (vi) FDAT review of the NDA in order to determine among
other things, whether the drug is safe and effective for its intended usés. There is no assurance that the
FDA review process ‘will result in product approval on a timely basis, if at all. '

o

Pre-clinical testslmclude laboratory evaluation of product chemrstry and'formulatlon as well as anlmal
studies to assess the potentlal safety and ‘efficicy of the product Pre- cllnlcal tests arc generally subject 0"
FDA regulations’ regardmg Good Laboratory Practice. The results‘of the pre clinical'tests are Submitted to
the'FDA s part of an IND and are reviewed by the FDA pnor to the commencement of clrnrcal trials’ or =
during thé conduct of th& clinical tHials, as approprlate~ At e T e

I ' U I P TS R P L L TR I '

Clmrcal trrals are, conducted under protocols that detall such matters as the objectives ¢ of the study, _the
parameters 1o be used to monitor safety and the efftcacy criteria fo be evaluated ,Each protocol must ibe .
submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. Further, each protocol must be reviewed and approved by an
institutional‘teviéw board (IRB), and study subjects must-provide informed conserit to"participation in'the
study. Clinical trials'are subject to oversight by the IRB at each'study site and by the FDA.'An IRB or the:
FDA may prevent a study from being initiated, or may suspend or terminate studies once initiated, - -

« Clinical trials are typically conducted'in three sequential phases, which may overlap:-Buring Phase I,
when the drug is.initially given to:-human subjects, the product is tested for safetyl. dosage tolerance, .-+~
absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion: Phase Il involves safety, tolerability and efficacy of the -
product across a range of doses.with the goal of identifying appropriate doses and patients-for further . |
study. Phase IILtrials are undertaken in order to.further evaluate clinical efficacy.and to further test for -
.safety within an expanded patient population. The FDA may suspend clinical trials at any point in this.. .
process i 1f it concludes that clmrcal subjects are bemg exposed to an unacceptable health rrsk

ST

Clmrcal trrals must be conducted and momtored in accordance with’good clmlcal practlce (GCP) and..
other regulatory requirements. For applications to the FDA, clinical studies must be adequate and well,
controlled: Following the clinical trials, we will analyze the data and determine whether the clinical tnals
successfully:demonstrated the safety and efficacy of the product. If they do, we, will prepare and submit.a ,,
new drug application (NDA). The FDA conducts a prellmmary review of the NDA to determine whether, .
to file the application and begin substantive review, or to refuse to file the appl1catlon on the ground that
FDA considers it incomplete. ; Dfpyatt e

LI § ]

We will need:FDA approval of,our products, including:a pre-approval inspection of the manufactu_ring
processes and facrlrtres used to produce such,products to assess conformance, with, current good ... .
rnanufacturmg practices, (cGMP) before such products may b be marketed in the Umted States ‘The EDA .
may also ingpect the chmcal trial sites 1o ensure- their conformance with GCP The process of, obtalnmgﬂ
approvals from the FDA can, be costly, time-consuming. and subject,to unantlcrpated delays There canbe
no assurancethat the FDA will grant approvals of, our proposed products,,processes or. facrhtles on a. .,
timely basis, if at all. Any delay or failure to obtain such approvals w0uld havea materral adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and resuits of operations. Moreover, even if regulatory approval is
granted, such approval may include conditions of approval such as addltronal studies or srgnrflcant :
limitations on: mdlcated uses for which a product could be- marketed ]

L)

Among the condmons for NDA approval is the requrrement that the prospectlve manufacturer s
operating procedures ¢onform to cGMP requirements, which must be' follovt;ed at ail trmes In cornplymg '
with those requirements, manufacturers (including a drug sponsor s third party contract manufacturers)
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must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality control to ensure - ..
compliance. Domestic manufacturing establishments are subject to periodic inspections by the FDA in .
order to assess, among other things, <GMP compliance. To supply a product for use in the United States,
foreign manu'fa_cturing establishments also must comply with cGMP and ar¢ subject to periodic inspection
by the FDA cr by regulatory ‘authorities in ‘certain other countries under reciprocal agieements with'the
FDA‘ Lo, . .'.‘;‘ N ot PR T

wjes ! i :

Both before and after approval is obtained, a product, its manufacturer and the holder of the NDA for
the product a;rg,subject to comprehensive regulatory oversight. FDA regulations impose requirements for,
recordkeeping, periodic reporting, and reporting of adverse experiences with the product. Niolations of .+
regulatory requirements at any stage, including the pre-clinical and clinical testing process, the approval
process, or thereafter (including after approval) may result in various adverse cgnsequences,'ir';'cluding the
FDA’s delay in’approving or refusal to approve a product, withdrawal of an approved product from the
market, seizare of the product, injunction against the company, and/or the imposition of criminal penalties
against the manufacturer and/or NDA holder and/or officers and employeés. I addition, later discovery of
previously unknown problems'may result in restrictions on such product, manufacturer'or NDA holder,
inciuding with_d_'r'atyva_l'_::]).f the plrdduct'from the market. Also, new goveriment requirements may be
established tlf:é{_‘b::n:.lld Qé[éy;Qr prevent regulatory.approval of our products urider .'df.lve!dpmerit:

The FDA has implemented accelerated approval procedures for cer)tainlphénnaceutical agents that
treat serious or life-threatening diseases and conditions, especially where no satisfactory alternative,
therapy exists. We cannot predict the ultimate impact, however, of the FDA’s accelerated approval ...
procedures on the timing or likelihood of approval of any of our potential. products or.those of any ...
competitor. In addition, the approval of a product under the accelerated agproira] procedures may be’
subject to various conditions, including the requirement to verify clinical benefit in post-marketing studies, .
and the authority on the part of the FDA to withdraw approval under streamlined procedures if such -,
studies do not verify clinical benefit. . ' '

. i e o b TR TN A

Diagnostic products are regulated as medical devices in the United States: Devices.are subject to
similar types of FDA regulatory controls and enforcement actions as apply to drugs, but many aspects of
device regulation differ. Medical devices are classified into one of three classes, Class I, II or III, on the .-
basis of their risk and the controls deemed necessary to assure their safety and effectiveness, with Class1 -,
presenting the_least-risk. Regulatory controls for devices include labeling, recordkeeping, reporting, and -
adherence to the FDA's quality system requirements, or QSR, including good-manufacturing practices.

Most Class'l devices and some Class 11 devicés are exempt from FDA prémarket review. Most Class I1
devices and some Class III devices require FDA review and clearance of a prerr'lﬁfk‘et' notification under
Section 510(k) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDC Act) prior to marketing. A
510(k) notification must demonstrate that the device is substantially equivalent to a predicate device, which
is a device marketed prior to 1976 or to a'marketed device shown to be substantially equivalent under the
510(k)'notification process. In addition, Class II devices are subject to special controls, suchas - . ..
performance standards, patient registries, and FDA guidance. Class III devices, and devices determined to
be not substantially equivalent to a predicate device, require FDA approval of a'premarket approval
application (PMA) prior to marketing. A PMA must contain manufacturing data; pre-clinical data, and .
data from g:li_!.'lical testing that demonstrates the device is safe and effective for its intended use. The FDA
may refer a PMA for review by an advisory panel of outside experts for a'recommendation regarding
approval. FDA approval of thé PMA is required prior to marketing and distribution. THe FDA may
impose conditions'of approval or ;ets‘striptibns on the sale, distribution, or;ugf:_ o'f Ep'e'devibé.'L .

The conduct of device clinical trials is subject.to FDA regulation, including requirements forIRB
approval, informed consent, recordkeeping, and reporting. In addition, a significant risk device requires
FDA approval of an investigational device exemption (IDE) application. A nonsignificant risk device does
not require IDE approval and is subject to abbreviated recordkeeping and reporting requirements.
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Significant risk devices include‘implants; life-supporting and life-sustaining devices, devices of substantial
importance in diagnosing, curing, mitigating.or treating disease, and devices that’ otherwrse present a’ !
potentral for serious risk to the health; safety:or welfare of a sub_]ectl T R R T

; 411, T PR
To the extent our dlagr;djstrcjproducts may be mtended for uéé as prognostrc tests for selectrng patrents
most ltkely to benefit from drug theraples ‘such products may be studied in the clinical trials of the related
drug product under the regulatory provisions governing pharmaceutical clinical trials, but require a
separate PMA approval or 510(k) clearance under the medical device réquirements. The FDA’s policy for
cordevelopment of therapeutic'and diagnostic products is evolving, and'changes in FDA's regulatory policy

can affect the development testmg, regulatOry approval pathway, and marketmg of our- products ,s
L ainte e w

FDA has developed specral rules for in vitro reagents that are not approved or cleared as d1agnostrc
products. FDA has 1mposed restrtcttons on the manufacture labelmg, sale, dtstrrbutron advertrsrng,
promotion and use of analyte spectﬁc reagents (ASRS) FDA deﬁnes ASRs as anttbodres specrftc receptor‘
protems, ligands, nuelelc acid’ sequences, and srmrlar reagents whrch through SpelelC bmdmg or chemrcal .
reaction with substances in a specimen, are mtended for use in a dragnostrc appltcatlon for tdentrfrcatlon )
and quantification of an mdmdual chemical substance or ligand in brologtcal specrmens An ASR can be
used by a clinical laboratory to develop m-h0use (“home brew ) laboratory assays lf the laboratory is .
certified for high complexity testing 'under the Clinical* Laboratory Improvement AZt of 1998 as amended
(CLIA). Most, but not all; ASRs are exempt from 510(k) premarket notification'or PMA approval, and ail
are subject to-good manufacturing practices (GMP) requirements and to-the restrictions on their sale,
distribution and use imposed by FDA regulation. In addition, FDA regulates Research Use Only(RUO):
diagnostic products, which by their mandatory labeling are not intended for use in diagnostic procedures: -
The clinical usefulness of RUQO-produicts is unknown and thus their use is limited to research purposes
only. Diagnostic products and reagents that we: develop now and in the future may. be subject to these and

r Fo

other applicable FDA regulations. = »' . "w'r 5 . .. T A T TP
For devices with an approved PMA, the manufacturer must submit pe'rtodrc reports contammg '
information on safety and effectiveness and other information specified in. FDA regulations, and : .
modifications to the product or.its intended use can trigger the:need to file a PMA Supplement for
approval by FDA. For devices with a cleared 510(k) notification,!modifications to the device thdt can affect
its safety or effectiveniess-may require the sibmission of a new 510(k) prior to-marketing the modified
device. All devices are subject-to continuing regulation by the FDA; including record-keepirig and -
reporting requirements, and reporting when a-device'may have caused or contributed to a death'or serious
injury or has malfunctioned in a way.1 that woulcl be likely, to,cause or contrtbute toa death or sertous injury

rfthemalfuncttonweretorecur ey g . fpae v L.
e o .. JR

Product labeling and promotional activities for. drug and devrce products are subject to scrutmy by the
FDA, and products may be promoted only for their approved indications.- Violations of promotional . **
requirements for drugs and devices may also'involve violations of the federal False Claims Act; anti-
kickback laws, and other federal or state laws. Inraddition to the government bringing claims under the
federal False Claims Act; gut tam, or “Wwhistleblower,” actions'may be-brought by private individualson-
behalf of the government. Also, competttors may bring litigation under- the Lanham:Act or. challenges v
under industry self-regulatron groups relatmg to product advertising, . " i Ltas AL e .
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'Clinical laboratory tests that a}é developed and valldated by a laboratory for use in exammattons the
laboratory performs,ttself are calted “home brew” tests. Most home brew tests currently arg not sub)ect to
premarket review by FDA. The DNA- based d1agnost1cs we propose to offer startmg w1th our test for risk
of type 2 diabetes, will be home brew tests. As a clinical laboratory, we are required to hold certdin federal,
state and local licenses; certifications and permits to conduct our business. Under CLIA, we are required
to hold a certificate applicable to the type of work we perform and to comply with standards cavering -« .
personnel, facilities admmtstratton quality systems and prof1c1ency testmg AR R e
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We operate under CLIA accreditation standards. To renew our CLIA certificate, we are'subject to
survey and inspection every two years 1o assess ccompliance with program : standards. The standards
apphcable to'the testmg which we perform may change over time. We cannot assure you that we will be
able to operate, profltably should regulatory compllance requnrements become substantrally more costly in
the future

. . -+ S . N A I I SR UL

“If our laboratory is out of compliance with CLIA requlrements we may.be sub]ect to’sanctions such as
suspenision, limitation or revocation of our CLIA certificate, as well as directed plan of correction, state
on-site:monitoring, civil money penalties, civil injunctive suit or criminal penalties: We must maintain "~
CLIA compliance and certification to be eligible to bill for services provided to Medicare beneficiaries: I~
we were to be found out of compliance with CLIA program requirements and subjected to sanction, our
busmess could be harmed oL . o, o
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The European Community (EC) and:EC. member states maintain drug regulatory systems for T
medicinal preducts and medical devices that are.comparable in their rigor to those in the United States.
Clinical trials of medicinal products require governmént-authorizations (based on evidence of safety from -
pre-clinical tests and other sources); must be reviewed and-approved by ethics committees;and'must be' -
carried out in compliance with good clinical practice. There i$ no guarantee that permission will be granted
for clinical trials of new medicinal products, and permission can be withdrawn if safety issues' arlse durmg a
clinical trial. . N Lo e T S

Medicinal products may not be introduced to the market in the EC unless a marketing authorization
has been granted by a competent authority. Marketing authorization applications for new chemical entities
may be submitted to'multiplé EC member states under the mutual recognition system (which résults in
harmonized conditions of approval) orto the European Medicines Agency (EMEA), which'administers a‘
systemn that leads to a single marketing authorization'that is.valid in all EC:member.states}For certaifi new
chemical entiti€’s, as well as all biotechinology products, submission to thé EMEA is mandatory, - = . !
Requirements for marketing authorization applications are similar to those for NDAs in'the United States,
including requirements for proof of safety, efficacy and quality. These requirements'are demanding, and: .
there'is no assurance thatra product for which a marketing authorization application’is submittéd will be
approved. Manufacturing facilities must.also comply with EC requirements for good manufactiiring
practice, and if located in the EC must be licensed by the.competent authority of the relevant member
state. Requirements may be imposed for post-marketing studies, and there are detailed requirements for
post-market surveillance of safety (pharmacovigilance) Advertising and promotion-are scrutinized by
* authorities in each member state, and in some cases by the EMEA as well. Products ‘may be removed from
the market, permanently or temporarily, if safety questions arlse ‘and there aré only Timited procedural
requirements before such actions can be'taken: . .. T ol L. L Sarl e L sl 0
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In addition to these controls under Medicines Law, most EC member states maintain ‘so'me_ form of
control over the'pricing or reimbursement of medicinal products. In many member states, marketing may
not commence until a price or reimbursement level has been determined, and in some member states. <+ .
products are also subject to cost-effectiveness reviews.that can, for. practical purposes, determine whether .
they will be utilized. ' '

The EC maintains a separate system for medical devices, including in vitro diagnostic devices 'that'm‘ay
be developed'in conjunction with 'medicinal products whose use depends on biomarkers. Manufacturers
must meet requirement's for quality control, which may entail interaction with quasi-governmental Notified
Bodies, and comply with essentlal Tequirements and standards adopted under EC law There is no
harmonized sy item of control on the advert151ng and promotlon ‘of. medleal devxces‘ and requnrements vary
from country to country In addltlon niany EC memiber states maintain systems 0 evaluate new medical
devices to determine whether they are cost-effective or otherwise appropriate for use in national health
systems, other maintain other systems to control pricing or reimbursement of medical devices.
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Environmental e T R 1 W

deCODE’s* pnmary research facilities and laboratory are located m Reykjavrk Iceland. We operate
under appllcable Icelandic and European Union laws and standards, with which we belreve that we comply,
relating to environniental, hazdrdous materials and other safety matters. Our research and manufacturing
activities involve the generation, use and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes, including various
chemicals and radioactive compounds. These activities are subject to standards prescribed by Iceland and
the EU..We do not believe-that compllance with these-laws'and standards will have any material effect. .
upon our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position, or that we will have any material capital .
expenditures in relation to environmental control-facilities for the remainder of this fiscal year or any
succeeding fiscal year, - o0 - . o R . 3 l X o

Our activities in the U.S. involve the controlled use of hazardous materials. We are subject'to U.S. -
federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and
disposal of such materials and certain waste products. Although we believe that our activities in the U.S. _ .
currently comply with the standards prescribed by such laws and regulations; the risk of accidental '
contamination or injury from these materials cannot be eliminated. In the event.of such an accident, we
could be held liable for any damages that result and any.such liability could exceed our'resources. In
addition, there can be no assurance that we will not be required.to incur significant costs to comply with
environmental laws and regulations in the future.

* 1
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Employees J A ; S -

As of December 31, 2006 deCODE and all of 1ts subsidiarics employed 429 full-time staff Of the
total number, approximately 143 were employed.in the, United States and 286-in Iceland. More than 97
held Ph.D. or M.D. degrees and approximately 362 held college degrees. 334 employees were engaged in,
or directly supported, research and development activities, of whom 281 worked within the laboratory .. -
facilities and 53 held positions associated with the development and support of informatics. 64 employees
were engaged in various professional support functions such as Finance, Business Development, Legal, -
Communications; Human Resources and Clinical Collaborations, and 31 were employed in administrative'.
support, facilities management, cleaning and security. In addition, we utilized part-time:employees and -
outside contractors and consultants as needed and plan to continue todoso. ..
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Certain Fmanclal Informatlonu - e L ; P e R
Research and Develapmem aud Cost of Revenue Expeuses .

Our cost of research and development for 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $57.1 rmlhon $43 7 million and
$24.9 million, respectively.

RLINRTF R S S P IR TP IR -
Our cost of revenue for 2006, 2005 and 2004, was $42 7 mrllton $37.3 mrlhonrand $43.4 million, -
respectively. Our cost.of reveriue, includes costs incurred in connection with collaborative programs and
represents our customer-sponsored research and development activities. . e :

o
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Long-lived assets located in the United States and Iceland: were $25;356, 000 and $20 457 000
respectively at Deccmber 31, 2006 and $26 231, 000 and $13,494,000, respectively.at December 31, 2005.

Revenues attrrbuted to'the’ Umted States and t6 Tceland were '$16, 816 000 and $23,694,000,
respectively, for' 2006 $15,486, 000 and $28 469 000, rCSpectlvely for 2005 and $13 680 ,000 and $28, 447 000
respectlvely, for 2004 N
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Significant.Customersy. 15 prrto Lt Gt vy ekl M l’\' i‘:"'?-." '

Hrstoncally, a substantlal portron of deCODE’s r'evenue Has been derlved from contracts wrth a’
llmlted number of srgnlftcant customers Roche accounted for approxrmately 17% 23% and’ 30% ‘of the
company s consolldated revenue in 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectlvely Merck accounted for approxrmately
3%, 15% and 22% of the company 8 consolrdated revenue in 2006 2005 and 2(}04 reSpecttvely DlVlSlonS
of the’ Natlonal Instltute of Health (NIH) represented 33%, 13% and 1% ‘of consolrdated revenue 1n_ 2006
2005 and 2004 respectrvely The loss of any srgnrf caft customer may sngmftcantly Iower deCODE’ n
revenues whlch ‘could affect ‘the resources available to'support’ our drug drscovery programs : .
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Cha P ATE D L sy P A S "‘t v AT ey 2 AR | .1‘\!"\‘! et .
In addition to the other information contamed in this Form 10-K, you should consider the following
risk factors in evaluating our business and prospects. We also note that this annual report on Form 10-K
contarns forward _ldokmg statements These statements relate to. future events or,our future ﬁnancral _
performance In some cases ! forward- lookmg statements ¢an be 1dent1f1ed by termmology such'’ as may, |
“should,” “could ” “expect ” “plan,” “antrcnpate',” “belleve,” “estlmate ” “predrct » “mtend " “potenttal” or
contmue or the negatrve of such terms or other comparable termmology These statements are only
expectauons We cannot assdre our mvestors that our expectatrons ‘and’ assumptrons will prove to ave
been correct “We uddertake no intention or obllgatlon to update or revise any forward lookmg statements,
whether a8 4 result of future events, new 1nformatron or otherwise. Actual everits or results may drffer .
materlallyi due toa numb‘er of factors 1nc1udmg those set forth in] thls sectro"n and elsewhere m thlS '

(LA

10- oM SURPY AL Y ¢ P T L b TSI a0t i s Yo Ty
Lf;] . AJ"[ TS AT Lhiie ! LT LV A L :-' AETERE T SE AT A AL J‘ﬁ“r.
| unThese factors include, but are not limited to, the risks set forth below.rieo. v 0 L vl nwe
3 ) T T . - T
iy LM PR PP T L TR R TR U 7 1

Risks Related to Our Development of DG031

Suspension of our Phase’ HI trial for DGO3I may delay the comp!etwn 'of the'trial and possrble commercmhzatmn
of the drug, w.'uch may hurt aurﬁttureﬁnancmlresults T e T R PR N T

On October 5, 2006 we announced that We wére voluntartly suspendrng our Phase III chmcal trral for
DG031 1n ordér'to address an unexpected formulatlon problem With the tablets bemg used i the’ tnal We'
cannot guarantee that we: wrll be able to reformulate the tablets successfully While we aré workmg to
resolve thiis issue with & v1ew to resumlng the trral by year end or the first ‘quarter of 2008, because the
resumptlon of the tnal is dependent on succéssful reformulatlon and the executron of new agreements wrth
varlous servrcie prov1ders I’ connection with the trial, we cannot prov1de assufance that" we Mwill meet this
goal and We'cannot prédict with cértainty when, if at all, the trial Wwill resume; ‘however, thié suspensmn will '
cause the trial to exceed the minimum 36 months duration from the recruitment of the first patient that we
previously estimated. This delay in the development of this drug could adversely |mpact our f1nanc1al
results and commercial prospects. et

" h"" " ‘ ' TR
The Phase III chmcal tnal Jor DGO31 will require the recrurtment of patreuts based on ethmcrty and haplotype
status upon re-mumtton of the study, récruitment rates could st:ll be Iower rhan we expect the trral may be
delayed and" our commerczal prospects may be hurt - '

SR L “a
ML T L (IR PR ) ' * l:h’t L/ TR B
.~ (dn our Phase.I11 clmlcal trial for DG031 we were orlgmally testing the hypothesrs whether African -,
American-patients; who {(a) carry the HapK haplotype in LTA4H and (b) have experienceda,_ . "«
hospltahzauon and/or- admrssron for procedures and testing for unstable angina or myocardial infarction .
will experience reduced rates of acute cardiovascular events when treated with, DG031, as compared to
placebo on top of concomitantly-administered standard of care. In order to recruit a sufficient number of
patients to oktain statistically significant evidence for the efficacy of DG031, we require the participation
of a large number of African American patients willing to be tested for haplotype status and to participate
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in the clinical trial for at least 12 months. Many factors outside our control may reduce the willingness of .
patients to be tested and participate in the clinical trial. Based on experience gathered to date, we are
evaluating the strategy for patient recrurtment and will consider alternative enrollment strategles based on
haplotype status that would accelerate the overall enrollment plan. This will requrre dlSCUSSlOﬂS ‘with the
United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and agreement on strategy through the Specral
Protocol Assessment process. However upon re-initiation of the study, we may fail to. recruit a sufficient
number of patlents ina tm‘lely manner the trial may be delayed or we may fail to show the efﬁcacy of the |
drug. This may delay or prevent the marketing approval of DG031, which could adversely 1mpact our
financial results and commeércial prospects.

We have only indirect evidence from btomarkers studies about the qﬁectweness of DGO3I and this data may not
be validated in the Phase HI clinical tnal SR . .

The data collected during the Phase I'and Phase II clinical trials for DGO31 whrch is the basis for our ‘
contlnumg development of this drug, does not prov1de evidence of whether DG031 will prove to be an
effecnve treatment to reduce the raté of acute cardiovascular events in the prospective treatment . )
populatron In order to prove or disprove the validity of our assumptlon about the efficacy of DG031, we
must conduct the Phase II trial. We temporarrly suspended the trial in early Octaber, 2006 due to
formulation stabrhty 1ssues We will need to re-initiate the study after resolution of the formulatron issues, .
There are delays in'the program as a result, with resultmg delays of validation of the hypothesrs bemg
tested. Various factors that we do or do not control may cause the trial to be lengthier or costlier than e '
antlmpated Until data from the trial can be collected and analyzed we will not know whether DGO31 is an’
effective treatment, and regulatory review by the FDA will uitimately determine whether the drug gams o
marketing approval. The outcome of this process is uncertain and delays or failure to gain market approval
could adversely impact our financial results and commercial prospects.

' M FUA e

If DGO31 is approved by the FDA, we may. have marketing exclusivity for only a Itmttea' term. ..

The patents we licensed from Bayer for DG031 expire in 2009 and 2012. While we will seek to obtaln :
one or more use patents protecting our proprietary rights to specific uses of this compound for a longer
period, we cannot be certain that we will obtain such patents or that they will adequately protect us. In
addition, although we may, seek to obtam 5 year marketing exclusrvrty under the Hatch- Waxman Act and
equivalent forergn statutes, we cannot be certain that we, will be successful. We expect we will not obtam :
regulatory approval for DG031 before the composmon of matter patent we licensed from Bayer expires in .
2009. Accordingly, if we cannot obtain new ' patents or obtain 5 year marketmg excluswrty, the amount of
revenues that we will be able to derive from an approved product based on these patents may. be adversely
affected. . i . oo oo

Risks Related to Our lz)iagn'osti’c Tests

We may not derive revenues Jrom our diagnostic tests
'\ * l‘ ‘\ *

We are deve]opmg DNA-based dlagnostrc tests and expect to offer a DNA-based dragnostlc test for
risk of type-2 diabetes in 2007. Our ability to derive revenues from this test will depend among other
things, on certification of our reference laboratory under the Clinical Laboratory Improvement
Amendments of 1988 by the State of New York and our continued compliance with applicable regulatory
requiréments and-on acceptance of the test by physicians. In addition, we do not expect that third-party’ -~
insurance or other reimbursement will be available for the test. Accordingly, unless patients are willing to
pay for the test themselves, we will not be able to market it successfully. As a result of these factors WE -
cannot predlct whether or not we will be able to derive revenues from this-test. EER L
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RisksRelatedtoOurBusiness::-. T L T P P

If we are not suceessﬂd in our pendtng lmgatmn regardmg mtsappmprtatwn of trade secrets and breach of related
nan-competttron non-solwttauqn and non-dtsclosure agreements our ability to pratect our eanf dentml’ o
mfannanon and lo enforce non-competttwn and non-sohatanon agreements agam.st former employees may be '
:mpatred whreh coutd adversely aﬁect our busmess and praspects f '

e i . ' 4
I . ' b YL I .

r1,On August 4 2006 we commenced an actlon in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern Districtof ..
Pennsylvania against five former employees:for misappropriation:of our trade secrets and intellectual o,
property, related breach of non-competition, non-solicitation, and non-disclosure provisions of their
employment agreements, and violation of the federal Computer: Fraud and Abuse Act in connection with .
their. employment by The Children’s Hospltal of Philadelphia (CHOP):It is possible that-a judgment
against us with respect to our allegations of trade secret misappropriation may negatively affect our ability
to protect some of what we consider to be our confidential information under the law of trade secrets.
Also, it is possible that a judgment against;us with respect to the non-competition, non-solicitation,.or non-"
disclosure agreements with the individual defendants (1) would allow the defendants to engage ln
competmon with us, (2) may cause other current or former employees to test the vahd:ty of thelr non-

competition, non- sohc:tatlon and non- dlsclosure agreements when they mtght otherw1se have refralned _
from doing ¢ $0, or (3) inay cause other mstltutlons besides CHOP to hiré ouf current or former employees '
when they mlght otherwise have reframed from domg 50. Any of these events c0uld 1mpa1r our ablhty to
compete for collaboratlve arrangements ‘for access to DNA samples or for product or technology llcensmgr
arrangements and ultimately could adversely affect our ablhty o develop and market products P e T

i
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We may not sueeessﬁ;lly develop or a'enve revenues from any produets. et e ‘
We use our technology and research capablhtles toudenttfy genes and gene variations that contrtbute \
to certain discases and then develop small molecule drugs that target proteins produced by these genes.
Although we have ldentlﬁed genes that we believe' are likely to cause certain discasés, ‘we may not be
corfect and may not be successful in 1dent1fymg any other 51m|lar genes or in developlng drugs baSed on '
these dlscoveues Many experts belteve that some of the dtseases we are targetmg are’ caused by both '
genettc and cnvaronmental factors ‘Even if we ldenttfy specnt" c genes that are partly respons1ble for g causmg.
dtseases any therapeuttc Or. dlagnostlc products we develop 4s a rdsult of our genétic work may | not detect
prevent, treat or cure a partlcular d1sease Any pharmaceut:cal or dlagnostlc products that we or our )

' Ca.on
collaborators are able to develop wnll fatl to produce revenues unless we:

) 2! ASTTLER S P
. establt.,h that they-are safe and effectlve, Coe cebog o eon AT Nt

LS L ARSI (L el e T e
» successfully compete with other technologiés and products; T i

.1e.¢nsure that they do.not 1nfrmge on.the proprletary rlghts of others; . .+ % .‘\ Poyries o e T
e establish that they can  be manufactured in suff1c1ent quantltles at reasonable costs by
. obtan't‘an'd maintain regulatory approvals for them and ,' 'j} o v “"’ :r‘:r‘ ' h '
® can market them successfully. c B YU P S R R AERN

" We may, not be able.to meet these condmons We expect that it w1ll be years 1f ever before we wﬂl
recognize 51gmf1cant revenue from the development of therapeutlc or dlagnostlc products e

" p‘

AT B LY

If we eoutmue ta incur operatmg Iosses longer than antwtpated or m amounts greater than am‘tctpated we
may be unable .fo continue our operattons . :

ot T T i .;.-,‘- EAR T I S

We incurred a net loss of $85.5 million, $62.8 million and $57.3 million for the years ended.* *»
December 31; 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively, and had an accumulated deficit of $535.7 million at.-
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December 31, 2006. We have never generated a profit and we have not generated revenues except-for =+ +.'i
payments received in connectlon with our research and, development collaboratrons wrth Roche, Merck
and others, from contract servrces from sales of Emerald BroSystems products and mstruments and grar‘r y
funding. Our research and development expendltures and selllng, general and admlm‘stratlve costs have ,. |
exceeded our reventie to date, and we expect to spend s1gmflcant addrtlonal amounts, to fund: research and“
development in order to enhance our core technologies and undertake product development (mcludlng '
drug development and related clinical trials): We do not expect to'receive-royalties or:other revenues from
commercial sales of products developed using our technology in‘the near term. It may be several years. -4
before product revenues materialize, if they do at all. As a result, we expect to incur net losses for several
years. If-the time required to generate product revenues and achieve profitability is longer-than we '~ 1".i.4
currently antlcrpate or if the level of losses is.greater than we currently anticipate, we may not be‘able to* '
contmueouroperatrons I 4 S R S T S S AT R R TR I PR NI T
. oo b oo TN L R S

If our assumptron ‘about the role of genes in diseases is wrong, we may "not be able to devetop useful products. ety

at*

The products we hope to develop involve new and unproven approaches They are based on the '
assumptron that mformatron about genes may help screntlsts to better understand complex disease . -

products based on gene dlscoverles have been developed Of the products that exrst a]I are dragnostrc . ',
products To da.te we know of no therapeutrc products based on dlsease-gene drscovenes If our L
assumption about the role of genes in the dlsease proccss 1s wrong,” our gene dlscovery programs may not

result in products. -

In order to conduct clinical trials and to market our dmgs, we will kave o deve!op methods to produce these drugs
using approved methods and at commerctally viable rates.- '+ i . - S T T T

'In order to conduct clmlcal trials'and uItrmately to market any drugs we may dcvelop, we or our thrrd
party ¢ contractors will need to obtain chemrcals and components and 1n some cases lrcenses for | proprretary
formulatron technology, necessary for the manufacture of the products from thrrd partles Wc or our .
contractors w1lllthen need to 1mplement the necessary technology in ordcr to prpduce the drugs to exactmg
standards set by us and the regulatory bodies. Thrs is an unoertam and tune consumrng process and any
drsruptron in'it may delay or harm our abrhty to contrnue “clinical deveIOpment For drugs which have, s
reached the last stage of clinical trials, we or our contractors wrll have to develop methods to scale  up the
production of the drug at commercially viable rates If we are not able to scale the- process ina trmely U
manner or do not have the ability to produce the drug economically, we'may not be able‘to'enter.the «
market with a viable product. This would harm our financial and commercial prospects.

. . e i 1 LA
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If we cannot successfully form and maintain suitable arrangements with third parties for the maniufacturing of the
products we may develop, our ability ra develop or deliver products may be impaired.’

-

We have no experrence in manufactunng produets for commercral purposes ‘and do not have
manufacturing facilities that can produce sufficient quantities of drugs for large scale clinical trials.”
Accordingly, we must either develop such facilities, which will require substantial additional funds, or rely
on contract manufacturers for the production of products for development and commercial purposes. In
ordér to-coriduct our Phase Tl clinical trial of DGO31, we will have to contract with third partiesto * -
manufacture a sufficient supply of the drdg for the trial and'to produce tablets containing DG031 in "
amounts sufficient for thc clinical trial. While we signed contracts with suppliers for the productlon of
DGO031 matetial and tabléts'fot the' latinch of our Phase I clinical trial and received sufflcrent matenals to
initiate the trial, following the reformulation and resumption of the trial, we miay fail to secute sufficient *
supply of the.drug in a timely manner over the duration of the trial. Reformulation work may.reguire
contracting for new quantities of tablets, and the timing of the manufacturing of such new quantities of

Hy ot
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tablets, as well as-additional testing for stablllty and other propertres of the new tablets, may delay the
resumpt1onoftheclln1caltrlal. o Lo T R Iy PP I ,. Sy

P

The' manufacture 6f our products for clinical trlals and commercial purposes is Subjéct to Good
Manufaéturing Practices (cGMP) regulations promulgated by the FDA:The manufacture of dlagnostrc
products is subject to the FDA'’s quality system reqitirements (QSR). In the’ evenit that wé'are-linablé'to ™
develop satlsfactory manufacturmg facilities or obtain or retain third party manufacturmg for our products,
we will not be able to commerc1ahze stich products as planned We may not'be able to entefinto * ' 7 -
agreements for the manufactute of futuré products with ‘mafiufacturers whose facilitis and procedures
comply with cGMP, QSR and other regulatory requirements. Our current dependence upon others for thé”
manufacture of our products may adversely affect our ability, to develop and deliver such products on a
timely and competitive basis and, in the longer term, the profit margin, if any, on the sale of future =~ " ..
products and our ability to develop and deliver such products on a timely and;competitive. basis. §.. . °

t:f, N S P " . - - ‘..,“ m j! 'f- !\{ - o ‘l
Clinical ma!s requtred for our product candrdates or the products of our customers and partners are e.xpenst ve .
and time-consuming, their oufcome is uncertain and we may not achieve our projected development goals in the
timeframes wchaveannouncedandexpect T TR P eI B R LR PR TP A PN S RVENTS IR P
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Before obtaining régulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any of our produets under*
development, we must demonstrate through pre- -clinical sfudies and &linical tHal§ that the produet is safe
and effectlve for use in cach target indication. Pre- cl:mcal testmg and clinical development are long,
expensive “and uncertain processes. It may take’ several years to complete testmg “for a product and fa1lure
can occur at any stage of testing. The length'of time necessary o cornplete clinical trials varies 51gn1flcantly
and may be difficult to predict. Factors.that can cause delay or termination of our clinical trials,include:

. slower than expected patlent enrollment due to 'the nature of the protocol the proxrmlty of patlents
to chmcal sites, the ellglblllty criteria for the study, competmon w1th chnlcal trlals for other drug

candldates or other faetors . , e e 4
F T i . P TR F R o P B (PSR LEEPE] S P

¢ lower than expected retentron rates of patients in a clinical trlal . Pt

. delayed approval of study protocol and. pharmacogenomic components of studies by regulatory.
agencies in different countries, some of which are still developmg pohcles w1th respet,;tl .to .,
pharmacogenomic testing; 4 t

. . . I S e s P
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. Inadequately tralned or lnSufflClcnt [)'Crsonnel "ét thé Stl.-l.dyj site td assist in Ovel‘seemé an('l

monitoring clinical trials;,- . - T TR LT SR U LI T PR RN Y SR T ST ¢
e delays in approvals or failure to obtain approval from the pertinent review boards or regulatory
authorrtres ' - .
g nih PR t [ S oo W w T U VR S SO S
ML) 'longer treatment time requlred to: demonstrate effectiveness or determine the appropriate product.’
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. lack of suffrcrent supply of the product candrdate ik C ot s " o 1*
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. adverse medlcal events or side effects in treated patlents TR A G ul R R
1
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“e lack of effectrveness of the product candrdate bemg tested and
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Even if we obtain positive results from pre-clinical or tlinical trials for & particular product,“‘we may

not achieve the same success in future trials of that product::In.addition,’some or all of.the clinical trials we
undertake may not demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy.to'obtain the requisite regulatory approvals,
which could prevent the creation of marketable products. Our product development costs will increase if
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we have de!_ays in testing or approvals, if wé need to perform more or larger clinical trials than planned, or

if our trials are not successful. Delays in our clinical trials may harm our financial results and the ' -
commercial prospects for our products. Delays or termination of clinical trials that we conduct for our
partners or customers may also.harm our financial results as payments, under these contracts may i be
delayed, reduced or curtatled e ' C e L
Co-development of therapeuuc and dtagnosttc products may be requtred and delays in the devetopment and
approval of a commercially awulable diagnostic may delay drug approval or impede market acceptance of the

therapeuttc product

. . o ot e . oy LT, PO

The use of some of our therapeutlc products may be dependent upon the selectlon of patients usmg
both clinical and genetic markers. This may require co-development and clinical testing of the theérapeutic
drug and a related:diagnostic product. In the United- States, drug approval could be delayed until we
successfully obtain FDA approval of the related diagnostic product. In addition, if the diaghostic test
cannot be'performed on a commercially viable basis, it may impede market acceptance of our approved
therapeutic products. To'successfully co-develop and market a drug and diagnostic we may also need fo
establish and maintain successful partnerships with manufacturing and marketing partners:for diagnostic *
products. If necessary, partnershlps cannot be established or maintained, the development of our .
therapeutics and/or dlagnostlcs may be delayed or may fail.

Ifwe are not able to obtam suﬁicwm addmonal fundmg fo meet our capttat requtrements, we may be forced to
reduce or ferminate our research and product development programs. - _ . '

We have ‘spent substantial amounts of cash to fund our research and developmem activitiés and - .
expect to continue to spend substantial amounts for these act1v1t1es over the next several years. We expect
to use cash to collect, generate and analy,:e genotyplc and dlsease data from volunteers in our dnsease-gene
research programs; to conduct drug discovéry and development activities (including clinical trials); and to
continue other research and development activities. Many factors will influence our future capttal needs,
including: s : : '

¢ ‘the number, breadth and progress of our dlscovery and rescarch programs;

e our ability to attract customers

L
EY S . . (-

= our ability to commercilalize our discoveries and the resources we devote to commercialization;
.- ! ¢ N . . A e A ' -

+ the amount we spend to enforce patent claims and other intellectual property rights; and -
o the costs and timing of regulatory approvals.; - 8

We have relied on, and may continue to rely on, revenues generated by our corporate alliances and
fee-paying customers for significant funding of our research efforts. Historically, a substantial portion of
our revenue has been derived from contracts with a limited number of significant customers. Revenue
under our alliances with Roche, accounted for approximately 17%, 23% and 30% of our consolidated
revenue in the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Revenue under our alliances
with Merck accounted for approximately 3%,15% and 22% of our consolidated revenue in the years -
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Divisions of the NIH accounted for approximately
33%, 13% and 1% of our consolidated revenue in the years ended December 31 2006 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Work under our agreement with Merck aimed at developing new treatments for obesity and
our 2002 agreement wnth Roche has been completed

v e o it .. ! '

In addition, we may seek additional-funding through publlc or.private equnty offermgs and debt
financings. We-may not be able to-obtain-additional financing when we need it or the financing may not be

L . T ' ' - . - .
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on terms favorable to us or our stockholders. Stockholders' ownership will be diluted if we raise additional
_capital by issuing equity securities. B T LA Co ey

If we raise additlonal funds through collaborations and licensing arrangements we may have to
relinquish rights to 'some of our technologies or product candidates, or grant licensés oni unfavorable terms
If adequate funds are not available, we would have to scale back or terminate our discoveiy and research
programs and product development . . i o T T

-
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The commen'ml success of any products that we may devetop wdl depend upon the degree of market acceptance
among physicians, patients, healthcare payors and the medical community. . .. .r.. yooe, .

Any products that wé may develop may not gain market’ acceptance among physrcrans panents
healthcare payors and ‘the medical communlty If these products do not'achieve an adequate level of -
acceptance, we may not generate matenal product reventics'and we may not Become profltable The
degree of market acceptance of any of dur prodirct candidates, if approved for commercral sale, will -
depend on a number of factors, including: '

"e demonstration of efficacy and safety in clinical-trials; . S R s e

e the prevalence and severity of any side effects; .. SR T N TN

. potentlal or, percelved advantages over a]ternanve treatments
ral °

¢ the timing of market entry relative to competitive treatments; e ot

e the ability to offer our 'product candidates for sale at competitive prices';

o - . R s A T o

s relative convenience and ease of administration;’ o CThe R
- '_. ] o FLEE :

e the strength of marketing and distribution support; '

o sufficient'third party'coverage or reimbursement; and- =~ < v o0 o ]

¢ the product labelmg or product 1nsert requn’ed by the FDA or regulatory authorltles in other

countries. - - , o
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If we cannot successﬁdb: develop a markeung and sales force or rnamtam suitable arrangements ‘with third part:es

to market and sell our products, our ability to deliver products may be :mpazred ¥

We currently have no experience in marketing or selling pharmaceutical products. In order to achieve
commercial success for any approved product, we must either develop a marketing and sales force; which
will require substantial additional funds and personnel, or, where appropriate or permissible, enter into
arrangements with third parties to market and sell our products. We might not be successful in developmg
marketing and sales capabilities. Further, we may not.be able to enter into marketing and sales agreements
with others on acceptable terms, and any such arrangements, if entered mto may be termmatep If we
develop our own marketing and sales capability, it will compete with other compames that currently have
experienced, well-funded and larger marketing and sales operations. To the extent that we enter into co-
promotion of other sales and marketmg arrangements w1th other compames revenues wrll depend on the
efforts of others which may not be successful. - :

R [T A TR 4 PR I P T, 1. L 8
Our rehance on the Icelandic population may hmzt the apphcab:hty of our discoveries to certain papuianons

The genetic make-up and prevalence of disease generaily varies across populations around the world.
Common complex diseases generally occur with a similar frequency in Iceland and other European
populations. However, the populations of other nations may be genetically predisposed to certain diseases
because of mutations not present in the Icelandic population. As a result, we and our.partners.may be.
unable to develop diagnostic and therapeutic products that are effective on all or a portion of people with
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such diseases. Forour business to succeed; we:must be able to apply discoveries that- we make on the basis -
of the Icelandic population to other markets. R L

Ifa substannal partmn of pamcrpants in, aur genencs research smdres wrthdraw thetr mfonned consent, our
ongomg research may sujfer e

NI IR I e . | _»‘,:._. .o‘t'.tl,, P e,

-

We depend on the willingness of Icelandic volunteers to part1c1pate in our genetics research Qtudles
All of the participants in our genetic studies have signed an informed consent form, which gives deCODE
permission to process data‘and blood samplés that the participant has'donated for research purposes. - B
Participants may at any time revoke this'permission by withdrawing their consent..If, for any reason,.a
substantial portion of participants in our,studies were to withdraw their consent, we would not be able to
contmue populauop genettc research in, some or, all of the dlseases that we. are studymg This would
dlmmlsh our ability to dlscover new drug targets and to develop products based.on these discoveries. If our
ability to use populatlon genetrc data is lmpalred we also may not be, able to fnlflll some contractual .
oblrganons with our partners.

TSR Lot o R

If we fail to protect confidential dataladequate{v, wecould incur a liability. .~ o'v . L0

Under laws and regulations in force in Iceland, including applicable Europeantlaws, directives and
regulations, all information on individuals that is used in our population research is anonymized under the
protocals and supervision of the Data Protection Authority of Iceland. Tf we fail to comply with these laws
and regulations, we could lose public support for participation in our résearch and we could be liable to
legal action. Any failure to comply fully wrth all confldenttahty requ1rements could lead 1o liability for
damages incurred by individuals whose pnvacy is v1olated the 10ss of ol customers and Teputation and the
loss of the goodwill and participation of the Icelandic population, including healthcare professionals. -

These eventualities could materially adversely affeclt our w_ork inIceland. e
Some parts of our product development services create a risk of liability from clinical trial participants and the
parties with whom we contract.

b g ST I"““l. Ty L AP ". ' -
Through our wholly owned subsidiary Encode ehf., we conduct chmcal trials of products we are
developrng and contract with drug companres and clinica) research orgamzatrons to perform a wrde range
of $érvices to assist thef i’ brmgmg new drugs to market. Our servicesinclude: "' - " )
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. supervrsrng clinical trials;
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. data andlaboratory analysis; - s, ce LT LS e
LOWRSGL T MA e gme vl e e e e ,
- patlent recru1tment and et ' : _ »
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e actmg as investigators in conductmg clinical trials. v -~ . ~.7 o P Lo
r. e e Vo Sl e
If, m the course of these trrals or acnvrtrets ] S 1 S i .
L e : ; oAt T VoLt : v R i

e rwe do not perform our services to contractual or regulatory standards o S Co
et

o ‘weé fail to obtain. permrssron fo conduet trials from the approprtate authorltles in Iceland o
"y L] 1

e patients or volunteers suffer personal injury caused by or death from adverse reacnons to the test
- drugs'or otherwise;« “vsi. - vL T e e T Ry e e T

. there are deficiencies in the professrona] conduct of the investigators with whom we contract
PR TTOR (TR 1B TSP LA PR ' b

A our laboratorles maccurately report or farl to report ]ab results;or o -

P

«: our informatics products violate nghts of third parties,” Sk
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then:we could be'held liable for these eventualities by the regulatory agencies or the drug companies and' +i
clinical research organizations with whom we contract or by study. participants. We maintain:product - :-
liability insurance for claims arising from the use of products we are developing in clinical trials conducted;
by Encode and are covered by the product liability insurance of the drug companies and clinical research
orgamzatrons for whtch we provrde clmical trial servtces for clarms arising frorn the use of thetr products in
such tl’lalS Such i msurance may be madequate and in any event would not cover the rtsk ofa customer i
dec1dmg not to do busmess wrth us as a result of poor performance or clatms for a customer 5 ﬁnancral loss
as the result of our failure to perform our contractual oblrgattons prOperly

VORI TR SR .‘11'-r_,.|

Use of therapeutic or diagnostic products developed as a result of our programs may result in product liability
ctmms for whtch we have madequate tnsurance.

. 4, J.,r Yot Sy
The users of any therapeuttc or dtagnosttc products developed by us or 0urt collaborators asa result of
our dlscover3 or research programs (mcludmg participants in our, c]mtcal trtals) may bring product ltabtllty
claims agamst us. Except as descnbed above with respect to cltmcal trtals conducted by Encode and.except
with respect to our Phase III trial of DG031 we currently do not carry llablltty insurance to cover such’
cla1ms We are not certatn that we or our collaborators will be able to obtaln such i tnsurance or if obtamed
that sufficient coverage can be acqurred ata reasonable cost If we cannot protect agamst potentral lrabllrty
claims, we or our collaborators may find it dtfﬁcult or 1mposs1ble to commercrallze products.

il I PR B L T TN S S T !
Our fee-for-service work bears certain risks of liability to our customers. 7.2+ ...in 1
Our subsidiaries, deCODE chemistry, Inc.; deCODE biostructures, Ine.sand Emerald -, v »

Biosystems, Inc., provide services, equipment and products {including software) for third party customers
who pay us on a fee for-service or product basis. In this function, we often synthesize compounds,
manufacture acttve pharmaceuttcal ingredient matenal and prov1de recommendatrons for research,,
direction for our customers We also provide contract research services in X- ray crystallographrc structure
détermination of protein-ligand compléxes for customiers, and often recommend-targets to customers ’
based on these determmatlons In addltlon we sell mstruments and software to these customer e

We may be hable to our customers for damages 1f we perform such servtces negltgently or wrth w1llfulqI
mtsconduct or if we provrde customers with defective products equtpment or software We also may be S
held liable for failure to meet specrftcatrons or failure to comply with other contractual conditions. Whrle ;
our agreements with customers limit our liability and while we carry general commercial liability i msurance
such contractual limitations may not be effective in the event of-our material breach’of the agreements,
gross negligence, or willful misconduct and such insurance may not be adequate. We also supply
compounds for clinical trials conducted by our customers. In doing so, we may provtde materials requtrtng
certification of compliance with cGMP regulations applrcable to production of such materials. If we are
found not to have complied with such requirements, we may incur liabilitiés related to such failures. If
participants in these trials suffer personal injury or death from adverse reactions to the test drugs, we could
be held liable.to.our customers or the participants, We maintain product liability insurance for clarms
arising from the use of products we supply Howevcr such msurance may be madequate Farlure 0 i
perform to customer expectation also may limit future business from our existing customers or could
result in the holdback of certain payments due.to us.,We integrate software and products purchased or.
licensed from third parties suppliers into certain of our products equ1pment and software sold to our
customers. While we évaluate such items for defects and possrble 1ntellectual property 1nfnngement 1ssues
and attempt to obtain contractual protecttons fiom suppliers, in the event any such items purchased or '
hcensed from supphers are defective or violate mtellectual property nghts of thtrd parttes we may not be
able to fully recover any of our damages or our customers damages from supplters of such 1tems e

whbe 4 #1L . [ Pl 11 I

1+ Our facrlmes where work for customers 1s conducted are subject to audtts by the FDA andby .. .+ £
customers. In the event we are found in non-compliance by the FDA, there is a risk that such facility may |,
be subject to corrective measures up to and including the closure of the fac1ltty. Such closure would have

i
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impact on our ability to meet customer obligations ds well as obligations réelating to our internal programs.
Customer audits may lead to disputes-regarding compliance with contractual terms, which could lead to.
potentral dlsputes and/or liabilities as'described above. . | B B . " o

In addrtlon we typ1cally have the obhgatton to malntam the conﬁdentrahty of propnetary information'
of otir cistomers. While we have systems in place to ensure that such confldentlallty is protected, we do, '’
conduct work on our intérnal prolects at the same facilities where we work for our customers; thereforé,
there is'an increaséd risk that customers may clarm that we have violated our confrdentlahty obhganons or
used their proprietary informatiof iri our proprietary projects. SRR :

M

Increased leverageé as a result of olti- convertible Hebt may harm our ﬁnancral condmon and results of operanans.

,On December 31, 2006 we had $218 3 mlllron of outstandmg debt as reﬂected 1nldur balance sheet
Pursuant to generally |accepted accountrng prmcrples thrs amount is net of $24 million original issue '
discotint related to the i issuance ‘of $80° mrlhon face ‘amount of 3.50% Semor Convertrble Notes in
Névémber 2006, We may incur addltlonal mdebtedness in the’ future and nelther our 3.50% Senior
Convertible Notes issued i tp 2004 nor our 3. 50% Semor Corwertrble Notes issued in 2006 (collectively, the ’
“Notes”) restrict our future tssuance ‘of indébtediless. Our level of 1ndebtedness w1ll have several 1mportant
effects'on cur future operatrons iincluding, without l1m1tatron -

] ' ll;al'.-. SN TR LR IR N S R '

*a portlon of our cash flow from operations will be dedlcated to the payment of any 1nterest required
with respect to outstanding indebtedness;s-+ ~ 4 v e - ot D 13

AN

e increases in our outstanding indebtedness and leverage will increase our vulnerability to-adverse
- changes in general economic and industry conditions, as well as to competitive pressure; and .. 1.

. depenclmg on the levels of our outstandmg'debt our ability to obtain additional financing for
workmg capital, cap1ta1 expendltures, general corporate and other purposes may be ltmlted

N R AN
Our abllrty to,make payments of prlncrpal and 1nterest on our indebtedness depends upon ¢ our future
performance, which will be subject t to the success of our development and commercialization of new
pharmaceutrcal products general economic condltrons industry cycles and financial, business and other -
factors affecting our operatrons, many of which are beyond our control. If we aré not able to generate
sufficient cash flow from opérations in the fiituré to’ ser'wce our debt ,We may be requlred among other
things: et STE T

P I Ty, ’} 14 [ et .o - -4 v,

e toseck addrtlonal frnancmg in the debt or equity markets; . . -, 0 o0 e

st

« to refinance or restructure all or a portion of our mdebtedness 'rncludmg the Notes; '~ ™
PIVEE S T R R T T EE A PR e N ) o s T

. - {o sell selected assets or’ g >

1t
Fes ] 4 e

T Vo ; Vb e vy

» to reduce or delay expendrtures on planned act1v1tres mcludmg but not lrrnrted to clinical trlals and’
Y, development and commercmllzatlon activities..!, B I T TRV S 11» :

Such measures might ot be sufficient to enable us to Service our debf. In addmon any such fmancmg,
refmancmg or sale of assets might not be avarlable on economrcally favorable terms, '

3 T, [ LR Al [ - ' o

We may be unabie to hire and retam the k'ey persannel upon whom our success depends : b

5 We depend on the pr1nc1pal members of our managemeut and scremtflc staff, including Dr. Karl ‘
Stefansson Chairman, President and Chlef Executwe Ofﬁcer We have not entered into agreements, wrth
any of these people that bind them to a Speuflc penod of employment If any of these people leave our
abllrty o conduct our operatrons may be negatlv;ely affected Qur future success also will depend in part on
our ability to attract, hire and retain additional personnel. There is intense competmon for such quallfled
personnel and e cannot be certain that we will be'able to doritinue to’attract and retain such personnel
Failure to attract and retain key personnel coild haveé‘a material adverse effect on us. b -

.t Ha (PR AV it I R et w . !
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Currency fluctuations may negatively a_ﬂ'ect our financial condition. . ...+ . o' A

We prlmartly éxpend and generate cash in U.S. dollars our ‘functional currency We also pubhsh our
consolidated ﬁnancral statements in U. S dollars; Currency' fluctuations can affect our financial results*
because a portron of olir cash reserves, our ‘debt and our operatrng costs are in Icelandtc kronas A
fluctuatlon of the’ exchange rates of the Icelandic krona agamst the U.S. dollar can this adversely affect the
“buymg povs er”’ of our cash reserves and revenues. Most of our long- term habtlrtres are U. S dollar )
denominated. However, we may enter’into hedgmg transacttons if we have substaritial forelgn currency
exposure in the future. We may have increased exposure as a result of investments, payments from
collaborative partners or the decrease in value of Icelandic kronas. « - .. .« - P
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Ourcontract'maytenninate,upon short notice. .+ .. | . O e . I

Many of ¢ our contracts for research sérvices are termmable on short notice. This means that our
contracts could be tetininated for numerous reasons, any of Which may be beyond ouf control, such as 2
reduction or realiocation of a customer’s research and development budget or a change in a customer’s
overall financial condition. The loss of 4 large contract or multiple smaller contracts, or a significant’
decrease in revenue derived:from a contract, could significantly. reduce our profitability and*requrre us to .
reallocate under-utilized physical and professional resources. .
' ) N T A

Rlsks Related to Our Collaboratlve Relattonshtps '- . o '

If we are unable to form and maintain the collabaratrve relationships that our business strategy reqmres our
programs will suffer and we may.not be able to develop products. : T

Our strategy for developmg products and derwmg révenues from them is dependent in part, upon our
ability to' enter into collaborative arrangements with research collaborators, corporate partners arid others.
We may rely on these arrangements both to provrde fundmg necessary to our product development and to
obtain goods and services that we'tequire for our product development. We do not have the capacrty to
conduct largé scale Phase I1I clinical trials and will rely on partnerships or third party contractors to
conduct our Phase III trials, including our Phase,III trial of DG031. We will rely on these third parties to
provide us with clinical-material for'the trial and various services necessary.to organize and conduct a
multi-center; multinational study, as well as other goods and services. We have not entered into contracts
for all of the goods and services.that will'be required upon the resumption of the Phase 111 trial of DGO031.
Our arrangement for this and other Phase III trials will be subject to risks described below with respect to
our collaborative relattonshtps= U . P T g, o

If our collaborattons are not successful or if wé are riot able to manage multiple collaboratrons
successfully, our programs may suffer If we increase the number of oollaborattons it will become more
difficult fo’ m: anage the various coIlaboratlons successfully and the potentral for confhcts amon'g the ’
collaborators asto rrghts to the technology and products generated upLder work conducted w1th us wrll
increase. ¥

'
e AN JJI' 1 "’;'.nu’ co . [ PO 1 ]

Depeudence on collaboranve relattonshtps may lead to delays in product deve!opment product defects angl o
dtsputes over rtghts fo technology o . ' st

[T RN ' [

.We have formed .and may in the future form additional, collaborative relattonshtps (mcludmg
relatlonshlps with clinical research organizations to conduct clinical trials on our behalf) that will, in some
cases, make us dependent on collaborators for the pre-clinical studies and/or clinical trials and for,
regulatory approval of any products that we are developing. Failure of such collaborators toperform under
these agreeménts properly ina ttmely manner, or at all, may lead to delays in our product development In
addition, if partlcrpants in the tfials condiséted by our collaborators suffer personal injury or death as a
result of actions of the collaboratdis! we could be held liable. In some cases, our agréements with'

W
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collaborators typically allow them significant discretion in-electing whether and how to pursue such s —+.?
activities. We cannot control the amount and timing of resources collaborators will devote to these ..,
programs or potennal products In addltlon collaborative agreements may contam excluswrty prolrrsrons .
that may prevent us from worlpng ina partlcular ﬁeld or on a particular dlsease evenrwhen our g nd
collaborators elect not to pursue activities under the agreements Upon resumptron of our Phase III et
clinical trial of DGO31, we expect to contmue relatronshrps with clinical research orgamzatlons and other o
orgaruzatrons provrdrng servrces ‘but there is no guarantee ‘that the partles w1ll come to an agreement or
that reaching such agreements wrll not result in addrtronal delays.

e e o T oot Ut
Our collaborators may stop supporting our products or providing services to us if they: develop orirtles
obtain rights to competing products. Disputes may arise in the future over the ownership of rights to any
technology developed with coilaborators. These and other possible disagreements between.our.s 1.7 4k
collaborators and us could lead to delays in the collaborative research,_development or, commercialization
of products Such dlsagreements could also result in lltlgatlon of require. arbltratlon to resolve

I IR
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Risks Related to Ourlndustry . C e U e e et e
Concerns regarding the use of geuettc testmg results may limit the commercml vrabrhty of any products we'. )1y
develop. ‘ e St SR U TE! P FOR S A0S |

Other companies have developed genetic predisposition tests that have raised eth;cal concerns. It iS.eq
possible that employers or others could discriminate against people who have a genetic predrsposmon to
certain diseases: Concern regarding possible discrimiination may result in governmental+duthorities = ¢
enacting restrictions or bans on the use of all, or certain types of, genetic testing: Similarly]such:concerns #
may lead individuals to refuse to use genetic tests.even if permissible. These factors may limit the market
for and therefore the commercral v1ab111ty of products that our collaborators and/or we may develop

sy vy -‘..l RILE [ ‘M'"‘V l'.' “i
We may nat be able to compete successfully wu‘h other compames and govemmem agencres in the developmeut el

and markeung of products and services. .. ,

T LI T R R PRI
A number 6f companies are attemptrng to rapidly identify.and patent genes that cause diseases or'an-
increased susceptibility to diseases. Competition in this field'and our other areas of business, including .-
drug discovery and development, is intense and is expected to'incréase. We have numerous comp'etitors, .
including major pharmaceutical-and diagnostic companies, specialized biotechnology firms, univérsities ~
and other research institutions, and other government-sponsoréd entities and'companies providing = - =
healthcare information products. Our collaborators, including Roche and MercK, may.-also.compete with: -
us. Many of our competrtors erther alone or with collaborators, have considerably greater capital ,
IESOUICES, research and development ‘staffs and fac11|t1es and techmcal and other resources than we do
which may allow them fo dlscover ,important genes or develop drugs based on such drscovenes before we '
do. We belleve that a'number of our competltors are developlng competrng products and servrces that may
be commercrally successful and that's are further advanced in development ‘than’our potentlal products and
services. To succeed, we, together with our collaborators, must discover disease-predisposing genes,
characterize their functions, .develop genetic tests or therapeutic products and related 1nfonnat|on services,
based on such dlscoverles obtain regulatory and other approvals and launch's‘uch servrces or products .
before our competitors. Even if we or our collaborators are successful in developmg effective products or
services, our products and services may not successfully compete with those of our competltors including
cases where the competing drugs use‘the same mechanism of action-as our products: Our competrtors may'
succeed in developing and marketing products and services that are more éffective than ours-or that are~1v
marketed before oursh. - "+ L'-" ' T P EEE ETE o

Competltors have estabhshed and m the future may establrsh patent posmo.ns with' respect 1o gene ' '_
sequences related to our research pro_|ects Such patent posmons or the publrc avarlabrllty of gene L e
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sequences comprising substantial portions of the human genome could decrease the potential value of our:
research projects and make it more difficult for us to compete. We may also face competition from other
entities in gaining access to DNA samples used for research and development purposes..Qur competitors
may also obtain patent protection or other intellectual property rights that could limit our,rights, or our’
customers’ ability, to use our technologies or databases, or commercialize therapeutic or diagnostics ‘.
products. In addition, we face, and will continué to face, intense competition from other cornpanles for
coltaborative arrangements with pharmaceutical and biotechnology compames for establrshlng
relatlonshlps with academic and research 1nst1tutrons and for llcenses to proprietary technology

We expect competition to intensify as technical advances are made and become more widely known., -
Our future success will depend in large part on maintaining a competitive position in the genomic field.
Rapid technological development may result in products or technologles becoming obsolete before we
recover the expenses we incur,in developing them.. | -

Our abrhty to compete successfu]ly will depend in part fon our abllrty, and that of our collaborators
to: L : . i S

[ ' i ) 1. ek i R Y . N .o N

B develop propnetary products v e e P o -

¢ 'develop and maintain products that reach the' market first, and are technologrcally superior to, and *

» ' e e

n more cost effective than, other products on the market; e
. obtainw patent or other proprietary protection for our products and technologles; N

e attract and retain scientific and product development personnel;

A c, R R R

s obtain requrred regulatory approvals and ¥ r t

. manufacture ‘market and sell products that we develop o '

Changes in owsourcing trends and economic conditions in the phannaceutical and biotechnology industries could
adversely aﬁecrourgrowth e . . w. . . C e M ,

-y A . Pa Co v

Economic factors and industry trends that affect our primary customers, pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies, also affect our business. For example, the practice of many companies in these -
industries has been to outsource to organizations like us the conduct of genetic research, clinical research
sales and mar]retmg projects and chemistry and, structural brology,research and development prOjCCtS If
these rndustrre s reduce their present tendency to outsource those projects, our operations, financial
condltlon and growth rate could be materially and adversely, affected These,alliances and arrangements .
are both time consuming and complex and we face substantral competition in establlshmg these
relationships. In addition, our ability to generate new busrness could be impaired by general econonnc
downtumns in cur customers’ industries. We.have experrenced increasing pressure on the part of our - |
customers to reduce expenses, including the use of our services as a result of negative economic trends .
generally and in the pharmaceutical industry. If pharmaceutrcal and biotechnology companies drscontrnue
or decrease their usage of our services, for example, as a result of an economic slowdown or increased
competition from,outsourcing companies in India and China, our revenues and earnings could be lower, .
than we expect and our revenues may decrease or not grow:; at historical rates. , _ R

If regulatory approvals for products resultmg Jrom our gene dtscavery programs are not obtarned we wtll not be
! TA ‘ [

able to derive revenues from these products. . S : S

Government agencres must approve new drugs and dragnostrc products i in the countr;es in whrch they
are to be markcted. We cannot be certain that we.can obtain regulatory approval for ,any drugs or _—
diagnostic products resulting from our gene discovery programs. The regulatory process can take many '
years and require substantial resources. Because some of the products likely to result from our disease
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research programs involve the application of new technologies.and may.be based upon-a new therapeutic -
approach, various government regulatory authorities may subject such products to substantial additional -
review, As a result, these authorities may grant regulatory approvals for these products more slowly than |
for products using more conventional. technologies. Furthermore, regulatory approval may impose '+

limitations on the use of a drug or diagnostic product ‘ o . amhos o,

Evenifa product is approved for markctmg, it and 1ts manufacturer must undergo contlnumg rev1ew ‘
Discovery of prevrously unknown problems with a product may require the performance of additiorial
clinical trials or the change of the labelmg of the product and may have adverse effects on our busmess
financial condition and results of operatlons including withdrawal of the. product from the market. .

- 1 o + re. +f .

Third parry reimbursement and healthcare reform pohcces may reduce market acceptance of our products. *-- "

Our success will depend in part on the price and extent to which we'will be paid for olr products by *
government and health administration authorities, private health insurers and other third party payers.
Reimbursement for newly approved healthcare products is uncertain. Third party payers, including
Medicare in the United States, are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and
services. They are increasingly attempting to contain healthcare costs by limiting both coverage and the
level of reimbursement for new therapeutic products. We cannot be-certain that any third party insurance
coverage will be available to patients for any products we-discover or develop. If third party payers do not

“provide adequate coverage and reimbursement levels for our products the market acceptance of these
products may be materially reduced. S : N

Numerous governments have undertaken efforfs to' control growing healthcare costs through
legislation, regulation and voluntary agreements with medical care prqviders and pharmaceutical,, - .
companies. If cost containment efforts limit the profits that can be derived from new drugs, our customers
may reduce their research and development spending which couild' reduice the business they outsource
to us.

sV T ey * LU M ii:‘.‘ N I T A P S

Our corporate compliance program cannot guarantee that we are in compliance with all applicable federal and
state regulations in the United States, Iceland, the European Union and elsewhere. . o e

The development, manufactunng, dlstrlbuuon pricing, sales, marketmg and relmbursement of our’”
products, together with our general operatrons are subjéct to extensive: federal and state regulatrons in the
United States and hational or supra-national laws and regulauons in Europe and other parts of the'Wworld.~
While we have developed and instituted a corporate compliarice’ program based on’cutrent best practrces"
we cannot assure you that weé or our 'employeés ‘are of will be in compllance with all potentrally appllcable
regulations and/or laws. If we fail td comply with’ any of these regulatlons and/or laws, a range ‘of dctions
could result; 1ncludmg, but not kifhited to, the tetmination of clinical trials, the failire to approve a product
candidate, restrictions 0n our products or manufacturing processes mcludmg withdrawal of our products
from the market, significant: fmes exclusion from- govermpent healthcare programs or other sancuons or-'
lrtlgauons St - Lrdes - s
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QOur operations involve d risk of injury or damage from hazardous materm.'s and if an accrdem were to occur, we
could be subject to costly and damaging liability claims. ' o ’ roLpr

-In the course of our work, we handle and produce hazardous materials and chemicals as well as, . ..
compounds which may have known of unknown characteristics such as toxrc)ty and reactrvrty wnrh other R
compounds. Although we have systems in place to manage such compounds and thelr characteristics, the
risk of accrdental coritamination or- 1njury from thesé materials cannot be completely eliminated.' Ay such
contamination of m]ury could result in negatlve éffects torour ‘personnel or facilities, which'could lead to-v
llabﬂltles as well as’ 1mpact1ng our: abllrty to meet customcr obhgatlons and conduct our 1nternal programs

1 . u
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RisksRelatedtoOurlntellectualProperty' I TR IR S 1 A R
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We may not be able to protect the propnetary rrghts that are crrtrcal 16 our siiccess.

(RTERNNTYE ¥ MU SRR I PRt TS S

Our success will depend in part on our ablllty to protect our products our genealogy database and
genotypic data and any other propnetary 'databases that we develop and our propnetaty software and
other propnf-tary methods and technologles Despite our efforts'to protect ouf propnetary rlghts b . ":
unauthonzed partles may be able to obtam and use information that we regard as proprletary o ,,

Whlle we require employees busmess partners, academlc collaborators and consultants to enter. 1nto
confidentiality agreements, there can be no assurance that-proprietary information will not be disclosed, ;. ,*
that others will not independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary;information and techniques,
otherwise'gain access:to our trade secrets or disclose such technology, or that we can meanlngfully protect-
ourtradesecrets R I TS S o, Lo L R AT TRt

Our commerc1al success wrll depend m part on obtammg patent protectlon The patent posmons of
pharmaceutrcal blopharmaceuttcal and brotechnology compames mcludlng déCODE, are generally
uncertam and mvolve complex legal and factual con51derat10ns that are constantly evolvmg We cannot be
surethat Paar e T A TR e
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. anyot our pendmg patent appllcatlons wﬂl result in issued patents; .~ o-u . Ll roec

» we will develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; =~ " "t T
* any patents issued to us.or our partners will provide a basis for commercially viable products, will »
provide us with any competitive advantages or will not be challenged by, third parties;.pr N
O é’ I3

s

s the patents of others w1ll not have an adverse effect on our.ability,toldo busmess e

If we are unable to obtam patent protectlon ‘for our technology or dlscoverles the value of our

. .. |.
proprietary resources may be adversely affected e -
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~In.addition, patent law relating to the scope of claims in the area of genetics'and géne discovery:is still
evolving and subject to uncertainty, including in areas important to us.such as patenting of.discoveries for '
the development of therapeutic methods, diagnostic methods and products that predict inherited .- ™ 1
susceptibility'to diseases and diagnostic methods and products that.predict drug response’and disease. ¢
progression. Accordingly, the degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain and; we .
cannot predict the breadth of claims allowed in any patents issued to us or others. We could also incur
substantial costs in litigation if we:are required to defend ourselvesiin patent suits brought by third parties?
or if we initiate such suits to enforce our own patents against potential infringers. - -

- 0o Sk F . o Tl [LV S

Others may.have filed-and'in the future are likely to file patent'applicationsicovering'products or. -
technology that are similar or identical:to our products and technology. The fact-that patent applications of
others may not publish until theyissu¢ as patents in the United States, or-are not published until.18 months
after filing in the United States and other jurisdictions may have adverse effect on our own patent filings* -
and business, particularly if they claim subject matter similar to that of our clinical programs. In addition,
others may develop competitive products outside the protection that may be afforded by the claims of our -
patents. We cannot be certain that our patent applications will have priority over any patent applications of
others. The miere issuance of a patent does not guarantee that it is valid or enforceable thus even if we are
holdmg or are granted, patents we cannot be sure that they would be vahd and enforceable agamst thll’d
parties. Further a patent does not prov1de the patent holder w1th freedom to operate in atway that 0
1nfr1nges the patent nghts of others Any legal action agams,t us or our partners clatmmg damages and Fen,
seeking to enjoin oommerupl act1v1t|es relating to the affected products and processes could m addmon to
sub]ectmg us, o potentlal llab1lrty for damages, requrre us or our partners to obtaln a llcense in prder to .
continue to manufacture or market the affected products ‘and processes Theré can be no assurance that
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we or our partners would prevail in any action or that any license required:undet -any'patent would-be -
made available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. IQ llcenses are not available, we or our partners
may | be requrred to cease marketmg our products or practlcmg our methods.

If expressed sequenoe tags, SNPs or other sequence 1nformat1on become publrcly avarlable be'fore we
apply for patent protectlon on the' uses of a correspondmg full- length pamal gene or associated genetlc
markers, our abrhty to obtam patent protectton for uses of those genes or gene sequences could be C
adversely affected. In addition, other parties are attemptmg to rapidly identify and charactérize genes
through the use 'of SNP.genotyping; gene expression analysis and other technologies. If any patents-are
issued to other parties on these partial or full-length genes or gene products or uses for such genes or gene;
products the risk increases'that the sale; of our or our collaborators’ potential products or. processes may
give rise to‘claims of patentinfringement.' The amount of supportive data required for issuance of patents
for human therapeutics is highly uncertain. If more data than we have available is required, our ability to .
obtain patent protectron .could be delayed or otherwise adyersely affected [Even with supportive data, the
ability to obtam patents is uncertain in v1ew of evolvmg exammanon gurdelmes ‘such as the utlhty and _
written descrlptlon gmdelmes that the USPTO has adopted Moreover, patentmg of genes and their uses.
faces considerable public opposition as demonstrated by the submission of the recent introduction in the ,
U.S. House of Representatives of a bill entitled “Genomic Research and Accessibility Act”, which sccks to
ban the practice of patenting genes found in nature. Enactment of this bill into law could adversely affect
our abilities to attain patent prot'ectro_n for some of our genetic rn\(entlons Ce e,
Our'patent applications coverr'ng DGO41 and DGO51 have not issued yet as patents. + ;- s

b

We have filed’ composrtron of matter type patent appl1catlons covermg DG041 and DGOST'if! the
United States as well.as international-applications-through the Patent Cooperation Treaty, However, these
patent applications are in the early stages of patent prosecunon before the United States Patent and |
Trademark Office (USP’I‘O) and we have no certainty or indication 'from the USPTO that these’ patent
applications will issue as patents. The USPTQ is currently facing considerable backlog for examining
pending patent applications so considerable time may elapse before we will have more certainty as to the
patentability of the compounds. Should the USPTO (or any other national patent offices where we choose
to file applications) ultimately reject.our patent.applications covering these compounds, or should others
have filed or obtained issued patent covermg the same, the value and potentlal of these programs for our
business would be adversely affected. ol : o . el

2 Vel e v, oY ALSRNTREITICN 5 L PN - ot [ LT o ' EEERSS PO

Any patent protection we obtam Jor our products may not prevent marketing of similar. eompetmg products Sl

Patents on our products may fiot prevent olir competitors ‘from designing ‘around and developlng
similar compounds or,compounds with similar modes of action that may compete-successfully with our
products. Such third party,compounds may prove to be superior to our products or gain wider market -
acceptance and thus adversely affect any revenue stream that we could otherwise expect from sales.of our.
products-.‘r.. T 4o L ITE PR IO T

- ' ""-3.J)l‘I"' . s T

Any paten:s we obtain may be challenged by producers of generic drugs L R R

Patents covermg mnovatwe dmgs which are also commonly referred to as “branded drugs” or
proneer drugs *'face increased scrutiny and challenges in the courts frém manufacturers of generic drugs
who may receive benefits such as limited marketmg co-exclusrvrty if the challénge is  siiceessful. Such patent
chailenges typlcally occur when the genenc manufacturer files an Abbrewated New Drug Application wrth

the FDA and asserts that the patent or patents covermg the branded drug aré invalid or unenforceable
forcing the owner or licensee of the branded drug to file suit for patent 1nfr1ngement If any patents we "~
obtain covenng our pharmaceuttcal products are stbject to such successful patent challenges our
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marketing exclusivity may be eliminated or reduced in time, which would thus.adversely affect any revenuet
stream that we could otherwise expect from sales of our products.

4+ -

Risks Related to Investing in Our Common Stock

. [P
IR PRTRNES o B0

Futur sales r k}w X . . '
€ ale ofcommonst?fknitg)thfﬁtegu stoc ldersmm LI YT RITPIERE ST S T PR LT THN I BNV |

ni » We may séll common stock in the efuture in one'or more transactions.at prices.and in-a'manner wer': «
determinie from time to'time. If we 'sell'’common'stockin more than oné;transaction, existing stockhdldefs -
who previously’ purchased stock- may be materially diluted by subsequent sales of common stock‘ (-- [

ar - i
U T . 3 [ [N
The price of our common stock is volta‘t'l‘l’e arld the market value of yﬂ’f’( 1r{:‘v‘est‘mem may decrease. m )
TRV S LN i 1s SRR AP,

1.The market prices for common stock ofiblotcchnology. and pharmaceutical companies, 1ité]uding'our's’,’
have'historically been highly volatiley and-thé‘market:has fromtime to time experienced significant price - «
and volume fluctuations thatiare unrelated:to the actual petformance.of particular companies:iIn addition:
to:the various risks described:elsewhere in this Form 10:K; the following factors could have anadverse -v. .
effect on the market price. of our common stock: T I LY <1 DU ST

Caleed 1 oyyedg D oG buaes Loy ."ul']ti:' 2 A T S A SR
. fluctuations in our operating results : . b i E
g o IFRPS i At AW 31

* .announcement of technologlcal mnovatlons or new, therapgu}rc products by us.or others o
. 14 1 .

o clinical trial results; - UF] LA IPUVES u,- --;, ORI
#ei'developnients'concerning'agreements with collaborators; i 77 {0 T € 1956 w2 oele e

PTG PITLERT, (v 1 DY TN STV ) (PR L U/ B0 At A v, PR RNt F R I Gt TR (VR b 'L SR

« actual or threatened litigation; e '

. governmental regulation and regulatory actions;

» changes inpatent laws; '
PLPRT TP s P TR NI RO LN SRR TS S IEST S SN TP PR RE 1T SR L ‘Jn.] l;,‘ o i ml’”TJ"\
* developments concerning patent or. other proprietary rlghts =

T LT D e b l‘.-”‘:‘!itr-":.—n.:'l"'

<y *-public concern as to the- safety. of drugs developed byius or others; | <+

. o Lo
......... i le el

a "future salés Of substanitial amounts of common ‘stock’ by exrstmg stockholders ‘and

SEr B 2 b g Dl bk e ST R
. -+ general market conditions and economic and other.external factors mcludmg disasters, wars and
apial) - Othererisesi, Yy sty gsurn s ot il B iz, 1) v oS el
IR0 S TR RRSTRI S-S 7Y 7 BPRLT I Y1 L O S I L T T £ SR TSR A i

We may issue preferred stock with rights that could affect your rights and prevent a takeover of the business.,; ,
i 1

:40ur board of directors has the authority, without further.approval of our stockholders; to-fix the.rights
; [ r ; Lt v ! pproval ol K

and.preferences, and.1o,issue up to 6,716,666 shares of preferred stock..In addition, Delaware corporate, .«
law imposes limitations on certain business combinationS' These provisions could ‘under certain, AT AT R

thepnceof,ourcommonstock,p ,,L... RTI ;,,,.a‘,u,,‘ EV ceah e
nevtoatinmpstai behne 10 ,.\1"‘ TR O L PR B O S A T RV ciad B LR A /AR
We currentb' do not intend to pay dwtdendskan our.common stock and comequentbv, your only opportumty [

achieve a return on your investrment is if the price af our common. stock appreciates. .. ., . ., . .n, e

We corrently.do not plan to pay,dividends on shares of our. common stock in.the near future. .
Consequently; your only opportunity to achieve a return on your mvestment in our company will be if the ,

market price of our common stock appreciates.
O e T yaar oY e s T wnt e, e il wn ,f' A AT ] -r' -
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Item 1B. Unresolved-Staff Comments. i . 5. o o i Db over e e e
: A0 TYERVRTNUTE IR N W L A " st o Lt o
None ' el se L '

Item 2.  Properties HES RS Sh LI s Coe L
Our headquarters are in Iceland in an approximiately 150,000 square-foot, t‘il‘ree-st'ory biilding, used :
both-for our laboratories and offices. The building is leased under a fifteen year operating lease expiring in
2020: We also lease a total of 31,000,square feet in a building at Krokhals 5, Reykjavik, to house'additional
laboratory facilities and storage; mcludmg Encodé’s operatlon The Krokhals 5 lease is also leased under a
fifteen year operating lease expiring in 2020 '

Qur principal executwe offices and dlSCOVCl‘y Taboratéries in the Umted States are located i in
Woodridge, Illinois,and encompass approximately 103,000 square feet with the capability, 1o expand our
offices and laboratories to 200,000 square feet. In February 2007, we entered into an.agreement regarding
the sale and-leaseback of this property (land and facilities). Pursuant to the agreement and subject to. » .
satisfaction of contingencies, including, without limitation, riegotiations of a satisfactory lease, we.will sell .
the Woodridge property and lease it back under a 17 year lease with 2 five year renewal options. " .~ ...: -
Additionally, we occupy approximately a 19,000 square foot leased office and laboratory facrhty in
Bainbridge Island, Washington. ’

We lease approxrmately 5, 100 square feet of office space in Bnghton Mrchxgan whic¢h houses our
product development group. D R T

We also lease approximately 750 square feet of office space in-Waltham, Massachusetts, for,finance
and 1,600 square feet of office space in New York, New York for investor relauons and corporate
comrnumcatlons AR

T . .0 e -
T S S T

Item3. Legal Proceedings
Yoy N R I R

Other than claims and legal proceedmgs that arise form time to time in the ordlnary course of
business which are not material, deCODE has no pending legal pro¢éedings except as follows: Eory

On or about April 20, 2002, an amended class action complaint, captioned /ri're deCODE genetics, Inc.
Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation (01 Civ. 11219(SAS)), alleging violations of federal securities laws
in connection with deCODE’s initial public offenng was filed in the United States District. Court for thc -
Southern District of New-Yotk (the “District Court™) on behalf of certain purchasers of. deCODE common
stock. The complaint names deCODE, two individuals who were executive officers of deCODE at the time
of its initial public offering (the “Individual Defendants™), and the two lead underwriters (the
“Underwriter Deféndants”) for our initial puiblic offering in July 2000-(the “IPO™) as defendants: =+ - == ¢

deCODE: is aware that similar allegations havé been'made in hiundreds of other lawsuits filed (many
by some of the same plaintiff law firms) against iumerous underwriter defendants and-issuer companies
(and certain of théir current and former officers) in' connection with various public offeringsconducted in -
recent yearsAll of the lawsuits that have beén filed in the Southiérn’ District'of New York have been
consolidated for pretrial purposes before United States District Judge Shira Scheindlin. Pursiiantto-the "
underwriting agreement executed in connection with our IPO, deCODE has demanded indemnification
from the Underwriter Defendants: The Underwriter Defendants have- asserted that our request for
indemnification is premature; -+ = R P i R A I C o

Pursuant to an agreement ‘the Indwndual Defendants have been dlSlTllSSBd from the case'without
pre]udlce o e T L e e STIT T T

Tl GG PEP L AL B

On July 31, 2003, our Board of Directors (other than our Chalrrnan and Chief Executlve Offlcer who
recused himself because he was an Individual Defendant) approved a proposed partial settlement with the
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plaintiffs in.this matter, subject to a number of conditions, including the participation of a.substantial
number of other issuer defendants in the proposed settlement, the consent of deCODE?’s insurers to the
settlement, and the completion of acceptable final settlement documentation. Any direct financial impact .
of the proposed settlement is- expected to be borne by deCODF’s insurers. . . D

In conJunctlon ‘with’ the plamttffs the settlmg lssuer defendants fileda ‘motion secking the court s
preliminary approval of the'séttlement. The Sourt granted prehrmnary approval of the settlement on
February 15, 2005, subject’to-certain modifications. On August 31, 2005, the court issued a preliminary order
further:approving the modifications to the settlement and certifying the settlement classes. The court also
appointed the Notice Administrator for the settlement and ordered that notice of the settlementbe . -
distributed to all settlement class members beginning on November 15, 2005 The settlement fairness « ¢
Unitéd States Court of Appeals for the Second Ctrcutt (the “Second Clrcu1t”) issued an oplnton vacatmg
the Dlstnct Court’s certlﬁcatton of a htlgatlon class if that pOl‘thl’l of the case between the Plaintiffs and
the underwnter defendants Because the Second Circuit’s opmron was ‘directed to the class certtﬁed by the_
District Court for the Plalntlffs lttlgatlon agamst the underwrlter defendants; the oOpinion’s effect on the
class cértified by tHe District Court for the Company s settlement is unclear. On- January 5, 2007 Plamtrffs
filed a petition for rehearing en banc by the Second Ctrcult The proposed settlement'is pendmg final
approvalbytheD1str1ctCourt wa s s e o LT e

There can be no assurance that thlS proposed settlement w1ll be approved and 1mplemented in its
current form, if at all. Iflthe settlement of the IPO lttlgatton is not consummated deCODE expects to’
contest the al]egatlons in, the actlon vngorously Due 10 the mherent uncertamnes of litigation, and the fact
that the settlement of, the lmgatton relatmg to our IPO remaing subject to court approval the ultrmate '
outcome of this matter’ cannot bé predtcted If'deCODE were l'eqmred to pay S|gmf1cant ‘monetary ‘
damages in the event that the IPO settlement is unconsummated or as a result of an adverse determination
in the othet.actions described.above (or any other lawsuits alleging similar claims filed against deCODE
and deCODE's directors and officers in the future), deCODE’s business could be significantly harmed.
Even if such lrttgattons conclude in deQODE’s favor, deCODE may be required to expend significant
funds,to deferd agamst ‘the allegattons deCODE is unablé to esttmate the. range of possible loss from the
above lmgatlons and no amounts have been provrded for such matters in deCODE’s fi nancnal statements

s!

On August 4, 2006 deCODE" commenced aiy actlon in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern Dtstnct
of Pennsylvania against five former employees for misappropriation of deCODE’s trade secrets and | ’
intellectual property, related breach of non—competttton non- soltettatton and non- drsclosure provisions of
théir émployment agreements, and violation of the fedéral Computer Fraud and Abuse Act. The suit
alleges that the defendants, including Hékon Hakonarson, formerly deCODE’s Vice President, Business
Development, were recruited, and at least four are currently employed by the Center for Apphed
Genomics, a business unit of the Children’s Hospital of Phlladelphla (CHOP). Also, the suit alleges that
while still deCODE employees and with the knowledge of senior CHOP staff, these defendants copied or
sent dtrectly to CHOP deCODE proprietary methods, tools, business plans and research results. CHOP
has intervened as a defendant in the case.

deCODE s seeking preliminary and permanent injunctions restraining, among other things, the
individual defendants from working at CHOP in any capacity competitive with deCODE for two years, and
the individual defendants and CHOP from soliciting our employees for a period of one year and from
using or disclosing our confidential information. In addition, deCODE is seeking unspecified amounts of
compensatory, special and punitive damages and attorney’s fees.

On August 11, 2006 the court issued a temporary restraining order prohibiting the individual
defendants from using, altering, destroying or transferring possession of any information taken from
deCODE, and from destroying, using, altering, copying or transferring possession of one or mor¢

i,
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250 gigabyte hard:drives or any.other removable storage.devices that contained any deCODE information. .
On-August.22, 2006, the court entered an order extending the temporary restraining order until the court -
rules on deCODE’s motion for a preliminary.injunction. The hearing on plaintiffs’ motion fora . . .-
preliminary injunction concluded on"November 22,:2006. Post-hearing briefs have been submitted. The » -
court has stated that it will schedule a date for argument on the motion, but no date has been scheduled
vet for the argument Accordmgly, the temporary restrammg order remams m place ’

Ty I'n'lt".‘:
- On'September 5, 2006 deCODE filed a motion for an order to show cause.why defenda?rt Roberti: !
Skraban should not-be held in contempt for violating the temporary restraining order. On December 1; tiu?
2006 deCODE filed a similar contempt ‘motion as'to defendant Hikon Hakonarson. The court has not yet:.

ruled on thesernottons R e e T T R TR

On December 13 2006 CHOP filed eounterclalms agalnst deCODE assertlng clalms for defamatlon, f
trade llbel.J akuse of' process breach of contract promrssory estoppel 1ntentronal mterference with T
pro}spectwe[contractual relattons and fraud CHOP’s counterclalms for defamatlon [trade libel, mtenttonal
mterference wrth prospectwe contractual relatlons and fraud are asserted agarnst Dr Karr Stefansson as
well as, deCODE CHOP’s ccmnterclarms seek unspec1ﬁed an'lounts of compensatory, specral and pumtwe

damages and attomeysfees 5 e

gaten P N N N U CRPEI R U S A (I BN SO IO

On December 22, 2006 four individual defendants (Hakon Hékonarson Struan Grant, Robert . ..

Skraban and Jonathan Bradfleld) filed counterclalms agamst deCODE assertmg clalms for defamation,
t

trade llbcl abuse of process breach of contract promlssory estoppel, fraud breach of 1mpl|ed contract '
breach of covenant of good falth and farr dealmg, and false light. ‘The mdrvrdual defendants counterclalms
for defamatlon trade ltbel abuse olf process fraud, breach of 1mpl|ed contract and fa]se lrght are asserted
against Dr Karl Stefansson as well as dreCODE The mdmdual defendants counterclalms seFk dnspecrfled
amounts of compensatory, specral and punttlve damages and attorney s fees. ' Lo

Teide TN R O I L L N P
..-deCODE'and;Dr;.Stefansson.have-flled'motlons to dlsmlss the counterclarmsof CHOP.and‘the- "
individual déféndants. The court has not yet- rule'd‘upon the, motions'to dismiss. R P L T

| . If deCODE 1s requrred t defend the eounterelam;rs flled by CHoP and the mdmdual defendants )

‘ deCODE beheves that it has valid defenses to such counterclalms If the counterclarms of CHOP or 'the -t.
individial défendants are resolvéd agalnst deCODE it'is possrble that monetary damages could be

awarded against deCODE that would materrally affect the’ busrness of deCODE -( ML ot

e

The ﬁfth 1nd1v1dual defendant Jesus Salnz was, served wrth deCODE’s complamt but has not ﬁ]ed any
response The court entered Samz s default on September 21 2006 ; :
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PARTII : A S TP |
Item 5. Market for the Company s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters IR A S

Our common stock 1s traded on the Nasdaq Global "Market under the’ symbol “D;CGN” The followmg
table sets. forth for, the calendar perlods indicated, the range of hrgh and low sale pnces for the common

stoek on the Nasqaq Global Market or its predecessor the Nasdaq Natlonal Mﬁikfet 1 3 ‘ l' t' C
Bt ' [TY . S TPPIEN

2005.‘. O PSS LR 1 TTRN LLIPO T A B P TH A VR A T S R ST L 1";.» e
' Ao Ve T S 804 $5.57
L AN IS -$-9.97-$5.09
Third Quartér . . Co e St RIS S SRR 1 $10.67 + $7.83
Fourth Quarter...-...v ................ : Jobabosl 8 994 $7.14
2006 . ! . BT AT O N L F A 4t
First QUAarter........o.o..eeevnnsnnn. OO e s $10.77 $7.66
Second Quarter..'\..'.-.:...—.'". e B e e e R $ 885 $5.50
Third Quarter . . .......................................... $ 637 $4.70
Fourth Qualter s S e e oo $599 $4.08

We have neither declared nor paid dividends on our common stockrsmce our inception "and do not
plan to pay dividends in the | foreseeable future. Any, eammgs that" we may reahze will be retamed to

fmance our@,rowth Ve Y ST ” ot
Asof Fe bruary 28, 2007, there were4233 holders of record of the Common Stock chond
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidatéd financial data should be read in conjunction with our. t. ™ -4
consolidated ﬁnancml statements and the notes to those statements and “Management s Discussion and
Analyms of F1nanc1al Condmon and Resuits of Operatlons mcluded eIsewhere in this Annual ‘Report. The
followmg data with regard to the consohdated balaiice shéets at Decernber 31 2006 2005 and 2004 and the
related statements of operations ‘and ¢ash flows for the years ended Decémber 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 -
have been derived from consolidated financial statements audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm. The following data with regard to the consolidated balance
sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the related statements of operations and cash flows for the two
years ended December 31, 2003 have been derived from consolidated financial statements audited by .. . ..
another independent registered public accounting firm. Consolidated balance sheets at December 31,2006
and 2005 and the related statements of operations and cash flows for each of the three years in the period -
ended December 31, 2006 and the notes thereto appear elsewhere in this annual report.

-2

H
w, gl

For the Year Ended December 31, ' "

’ "2006_- 2005 - 2004 - _ 2003 _ 2002 7
(Tabular amounts in thousands, . -+ 4 - ;'
except share and per share amounts) Sk e
Revenue. ..... e $ 40,510 §$ 43955 '$42,127° § 46,811" $ 41,065
Operatmg expenses ) _ o . : o
Reséarch and development, mcludmg o S A e ‘
of revenue .. 1. Tl T T 99,768 81,0117 68349 1 63,466 89, 612"
Selling, general and administrative ......... 25,206 20,118 20,187 17, 178 18 685"
Impairment, employee terminationand . .5 - . - b - s M. UL s g
othercharges................. ...t — — — 95 1 64,790
Total operating expenses ................. 124,974 101,129 88,536 81,595 173,087
Operating loss. .. .............o i, (84,464) (57,174) (46,409) (34,784) (132,022)
Interest income. . .. ... e 6,685 6,397 2,903 1,151 2,954
Interest expense ........c.coviivenennnn.. - (7,808) (7,484)  (8,983) (3,478) (3,079)
Other non-operating income and (expense),
4T e 114 (4,489)  (4,766) 1,988 (72)
Loss before cumulative effect of change in o -
accounting principle. ............ e (85,473) (62,750) (57,255) (35123) (132,219)
Cumulative effect of change in milestone
revenue recognition method ............ — — — — 333
Netloss.................. e oo $(85473) $(62,750) $(57,255) $(35,123) $(131,886)
Basic and diluted net loss per share:
Loss before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle. .. .............. ... $ (149) $ (117) $ (1.07) $ (068) § (2.69)
Cumulative effect of change in milestone '
revenue recognition method ............ = — —_ — 0.01
NELIOSS. v oe e iiieiaaennn $ (149 8 (117) $ (107 $§ (068) §  (2.68)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted -
netlosspershare ...................... 57,465 53,824 53,423 51,508 49,098
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R T X B TY TN R PR 9 . .. As of December 31, - .

. . 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
S R R S T (Intbousands) T
Cash and cash equivalents clo ol Al 1§20, 882 $ 65,943 '$ 70,238. $ 68,669 - § 87,244
Investments: .. !.. T Soahre v 130,134 89,611, -~ 122082 - Vre— e
Total assets(l) 3] e i, - 215,609 206,758 288,252 183,475 -, 213,417
Total long-term Habilities .................. 247,490 190,572 197,950 49,874 56,533
Total stockholders’ (deﬁcit) equity (1) (2). o (55, 379) - (9 337) 52 366 _ 93 407, 125,246

4] In March 2002 deCODE completed the acqmsrtlon of MedrChem Life Scrences Inc (MedrChem) in’
a stock for-stock exchange accounted for asa purchase transactlon Total consideration for the
: acqursltron was $85 845 000 deCODE 5 Statements of Operatrons mclude the results of MedrChem
“from March 18 2002 the date of acqmsmon

(2) InJanuary 2006 deCODE completed the acqulsltron of Urdur Verandi Skuld ehf (UVS) in stock for
 stock exchange accounted for as a purchase. transaction. Total consideration for the acquisition was
$6 137,000. deCODE ] Statements of Operatrons include the results of UVS from January 17, 2{)06
“the date of acqursmon

‘

S AR & RTINS S . oo
Item 7 M anagemem‘ s Discussion and ‘Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operatwns' N

Thrs Management ] Dlscussron and Analysrs of F1nanc1al Condmon and Results of Operatrons as of
December 31' 2006 and for each of the three years rn the perrod then ended should be read in con]unctlon

L

Tlus Annual Report on Fonn IO-K contains forward lookmg statements rncludmg our. expectatrons of
future mdustry conditions, strategrc plans and forecasts of operatlonal results. Various risks may cause our
actual results to drffer materlally A hst and descnptron of some of the,risks and uncertarntres 1s contamed
below and m the summary of rlsk factors mcluded in Item IA

. P
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Headquartered in Reyk]avrk Iceland; deCODE isa bropharmaceutlcal company applymg its -
discoveries in human genetics to develdp drugs and diagnostics for common diseases. Our populatron
approach and résources enable us to isolate genes and drug targets directly involved in the development of
many of the diseases.which posé the:biggest challenges to public health. We are turning these discoveries
into a growing' pipeline of therapeutics and diagnostic tests taking aim at the'causes of disease, not just the
' srgns and symptoms As these diseases are common and current therapies are of limited effectweness we
beheve that our strategy represents a srgmfrcant opportumty to. create better medrcme wrth ma]or potentral
in the global marketplace . .\',‘- et e ) T 'J L

We believe that deCODE's advantage derives from our populatlon approach to human genetics and
the ability to apply this approach directly to drug-and diagnostic development. In Iceland, we have e
comprehensivé population resources that enable our scientists to isolate key genes and gene variants (-
contributing to common diseases. The proteins encoded by these genes, and other proteins with which’they
interact in the drsease pathway, offer drug targets t that we believe are dlrectly involved i in the onset and
progressmn of drsease Our work} 1nd|cates that these genes confer nsk by'i mcreasmg or decreasmg the .
activity of comrnon brolog1cal pathways, placmg 1nd1v1duals ona spectrum of risk that encompasses “the »
population asa whole Small-m’olecule drugs that can modulate the activity ‘of the pathway in questlon may
therefore havé broad potential utrllty, riot only to'those at hlghest risk but perhaps also to those 4t 3 average '
risk, which in the common diseases may be unacceptably high. Moreover, these pathways often provide
biomarkers.that can be'used-to assess the efficacy of a compound from preclrnrcal to mid-stage clinical
testing, . onoonge S r il omge It vt ol :
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We are also applying our findings to create DNA-based diagnostics. Because such tests analyze the
same links between genetic variation and disease that we' have used to identify drug targets, they can be
employed as an aid in developing more effective disease prevention strategies by helping individuals to
better understand their inherited risk of a given condition, as well as to identify patients likely to respond. .
well to a given drug. We expect to begin offering DNA-based diagnostic testing early in the second quarter"
of 2007. e . i PR AR A _ . o vl ¥
Iz

Th'rough our chemistry and structural'bioIogy units based in the United smte"s e are able to
discover novel small-molecule therapeutic compounds take candldate compounds through pre-chmcal )
testing, and manufacture sufficient’ quantities for early stage cllmeal trrals Our product development i
group, which has expertlse in drug and dlsease modelmg, desrgns and 1mplements out clrnlcal trials, We
also actively explore in-licensing and co- development opportunmes and in certam programs have brought
directly into clinical trials compounds that address targets wé have identified through our genetics'
research, but were originally developed by other companies for other indicationsy 3 ; -, . © - 1 th

deCODE has demonstrated its abrllty to dlscover novel therapeuttc targets and compounds in major
indications. The' company has also shown that it can effrcrently advancé these compounds tnto and through
mid-stage clinical trials provrdmg a clear and detalled assomatlon to the biology of dtsease et

At the beginning of 2007; we have completed, and are analyzing the.results of a Phase [1la clinical trial for-
DG041, our developmental antr-platelet eompound for arterial thrombosrs Phase I studies showed DG041
to be well tolerated and to effecuvely reduce platelet aggregatron wrthout 1ncreasrng bleedmg time. The u
Phase i1 study is exammmg safety, tolerablhty, dosmg, and the effect of vanous dose levels on blomarkers ‘
of platelet activatior'in patlents with perlpheral artery drsease 'and we expect to initiate a second Phase Tl
study in:patients with other vascular disease:by yearend. | Voow T ma A, A
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‘In deCODE’s program targetmg the leukotrlene pathway for the preventlon of heart attack we |
recently completed a Phase I'single ddse i ranging study for . one of its developmental compounds DG051 o
showing it to be safe and well-tolerated in the doses tésted; to have a pharmacokmetlc proﬁle that supports
its suitability for once-a-day dosing; and to lower, in a dose-dependent manner, levels of leukotrrene B4,
the pro-inflammatory biomarker that deCODE believes confers the increased risk of heart attack thr'ou'gh
this pathway. deCODE began a multiple-dose Phase I trial for DGO051-early this year:and.expects to begin
Phase II testing by year end.-We-are currently reformulating the tabléts for DG031,-our:Phase III , .... ..
compound for the prevention of heartiattack, and expect to be in a position to restart our Phase II1 testing
by year end.or the'first quarter of 2008.:deCODE is conducting preclinical drug discovery work ontits ..
targets in stroke and vascular disease, which are the.most advanced of its preclinical programs e

. deCODE has a partnershlp with Roche focused on the drscovery and developtt}ent o§ PDE4 lnhlbltors‘
for vascular drsease anid a partnershlp with Merck in obesrty déCODE and’ IllummaI Inc. are worktng '
together to develop DNA-based diagnostic kits utilizing deCODE’s gene discoveries in heéart attack, type 2
diabetes and breast cancer and Hlumina’s platform for SNP.genotyping. The company is also activély .
exploring drug development partnerships in.its most advanced therdpeutic programs, in‘order to spread :
risk and cost, and to focus: resources on the advancement of its drug discovery work and prechmcal NN
candidates. r‘;. ! tsn" T N At R TR OPETS s T T Y O O NTOW

deCODE also leverages 1ts ]capabtlrttes to prov1de servrces to fee-paymg customers Our servrces and
products mclude medlcmal chemlstry, process chemlstry, structural btology, clmlcal tnals genotypmg, and 1
instruments and software Revenue from these actrvrtles helps to support pur drug dlscovery and ‘ -
development mfrastructure and conserve our cash re_sout;ces for use in our propnetary therapeutlcs al v
programs

N
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Thengoal of our. busmess Strategy is to'maximize.the creation. of value from!our . human genetics, drug .,

discovery and diagnostics work and to capture that value for us and our stockholders. Our product  vin g,

s
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development pipeline’now includes drug development programs in heart attack, and arterial thrombosis, t: ;
and are advancing our diagnostics programs in type 2 diabetes, arterial fibrillation, heart attack and » '.u2in
prostate and breast cancer. Executing on our strategy—advancing these programs swiftly while continuing
our discovery work in a broad range of common diseases—requires us to spread:risk andimanage cost.xWei
are constantly evaluatmg the optlmal balance between prOprletary and partnered product development

the level of our mvestment in research and development the deployment of cash resourceslfor product ",

fLiLa57 LN
development ‘and the financing env1ronrnent As we invest m ptoprretary programs we leverage our
1.

capabilities to form corporate alliances and to provrde services to fee—paylng customers. We also feceive
contract and grant funding from various governmental agencies: We have formed drug and other pioduct
development allianées.with Roche, Merck, and-Illumina, among others: Qur chemistry subsidiary provides
drug discovery and contract manufacturing services to fee-for-service customers,-and ourother service
offerings include protein-crystaliography products. and instruments as well as protein structureianalysis
contract services through ouristructural biology subsidiary; clinical trials services through-our Encode
CRO; and DNA analysrs services through our genotyplng laboratory.rnrReykJavrk RIPERSITLEE R A3
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We,‘derue revenues prrmanly from research fundrng and other fees from ourlse)mce Customers and
collaboratlve partners, tas well as from research grants Mllestone payments and upfror}t )exclusrvrty,’
teohnology access and technology-development fees under our collaboratlon agreeiments constitute
another source of our revenues. Our expenses ¢ consnst prlmarrly of research and development expenses
such4s, salarres and related employee costs materlals and. supplles and cofitractor SeTvices.

C e Vol G ey TR Db 3o e FinG

We beheve that our ongoing work in genetlcs, the'advancement of our.drug and diagnostlc programs,
andvin particular the conduct of. clmtcal trials, will:require significant ongoing expenditurestIn: 2006, we
completed our Phase I dose-ranging; pharrnacokmetrc and safety ¢linical program for DG041,10ur3yy
developmental antl-platelet compound for arterial thrombosrs and concluded a Phase IIa trial; filed an
IND and conducted a smgle -dose f rangtng Phase i study for DGOSI for the preventton of heart attack
concluded our ‘Phase II trtal of Céphalon’ $ developmental compound CEP 1347 in asthma and desrgned
and mmated a PHase 111 trral for DGO31 for the preventlon of heart attack a trial that we voluntarlly
suspended in ()ctbber in order to address a formulatron problem wrth the tablets We are alsSTdevelopmg
reference- laboratory dragnostrc testmg servrces We antrcrpate 1ncurrmg addmonal fiet [osses at least
through the next several years due to 1n addltron to the above mentloned factors deprecmtlon and
amoftization, &6 well as stock-based compensatlon and other rion- cash cha‘r”ges We expect that ourr
revenues and losses will fluctuate from quarter to quarter and that such fluctdations may ‘be'Substantial,
especially because progress in our scientific work and milestone paymentsithat.are related to progress:can
fluctuate between quarters. We. do not believe that compansons of our;quarter—to—quarter performance are
a good indication:of future perforrnance N P P e o) LT

+

At December 31 2006, we had $152 0 mrllron 1n cash ‘cash equtvalents and mvestrdents and as we
advance and broaden our drug development prpelme we will requlre s1gn1ﬁcant addttronal caprtal for
product development and so we will continue'to 1nvest1gate addrtronal avenues of flnancrng Our ablltty to
obtam capnal in the farire wrll be. affected by conditions i in the global fmanctal markets and in’‘the’ !
pharmaceuttcal mdustry We expect that more favorable condltrons in those markets wﬂl pr“és’e"”I °
opportumttes for' us, while downturns in the market valuatrons of blotechnology compames and of the

WL
equity markets more generally will restnct our ablltty to rarse addmonal capltal on ‘aitractivé terms.”

Ry LI IO PR A8 (T LI
“The dtfﬁcultres facing the pharmaceutrcal industry present for us both~near-term_challengesrand
significant longer-term opportunities: One of the main issues confronting big pharmaceutical companies is
their lack of promising new drugs to treat major indications. As many leading brand-name drugs'come off
patent ; and face generic, competmon developmg successful new medicines wrll become crrtlcal for fi llmg

he £3p. We believe that compames such’as ours may be well posmoned to play an | 1mportant role1m filling

|
the gap m the prpelme of new drugs elther alone pr ‘as partners of pharmaceutlcal compames ‘Recent
P | E T ) BEEREE] NI 1] AT b : EE TS LA E US
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announcements.demonstrate that the industry is already mvestrng in the development of new. therapeutlcs
.based on.our approach L T A PR P T L
: O B TR R IY AR A SO L S LT I

DrugDevelopmentPrograms : SE . IR T

The' followmg isa summary of the development of our drug candldates in late pre clinical or clmteal
development Because of uncertainties involved in the drug development progess, the actual trmmg for the
events descrlbed below may drffer matenally from that provrded in thlS summary.

[} e T A 4
o We. have two compounds in development for the prevention of heart attack. These programs come -
-+ out.of our discovery of major risk variants in two genes'encoding proteins in the leukotriene <
«».pathway. These variants—inthe genes that.code for 5-lipoxygenase activating protein (FLAP)'and.f
- leukotriene A4 Hydrolase (LTA4H)}—appear to confer risk in the same way: by causingan... = .
upregulation in the production of leukotriene B4, a-potent pro-inflammatory molecule that is the . -
end product of one branch of the pathway. The therapeutic goal of both compounds is to inhibit the
actrvrty of the pathway, lowering the production of LTB4 and thereby decreasing the inflammatory
actrvrty in atherosclerotre plaques and reducrng the risk of heart attack. DGOS 1, discovered by
deCODE’s chemlstry unit, is a small molecule mhlbltor of LTA4H wh1ch is directly 1nvolved in the’
synthe51s of LTB4. The results of our development work to date on’ DGOSI 1nd1cates that it'is welll
"tolerated, provrdes potent mhrbltlon of LTB4 productlon i§ orally b1oava11able has potentlal for”
once-daily dosing, and appears'to have' minimal potential for drig-interaction. Wé completeda ™
smgle~dose ranging Phase I study for DGO051 in December and have initiated a multiple dose "/
-+ ranging Phase I study. The results from this study demonstrated weli-characterized pharmacokmettc
parameters and a reductlon of LTB4 in a dose-dependent manner ¢ NS g

ln May 2006 we began a Phase III clmlcal trtal for DG{}31 an mhlbttor of. FLAP whtch we ltcensed

“from Bayer AG; but temporartly suspended this trral in Oetober 2006 dué to'an unexpected o,

formulatlon problem with the, tablets In routme testmg of clinical supplles weé dlscovered that over
, ttme the drug tablets appeared to dlssolve more slowly, potenttally provrdmg lessemng amounts of

r.\"_

pattents would be recetvrng too little drug, undermmrng the trlal ] chances of success. We are o
currently refonnulatmg the compound 10 resolve thls issue and expect to be able to resume Phase !
III testing by year end or the first quarter of 2008 e

L L IR LI P ‘l'l'v P T --4

- » DGO41 is being deveIOped asa lesron specrflc anti-platelet compound for the prevention of arterial.
++ ~thrombosis. DGO041 is.a first-in-class small molecule inhibitor of the EP3 receptor for prostaglandin
E2, a G-protein coupled receptor {GPCR) encoded by a gene we have shown to be assoctated with
increased risk of arterial dis¢ase. We believe that PGE2 may have additive sttmulatory effects on
platelet aggregatron beyond those of other potent agomsts such as ADP or thromboxane A2
. targeted by cloprdogrel and aspirin, respectively. In early 2006 we concluded ‘the Phase I clinical
' program for DGO41 Nearly 200 healthy subjects were exposed to DG041 in these studres The results
of the Phase 1 program showed DG041 to be well-tolerated across ‘the entue ‘dose range studled and
that DGO41 can effectrvely inhibit platelet aggregauon m a dose- dependent manner w1thout
mcreasmg bleedmg time. In the second quarter of 2006; we began a Phase‘IIa clinical trral that
examined the efféct of DGO041 on certain plasma biomarkers. We concluded this trial at thié end of *
2006 and expect to present the data during.the second quarter of 2007. Based on the results of our
"clinical trials thus far, we believe that DG041 may offer 4 focused means of preventing the formauon “
of thrombi, with anu-platelet activity specifically at the site of atheroscierotic lesions, y :

e In asthma, we completed a Phase IIa trtal of Cephalon § compound CEP 1347 ortgmally developed
'.for treatment of Parkinson’s, dlsease This compound ll‘lIllbl[S MAP3K9 'a kinase encoded by 2’ gene,
we have linkéd to risk of asthma. In the Phase I1a trial we found that the compound had a dose-
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related effect on both lung function-and biomarkers associated with lung inflammation and severity
- of disease in patients with asthma who were already being treated with inhaled corticosteroids and
long-acting beta agonist’ (LABA) Cephalon is currently reviewing chmcal development plans for -

Kl

thlscompound NIRRT D T PN S e
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. Among our most advanced preclmrcal programs, we are pursurng a PDE4 1nh1b1tor program for
vascular disease/stroke pursuant to our 2004 agreement with Roche and are workmg on ldentrfymg

and advancmgalcad pre- clmrcal compound D S T PR S0 S Lo S
U ' s ey

We use many of our ernployee and’ 1nfrastructure resources across several programs and many of ¢ our
research and development costs are mdlrectly attrrbutable to an 1nd1v1dually named program or are
directed broadly to apphcable research programs However 'takmg mto account costs that are specrﬁcally
attrrbutable 10 mdrvrdual programs and allocations of our research and development program costs based
upon those drrect costs, we have cumulatlvely mvested $33:5, mrlhon $16 0 million, $7.8 mnlhon and $8.8
million in our heart attack (Myocardral Infarctron or MI) PAD stroke and asthma programs respectlvely,
from the beginning of 2003 to date. Inceptlon to-date costs are not avallable as these costs were not
hrstoncally tracked by program S T t..vbt TR PR S RO L ; ‘
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We have not applted for or recervcd marlrcetmg approval from the apphcable regulatory authontles in
any country for any of our drug candidates. In order for us to achleve marketmg approval in the United .
States, the FDA must conclude that our clinical data establlsh the safety ‘and efflcacy of our drug .
candidate. Other oountrles have srmllar reqmrements Historically, the results from pre clrmcal testing and ‘
early chmcal trials (through Phase II) have often not been predrctwe of success in later clrmcal trials. Many
new compounds have shown prorrusrng results mJearly clmlcal tr1als but subsequently falled to establlsh
sufficient safety and efficacy data to obtain necessary marketmg approvals Addrttonal risksand |
uncertainties involved in the development and commercialization of any products are described above
under the caption “Risk Factors’;, We expect that jt will be seyeral years, if ever, before we receive
revenues from the commercral sale of our therapeutlc products .
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Furthermore our strategy mcludes the optlon of entermg into collaboratrve arrangements w1th thrrd
partres to participate jn the development and commercralrzatron of our products. Entermg 1nto a.
collaboratlon with a partner atany point in the development or commercrahzatron ofa product 1s a -
busmess deprsron When making t this decrslon we do and wrll con51der among other matters the _
complexrty of the 1nd1catlon the si srze complex1ty and expense of necessary development and/or ‘
commerc1allzat|on efforts competrtton in the market and size of the" appllcable market, an assessment of
our own resources——-ﬁnancral and operatlonal and an assessment of the resources of a potentral partner.
In the event that we ' do collaborate on any of the above programs m the future a partner will have a level
of control whrch may be srgnlf” cant qver the pre -clinical development or, cllmcal trial process for a,
product As a result the completlon date of such a partnered program could largely be under control of’
that thlrd party rather than under our control .We cannot forecast wrth any degree ¢ of certamty wh1ch
propnetary drug. candrdate wrll be sub]ect 1o future collaboratlve arrangements or how such arrangements

would affect our. development p]an or caprtal requrrements . i
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As a result of the uncertaintiés discussed above, we are unable-to-détermine the duratron and 7
completion costs of our research and development projects or- whenand to what extent we will réceive cash
inflows from the commercialization and sale of a product. | S
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Acqulsmons, Joint Development ngrams and In- I:censmg T T " S

. As part of our busmess strategy, we contmue to consrder jOll’lt development programs and merger and
acqursltlon opportumtres tha} may provrde us wrth products in late-stage development 1ntellectual
property or fin: ancial Tesources or w1th capabrlltres that w1ll help accelerate our downstream drug discovery
efforts.
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»UVS. . InJanuary 2006; we acquired.all of the.outstanding shares.of Urdur,Vérdandi'Skuld ehf.
(*UVS?), a privately-held cancer research firm, from Iceland Genomics Corporation, Inc: (“IGC?’); both
companies having their principal offices in Reykjavik; Iceland: As:consideration for the purchase, we
issued 635,006 shares of deCODE common stock valued at $6,082,000 to IGC. This acquisition‘hasi:
enabled us to broaden Our cancer program by applyrng our gene discovery and drug development efforts to
a larger set ofIJOpulatron resour’ce;m et I M B L SR DT H LR
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Illumma In May 2006, we entered into a strategic-alliance with: Illumma Inc: (“Illumina?)'to
develop and commercrahze molecular dlagnostrc products Under the terms of the Agreement, deCODE
and Illumma wrll share development costs equal]y and spllt operatrng prof" ts from the sales of dlagnostlc
tests. Our mmal focus will be developrng dlagnostlcs for heart attack breast cancer and" type 2 dtabetes
Also as part of the agreement ‘we have mstalled Ilumina’s SNP genotypmg platfoflrrjto carry-out’h 'gh' 4 “*:
densrty, whole genome studles utlllzmg our comprehehswe p'opulatron genetlcs resources 1n Icpland , M"‘.’
thereby, enabhng us to expand our contract genptyprng busmess to‘o,ffer Tiimifa's platforrn and’a '_ ’f'fr—'
technologles together w1th our proprretary analytlcal servrces 'for custdmers (F e i) s , w

. DTG T e Tty st 0 el s

In certain programs we have taken advantage of the fact that drug targets we have identified through .-
our genetlcs research have already been' employed by other compames to make developmental compounds
for othér 1nd1catrons By llcensrng these compounds or entermg mto co-development arrangements wé
have béen able to leapfrog over several steps of drug dlscovery, entenng drrectly mto Phase Il chnrcal)“J .
trials. DGO31," our most advdnced compound for the preventron of heart attack was l1censed from Bayer g
HealthCare AG, whrch was lnltlally developmg 1t fof asthma We also recently concluded a Phase II tnal m
asthma worktng w1th Cephalon on thelr compound CEP 1347 ongmally developed for Parklnson’ SR
disééise’ We Continue to 1nvest|gate addmonal such p0351b111t1es for co- development of promrsmg exrstlng
compounds that may effectlvely act agarnst targets we have identified through our gene drscovery work ‘
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Results of Operatrons from the Years Ended Decenrber 31, 20?6 2!)05 and 200:1 bt 'l" r: J_ - ; ' I‘“ :
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Our results of operatrons have ﬂuctuated from perrod to perlod and may contmue to ﬂuctuate in the
futiiré based upon among other thmgs the | pace and progress ‘of DuF propnetary research and chmcal )
development efforts the trmmg ‘and composrtron of fundlng under our vanous collaboratlve agreements "
and the progress of our own research ‘and development efforts Results of operatlons for gny perrod may )
be unrelated to resuits‘of operatlons for any ‘Siher perrod In addition! hlStOI‘lC(—il results should not be e
viewed as mdrcatlve of future operating resiilts, WE arc sub]ect {0 Tisks ¢ common 't companles ' B R
mdustry and at olr stage of development mcludmg rlsks inherént'i m ‘r research and}development efforts;
reliarice upon collaborative partners development by us or odr competrtors of new technologrcal‘ R
innovations, abrhty to market products or §ervices, dependence on key personnel dependence on key
suppliers, protectlon of proprretary technology, abthty t3 obtain addmonal fi nancmg, ablllty 6 negotrate

collaborative arrangements and compllance with governmental and 'other regulatrons ‘In'‘order’ for a™'- "
product to be commerctaltzed based'on olir research we and our collaborators must conduct pre-cllntcal i
tests and ‘clinical trial$; demonsti4te the efflcacy and safety of our product candrdates obtam regulatory" *
approvals or clearances and enter into manufactunng, distribution and marketmg arrangements as weli'as’
obtain market acceptance. We,do not expect to receive, revenues or royalties based:.on therapeutic or, |

diagnostic products for a period of years, if at all. -, , Wy v DI FLn e BT s L0k

it

¢ ol

' 13 LERUPRTTYS I PEREE FIANPPRY G

Financial highlights as of and for the year ended DéGeiber' 31,2006 inéliide:

* At December 31, 2006, we had $152.0 million in cash, cashiéquivalents and investments compared >
to $155.6 mlllron at December 31, 2005 The net utlltzatron of our cash and investments in 2006
reﬂects prmcrpally the costs assocrated w1th the advancemelnt of our drug development programs as

' reflécted in the $85 2 mllhon of cash we used 1n operating actlvmes together with two financfrl;g” frot.

campaigns raising a combineéd*het total of ppfoximately'$80.7 million. M7 RO e
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« Research and development expense was $57.1 million in-2006 as compared to $43.7 million in 2005
and $24.9 million in 2004. These increases are principally the result of costs associated with the
advancement of our product development programs. In May 2006, we began a Phase II1 clinical

trial for DG031 our lead developmental compound for the prevention of heart attack, and then in -
October 2006 we voluntanly suspended the trial in order to address an unexpected forrhulatlon o
, problem wrth the tablets In August 2006 we began enrollmg patrents in a Phase'T clmtcal tnal for )
DGO! :1,.our follow-on development compound for the preventlon of heart attack Earlter in 2006
we 1nmated a Phase ITa trtal for DGO41 our developmental cornpound in Pertpheral Artery
' Dlsease Addlttonally, we have progressed proprietary pre-clmtcal programs in strolge ol%esuy, and
pain, among other indications. In' August 2006 we installed the Tliumina SNP' genotypmg platform ;
and have begun our high-density, whole-genome studies utilizing the platform together with our o
comprehensrve populatlon genetrcs resources in Iceland. > - v 70 ) e

-

. Our revenue was $40. 5 nulhon m 2006 as compared to $44 0 mtllton in 2005 and $42. 1 mtllton in
2004. The declme of our revenue is due pnncrpally to lower alhance rcvenues in 2006 chieflyon-
. account of the completton of the Merck obesrty research program m Septernber 2005 and the more
o 'recent completlon of research fundrng under the 2002 agreement wrth Roche (June 2006) '

o In July we completed the sale of 6,000,000 shares of common stock at.a purchase price of $5.00 per
share for aggregate net proceeds after costs of the transaction, of $27 8 million, , -
« In November 2006 we completed the sale of $80,000,000 prmcrpal'amount of 3.5% Senior ¢
" Convertible Notes due 2011 at a price of 70% of par pursuant 10 Rule 144A under the Sécurities -
Act of 1933. After thediscount on the notes and the -offering costs we received $52.9 miillion in cash.
. The 2006 Notes are convertible into deCODE common stock at an mmal conversron rate of 71.4286
shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes, equivalent to an initial ‘conversion pricé of $14 per
.share. jeCODE may redeem the notes beginning April 20, 2009. The, Notes have the same interest
rate and initial conversron pnce as the exnstmg 3.5% Senior Convertrble Notes due 2011 1ssued jin

- April 2004 and otherwrse have substantrally srmtlar terms,
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Revenue

" Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is as follows:. - o ,
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006 s Compared 102005 ' -"'2005 as Compared to 2004

. Pt 2006 : 2005 q 200400 $Change i7" % Change % Change % Change
TR . (In thousands, except %) - . .. | - : -
Revenue ......... $40 S10 $43,955 $42,127  $(3a45) .. . B)% .. S1 828 . 4%,
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Our busmess strategy is focused on tummg our dtscovertes mto .new drugs and dragnostrcs for.the .
treatment of common dtseases At the same time, we leverage our, capabrhttes to generate revenue through
- corporate alhances through s SeIVice. contracts and mcreasmgly through research grants, In the majority.of -
our programs we are pursuing drug deve]opment on our own..In certain others we have formed alhances
with pharmaceutlcal and biotechnology firms through ‘which we can cover some of the cost of conductmg
basic research'and spread'the risk and mvestment involved in product development Increasmgly, we have
also sought and received reséarch grant fundmg We-have entered into research, development, 4" - vt ~t
comimiercialization; ‘anid fee for service allidnicesand’ coritracts across our business. Dependmg onthe ’:
nature of each prospective business opportunity, the key components of the commercial terms ‘of such .’
arrangements typically include one or,more of the following: research fundmg, up-front, exclusivity,
technology access, and technology development fees; fees. for partrcular services; milestone payments;,
license or eommerctallzatlon fees; and royalties or profit. sharmg from the commercialization of products.
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X wCollaborattons with'our most: mgmﬁcant partriers include: - . . ws il el e e
et e ey LEDRT N aetrpge 1 e gy ;‘];‘” R I”J.. 4"'_‘ Ny,

F. Hofﬁnann-LaRoche(Roche) T | D AR A

Therapeuucs In 2002, we entered into an agreement w1th Roche to; collaborate on four diseases that
had been the subject of an earher collaborat1on with Roche Durmg 2004 and through January 2003, we
collaborated wrth Roche on two of those drseases Under thrs agreement we discovered genes lrnked to
diabetes and Roche contmues drug dtscovety based on one of these dlscovenes Under the 2002
agreement whrch exprred on February 1, 2005, e recerved $20 (i} mllllon in research fundtng and wé are
entrtled to recerrve royaltles on the sales of any drugs that are developed commg ‘out of work conducted

r = e
under thlS agreemeﬂt “ taon ’ ) . '
" HETRTRN by T L Ty

In November 2004 we 51gned a new three-year agreement w1th Roche to co- deveIOp mhlbrtors of
PDEA for the prevention and treatment of vascular disease, 1nclud1ng strol(e This agreement continues
work advanced under ‘the 2002 agreement and we will focus on optlnuzmg lead compounds 1dent1ﬁed
under the prev1ous agreement and begmnmg chntcal development Under this agreement as of the end of
2006, we received $4.0 mllhon of research fundmg We will share drug dlscovery and clinical trials costs
under this new agreement and'wé may téceive an additional $2.0 million of research funding over the
remaining term of the agreement as well as milestone payments and royalties based on drug sales. .

Diagnostics. In'Tune 2001, wé'signed a five-yéar alliance with Roche’s dlagddstics division and
through June 2006 we collaborated to develop.and market DNA-based diagnostics for major diseases.-
During the term of the alliance, which has now expired, we received $44.3 million in research funding, up-
front fees and milestone payments.under theagreement and we may receive additional milestone |
payments upon the achievement.of research and development milestones by Roche and royalties on the
sales of diagnostic. products developed by Roche. - ;.- R VR P oy

‘Revenues from these alliances wrth Réche amounted to $6.7 million, $10 0 milliof: and $12.6 million
for the yéars ended December 31, 3006, 2005 and 2004 respectwely Costs'incurred with these ‘
collaborative programs with Roche amounted to $6.4 million; $8.3 Tnilliori 'and $19.5 'million for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectlvely

Merck & Co, Inc. (Merck) - ic s« 0. " nodv T 0 el YD 0 e, e

Obesity. In September 2002, we entered into a three year alliance with Merck aimed at developing
new, treatments for,obesity. Under the alliance,  we combined research efforts with Merck in the genetics of
obesity to identify, validate and prioritize & series of drug targets to take into development. During the
three-year research program, which has now expired, we have receivéd research fundmg, technology ‘access
fees and milestone payments in the aggregate amount of $26.3 million. In addition, we may receive further
technology access fees in the total aggtégate amount of $1.0 million. ‘Subject to-Merck’s developing -
products based on collaboratlon dlscovenes ‘weé may also receive ‘dévelopment miléstonés and royaltles
We have dis¢overed three geries linkéd to Sbeésity under this alliance, and- Merck Has generated a lead *

series of cornpounds agamst one of the targets'ﬂv'é’Vahdated through our genetics reséarch, © ot ', 3
A IR LIRS N T iy

Revenues from thlS allrance wrth Merck amounted $1 0 million, $6.3 million and $7 9 mllhon for the
years ended December 31, 2006 2005, and 2004 respectrvely Costs rncurred in connectton w1th thrs .
alliance with Merck amounted to $0, $2 9 mrllron and $4.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2006
2005 and 2004 respectrvely T TR . R

[N ] L.’\i.“.l.-, .

Information-Rich Clinical Trials.* ""In February 2004, we entered mto ah dgreertient with Merck which
provides that d¢CODE will conduct inforfiaiion’rich'clinical trials on a ‘range of Merck's developmental
compounds that Merck selécts for incliisionin the program. The term of the alliance is seven years, subject
to termination by Merck after five years. The collaboration involved three agreements: (a) a License and

AR P Lo
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Research Collaboration Agreement; (b).a Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement; and (c)'a Warrant
Agreement:!UUnder the terms:of the License and:Research Collaboration' Agreement, we will receive -
royalties on sales of drugs and'diagnostics developed.as part-of the alliance, will receive milestone
paymentstasmompounds or pharmacogenomic tests reach the:market, will receive research funding for the.
clinical dévelopmént of compounds and pharmacogenomic analysis, and received a one-time technology -
access fee of $10.0 million. A contingency clause on the technology access fee provides that if deCODE
rejects the first two non-exclusive development compounds that Merck presents to the collaboration, then
Merck has the right to request a refund of $2,500,000 of the technology access fee. The remaining amount
of the technology access, fee is non- refundable To date, Merck has not, selected any compounds for
development under the’ agreement "

Revenues from this alliance with Mérck amounted to $0, $0.2 million and $0.8 million for the years
ended December 31,-2006,.2005 and 2004, respectively. Costs incurred-in connection with this alliance with
Merck amounted to $0 $0 1, ‘million and $1.3 l'ﬂllllOl’l for the years ended December 31 2006 2005 and
2004, respecuvely "

P ) I ; ‘J'J,"—l‘.(‘l . N ]

Goverrimeni Reiearch Coiitracts ard Grant Fundmg
uy Lty 4 0""]) -_.).'flI; b ST e :

- We have recerjed varjous research grants | from dmsrons of the Umted States Natlonal Instltutes of.
Health (NIH),‘theJCommlssron of the European Communities (EC) and other government agencies and
private foundatrons Research grants for multiple years are based on approved budgets.with budgeted
amounts subject to approval on an annual basis. NIH grants generally provide for 100% reimbursement of
allowable expendltures whilé grants inder the EC generally provides for fifty percent reimbursement of

allowable rescarch and development relatéd expenditures. Our significant research contracts include: *

National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID). In September 2004, deCODE was’
awarded a fw:,-year $23; 900,000 contract by the NIAID; a division of NIH. Under the'contract;, deCODE-
will apply its populatlon approach’and resources to discover genetlc factors associated with susceptibility to
certain infectious drseases arid with responsrveness to vaccines targetmg 'such diseases. deCODE may '
receive $13.6 milion i 1n addmonal research funding 0ver the remammg term of the agreement '

P TN L] v 4
For the yzars ¢ ended December 31 2006 2005 and 2004 we recogmzed revenue of $16 7 mllhon $7. 3
mllllon~ and $2.0. mrlhon from research grants Costs incurred wnth research grants amounted to $19.1

million, $7.7 nnlllon and $2 0 mllhon for the years ended December 31 2006 2005 and 2004, respectwely

o

" SignificAnt eleménts of our revenue are summarized as follows: * =~ ™
. il e . .o..,,... 4 o

For the Year Ended December 31,

. e Supgenee e e gl T e T 2006 2005 2004
' coTg o L . e ~ (In thousands) . -

Research fundlng and servrce fees..'._...,...._....,....,._.‘.,.........._;J.:....-. $18 907 $29,111 $31, 723
Mllestone PAYTOERMS o Su e e TSPt G P e o702 001,216 1,835
Up-front, exclusrvrty, technology access, and technology development fees.. - 2,000 ‘.‘4,5.38, 4,116,
Government research contracts and grant fundmg ...... e 16,734 7,287 2,032
omer...'.:f.':.f.'.'.'.‘.'.'::.:.*.*.‘.’.f'..“...,.:.' ........... el 72167 1,803 2421
ALl T s e T PR $40,510 $43955 $42,127
PR v"r"l QYIS (VN SR S 171 Co e o ——

Our revenue for the perlods presented generally reflects our strateglc focus on proprretary drug
d1scovery ahd (levelopmem mcludmg that performed under contracts, and grants w1th the NIH and EC,
and also a shift away from corporate funded research broadly The decliné in revenue in 2006 is due
principally to lower alliance revenues, principally on account of the completion of the Merck obesity
research program in 2005 and the more recent completion of research funding under the 2002 agreement
with Roche (June 2006).
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At December 31, 2006 we-had $9.8 million in défeired revenue,tc'_ompared'to $12.3.million at the close N
of the 2005. Of this deferred revenue; $6:2 million relates to.our.agreement with Merck to conduct . :
information-rich clinical trials in Iceland and, to date, Merck has not selected.any compounds for-
development under the agreement. We expect that our:revenues.will fluctuate from period to period and..
that such fluctuations may be substantial especially because progress in our screntrﬁc work, mcludmg
milestone payments that are related.to progress, can fluctuate between penods an e

o [ ATl s LYY e Cofe r213 0 O N -
CoslofRevenue Vi L P AT TYA L A A T TS g
Cost of revenué for'the j years  énded Décembér 31, 2006, 2005 ahd 2004 is a follows o

* .
+ lJ.,_ o P

T 12 "y Gl U0 e sy 20063sCompared, : ZOOSaSCOmpared
w. v e Bl “ A [ "'102005 1L 1 t02004
KON EYY (A U 2006 U 2005 © 2004 . .$Change % Change' " $Chang_l L) Chang_
. TR ot rimij(In.thousands, except %} , He g e
Cost of Revenue ............ $42 660 $37 263 $43 407" '$5,397 14% ° $(6, 144) _(14)%_

Our cost of revenue consists of the costs of services provrded to,customers and collaborators and the
costs of programs under research contracts and grants, rncludrng (r) the entirety of the costs incurred in
connection with programs that have been partnered and 61 which we receive réséarch fundrng, (u) costs
associated with other service fee revenues; and' (m) the’ total'amount of thosé costs incufred in connection

with drscovery and development work perfonned underres€arch contracts and grants’ e
R L BLE] I B Ry IR G
At times, we invested i m addmon to costs covered by research funding recerved in such collaboratwe

programs and in.addition to monies recerved under research contracts and grants. o, v

LF 9

Increases in our cost of revenue for 2006 as compared to 2005 are largely on account of (i) the shift
away from corporate, funded research broadly, but specrfrcally'the completion of the; Merck obesrty
research program and more recently the completron of research funding, under the 2002 agreement with
Roche, and also (ii) the growing amount of discovery and development work performed under ongoing
contracts and grants with the NIH and EC including those obtarned in connection with the acquisition of
UVS in January 2006. Of late, some of the growth in the cost of drscovery and devclopment work
performed under contracts and grants with the NTH and EC i Is dué’to the: begmnmgs of our hrgh-densrty,
whole- genome studies utrlrzmg the Illumma SNP genotyping platform and our comprehensrve ‘population
genetics resources in Iceland: Further, in 2006 we conducted a Phase'II ‘trial‘in asthmarfor a compound '
developed by Cephalon and we have stepped;up our continuing efforts in the PDE4 inhibitor program for
vascular disease/stroke pursuant to our 2004 agreement with Roche.

Our cost of revenue for 2006 as compared to 2005 has increased principally due to the greater usage
of chemicals and ‘consumables ($5.6 million) primarily related to beginning our hrgh—densrty, whole-
genome studies, offset somewhat by a-decrease in contractor services ($0.8- -million)-and: deprecratlon and °
amortization ($0.6 million). Also; our cost of revenue for 2006 now mcludes stock based cornpensatron
expense under SFAS 123R ($0.6 million) [ ,iwrl v ol ane s AU O

I A L T T S R t)l:a"'t

Our cost of revenue, 1ncludlng costs 1ncurred in connectmn with co_llab_oratwe programs in 2005 as
compared to 2004 mcluded (i) an overall decrease in direct salary and employee related expenses ‘
(30.9 mrllron), (ii) less in chemicals and consumables ($1.3 million), which drove (iii) lower allocation of
overheads ($0 4 million) and depreciation and amortization ($4 4 mrllron) and also an mcrease in
contractor services ($0 9 mrllton) 'The Iower deprec1at10n and amortlzanon was also due to the sale-

leaseback of our facrlmes in Iceland dunng 2005 whrch reduced ot deprecratlon expense

o
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Research and Development . PSS VG S L R FITIUTCI R IR 1) SNV b U]

t Research and developmentifor.the years ended December.3], 2006 2005 :and 2004 is as follows: .~
RTINS PR 1

2006 as Compared 2005 as Compared
) ot T g g A to 2005 to 2004
= ;‘ £ ’ i * o 'zoos 2008 2004  $Change % Change §Change % Change

(In thousands, except %)

Research and Development A $57 108, .,$43 748 $24 942 - $13360 31%  $18,806 75%
h'u s ' ;;' o
expendrtures in product development, including pre-clinical and cllnlcal work on our lead drug discovery
and developriient programs and-DNA diagnostics.-In May 2006, we:began.a-Phase 11 clinical trial for..
DGO031; our lead developmental compound for.the prevention of heart-attack; and-thentin October 2006 ~
voluntanly suspended:the trial'iniorder'to address.an unexpected formulation.problem with the.tablets. Inxg
August 2006 we:began enrolling patients in a Phase.I clinical\trialfor DG051,,0ur follow-on development.c;
compound for the prevention.of heart-attack. Earlier in'2006, We initiated, and have substantially,.» v 70
concluded, a-Phase I1a clinical trial-for, DG041,,0ur lead anti-platelet compound for the prevention of . .
arterial' thrombosis:'Additionally, we have progressed proprietary pre-clinical programs in-stroke, i q ..
inflammation; obesity.and pain, among other indications. More recently, we have installed the Illumina
SNP genotyping platform and have begun our high-density, whole-genome studies utilizing the'platform,
together with our comprehen51ve populatlon genetlcs TESOUICES, 1n Iceland Based upon, tlrle range pf our
current research and development activities but excludmg any srgnlﬁcant néw collaboranons we believe
that our, overall .investment,in research and development for the fiscal year 2007 may be in the range of

$55 to $60 mllhon ) 7
) w9y 'ﬂﬂ)1 1r;u:iJ' A [ Tt
Our research and development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2006 2005 and 2004
consist of the following: * ~ 4 fan e 3,07 REEEE <o T e
Wl it s Tt S e ROV e e o o i GThupRsts 22006 it o 200800 12004
Salaries and other.personnel COStS# ... . . i'rid adeds vt 3755 00 s s, " $20,597, 0 $18,0727 $10,233;
Materials and supplies.q. .. .ol s L il 1 1 1,895 1 gd, 600,, 113,671,
Contractor services-and other thn’d.party costs. EREARE IR '-""-E""" T que19,109: e r 13, 2854, 3,938
Overhead expenses:. x .15 B N I K ERTRRER Yag w5107, -4 }4,630, -+ 1,603
Depreciatiomand amortizationy, ..usas b s occa s e win vanen i cw 37287y 5is 3,089 .r.r5,123
Stock-based compensatron PR AN D A s i -1! e 1813 a1 L0 72004, - 374
L T gl al T vy \,,.mq =i $57,108 . $43;748, $24 942
TR RTERTTR VORI AP (173 LT AR ML, WAL M ) (TR RA O | B 20 13750 TR R ISt SR A

Increases-in researchrand-development:costs 'of our propriétary programs'(eig. 1 ontractor services-and
other third party costs, salaries and related costs, and usage of materials and supplies) may continuie, """
particularly as we advance our clinical development and proprietary drug development programs.

However, we have voluntarily suspended our Phase III clinical trial for DG031 and are beginning ré- 2"+
formulation work. This suspension may,serve to reduce the rate of acceleration of the increases in our:
research and development costs, and even reduce the overall cost of our research and development
expenses:as we enter into 2007. Addmonally, in 2006 we began our high-density, whole-genome studies
utilizing | the Illumma LSNP genotyplng platform, we granted salary increases to our personnel and during
2005 added clinical development executivesto our staff actions which would generally contribute to future

increases in our research and development costs{Further, our/cost of tésearch and development.for.- - 141
proprietary programs in 2006 now also includes stock-based compensation expense under SFAS 123R.

T e e Dot e ot Tl o argTowe U T ) w L T T TR TUR BN IS LN LR
R I PR T (o (TR T R I S T N NP TR P ERTLEOT R N LA TR P TS TR IR {1 BRI MR Y LT
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses L Y

Selling, general and admrmstratlve expenses for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
are as follows:

"1

. e b . L .-2006 as Compared 2005 as Compared
- R - - - _to 2005 to 2004
- N ;- COT 20067 2005 . 2004 . $Chonge % Change SVC.lianger ‘ ‘_FoCh_a'gglJe

) * -(In thousands, except %) '
Selling, General and | :
-Administrative .............. . $25, 206 $20,118 $20 187 ..$5,088 - 25%  $(69) »—%
ded o L T e 1 . . -
Increases inour sellmg, general and admrmstratwe expenses for 2006 compared 02005 is the result
principally of légal fees incurred in relation to our lawsuit to protect intellectial property ($3.9 million). In:
addition; our selling, general and.administrative expenses include 2:$0.8 million gain on the sale of .
property..Further, our selling, general and administrative expense now also includes stock-based i
compensation expense under SFAS 123R ($2.2 million). Our selling;-general and administrative expenses -
for 2005 compared to 2004 were essentially unchanged, with relatively smail increase in some ‘cost
categories offset wrth decreases in other cost categories but with no general or specific trend thereof Lo
v ! ! ! - oY Peoer L A 1 [ R e Br o ' o

Interest Income C T LT ,.'."'}'Hu : 'rtno t . C .

Initerest i mcome for the years ended December 31 2006 2005 and 2004 1s as follows

e oo g1t N *

T 2006 as Compared i 2005 as Compared '

-

] ] - . . 0 - i
o . A vty . : a‘l";.'l"

to 2005 to2004 . -7 -
2006 2005 2004  $Change % Change $Chang__ % Change
‘ R i . “+ - ' (In thousands, except %) ;i , . .
Interest Income. ................ $6 685 $6 397 $2,903 $288 5% . $3,494 o 120%,

+ .Our interest income has increased in 2006 as compared to 2005 and 2004. Our 1nterest income is a
functlon of both'the balance of our cash and investments (which generally have been declining as resources
are deployed in operations but then added to with two financing campaigns in 2006) and the rate of return
we are able to garner under’our investment policy (which average rate of return has been increasing in
2006). We expect to use our cash and investments principally for advancing our discovery and’ development
programs. In the meantime, we will invest the monies received in accordance with our policy, having the
objective of preserving principal and maintaining a high degree of liquidity to meet operating needs and
obtaining competitive returns subject to prevailing market conditions. We expect to maintain our portfolio
of cash equivalents and investments in a variety of securities, including auction rate securities, commercial
paper, money market funds, mutual fund investments.and government and non;government debt
securities. . :

( [PLItS . PR TR TN ‘. . e !
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Interest Expense S R A ST | RV 1 I T e

Interest expense for the years ended December 31 2006 2005 and 2004 is as follows

Yol iorn " R "

L v St w e iy ZMasCompand .t ZMSasCompnnd -

R} . f f ’ . o 1 . . - - i . . to2005 . ] to 2004 .
' e _" ' 2006 2005 2004 " §Change % Change SChange % Change
T T T FPRTIY ! “(In thonsands, except %)™ '+ +° o
Interest.Expense ......... AL RS YA 808 $7 484 $8 983 $324 .. 4% 81, 499) : (17)%

’ ! - 4 T !
Our interest expense has mcreased in 2006 as compared to 2005 and decreased as compared to 2004
QOur interest expense is primarily attributable to interest on our 3.5% Senior Convertible Notes due in 2011
that we issued in April 2004 ($150 million of principal at a full par price) and then again in November 2006
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(a further $80 million of principal at a price of 70% of par). With the additional $80 million of notes added
in 2006, our future cash interest payments will be approximately: $8.1 million .on an.annual basis for the
Senior.Convertible Notes. ‘Taking intoiaccount also the-accretion;of the. discount of the noteés and the
amortization of offering costs, our.total interest expense related to'the Senior Convertible Notes is ;.

expected to be: approximately | $140mrlhon for:2007. S T S o AT S
'y, Ve d PR J"“' K ﬂl Y Y " ' ‘ IR TR I S g }"’” '
Other Non-Operating Income and Expense, Net L E
Other.non-operating meome and.expense for the years ended December 31, 2006 2005 and 2004 is as
follows: e b e 0 b e e L L i e Ce e
L N 1 R T IN I LO B PR Y LI . T [ T TN 1
s . e o v PN . 2006 as Compared ZDOSasCompared \
sten BT T S 02005 t02004° "
Wl o0 he ) Y.y 2006 -4 02005 . 2004 . § Changeci. % Change *'$ Change % Change

Wit ek st ,_, C ; (In thousands, except %) ; P ey

Other, Noh Operatmg Income and
Expense Net...

vt of a4 . L e -

$114 $(4439) $(4766) $4603 S 13% 8277 6‘753,'

.

'.! ' P e ,,‘I) Bray r;‘ ..ll'.l 0o

Our other non-operating income and expense mcludes the net rmpact of forergn exchange in 2006 In
2005 and 2004 other non-operatmg income and expense, net consists of the net impact of foreign exchange,
unrealized and realized galns and losses on derlvatlve financial 1nstruments and, in 2005 loss on early

extrngurshment of debt anda realized loss on the sale’ of mvestments !
TRy vep e w g et ey e
L Asa consequence .of the nature.of our busrness and operanons our reported fmancral results and cash

ﬂows are exposed to the nsks assocnated wrth fluctuatrons in the exchange rates of the. U. S. doltar, the
Icelandic krona and other world currencies. The net impact of foreign exchange on the translated amount .
of our non- US dollar denommated lrabllmes net together with transaction gains and losses amounted toa
gain (loss) of 50 1 mrllron (0 1) mllllon and $(3 3) million in_ 2006 2005 and 2004, respectwely .

Pl

* Our losses on derrvatrve ﬁnancral instiuments in 2005 ($0.2 mrlllon) resulted from three forward* +
forelgn currency exchange Options we entered into as'economic hedgés against foreign exchange rate’
fluctuations on our ISK- den'ommated operating expenses but that did not qualify for hedge accounting.
QOur losses on clerwatwe finaricial instruments in 2004 stem from the two cross-currency swaps we entered
into as economic “hedgés against foreign exchange rate fluctuations on our foreign currency debt but that
did not quahfy for hedge accountrng In March 2004, we liquidated our two cross-curréncy swaps réceiving
$9.7 million in proeeeds Weiréalized a loss-on this early termination that, together with unrealized losses
on the swaps durmg the 2004 amounted to $1.5 million. : :

R

g As a result of havmg prepald the short and long—term debts, that were secured by, mortgages on,
Sturlugata 8 we recorded a loss on early extinguishment debt during 2005 amountmg to $3.1 million and
consisting of (i), prepayment fees (1.4, million), (ii) write-off of Jfemaining unamortized finance costs -
(514 rnllllon) and (m) remammg unamortlzed drscount on the long term debt ($0.3 mlllron) ’, .

In December. 2005, we:sold-investinents and'realized a loss on the sale of $1.0 million: -' I
TR TSI & BT U TR TY SR L AT T P L SR TTS TR S o Vot &
quurdrtyandCaprtalResources“ Pt .-l:r A er ey o e bt

i - NS ST

" W;e have fmanced our Operatrons prmiartly through fundlng from research and development
collaboratlve agreements and the 1ssuance of equrty securltlcs and long -term flnanemg mstruments ‘
($950.9 miilion from the’ beglnmng of 1999 to—date) Future fundmg undér terms of our exrstmg
agreements is approximately $46 million excluding milestone payments, royalties and other payments ‘that
we may earn uncler such collaborations:'Of the $46 million, approxrmately $27 rmlllon is expectedtto be '

received in 2007, with-the remammg amount-due. through 2010 . I T
O B P T T T 1L T B I T "ntr e D "alf,!".'a
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. We make significant investments in proprietary research and development:and we incur the costs of
such activities. In the near term, this requires.us to devote resources to our in-house drug.and clinicalt™ - -
development which we believe will.better. position us to capture the most value to us'in ouridiscoveries. As-
we identify promising discoveries-for further development,.we.may-choose.to continue the development 1. -
ourselves into and through clinical trials, regulatory approvals, manufacturing, distribution;and marketing. »
In other cases we are or will be working to varying degrees with partners. The decisions we make as to
these matters will affect our cash requirements. ooy o S enin Qe vl

Our cash requirements depend on nimerous factors, including the level and timing of our.research
and development expenditures; our ability: to access the capital markets; to obtain new research and- .+ t'.!
development collaboration agreements to obtain and maintain contract service agreements in our
pharmaceuticals, blostructures chmcal research trials and genotyping service groups; expenditures in
conneéction with alliances, license’ agreements and acquisitions of and investments in complementary
technologies and businesses; competifig technolog1cal and market developments the cost of ﬂhng, )
prosecuting, defending and enforcmg patent, claims and other intellectual’ property rights; the purchase f d
additional capital equipment; and Capital éXpenditures at otr facilities. Changes in our research-and*‘*-
development plans, notably the entry into chmcal trials of drugs based on our discoveries, or other changes

affecting our operatmg expenses may Tesult i in 'changes in the 1 tlmmg arid'amount Of expendltures of our
capltal resources X IR T T LR 09 \ch: (.4 T i o L) L B LS (TS L T T D

" T I B TR CP R NP ST T, IR SORTTRT I P TN SIS AT
At Deeember 31, 2006 we had $152.0 million. of cash, cash equivalents and investments, E}\:cludrngl

any sngmflcant new alliances or fmancmg activities, we believe that our overall use_ of cash resources m
2007 may be in the range of $756 $85 rmlllonT A§'wé advance and’ broader'l"c')ur drug dévélopriient pipeline
we will require significant additional capltal for' product 'development and so'wé will connhue to' mvestlgatg
additional avenues of financing; suéh as further pubhc or prlvate equlty offermgs addmonal debi’ » i
financing; other forins of financmg or added collaboratlons and hcensmg arrangements However‘ no Mt
assurance can be given that additional- ﬁnancmg or collaborations and’ licensing’ ari'angements willbgi ' i -
available when needed, or that if available, will be obtained on favorable terms. Ifjadequate funds are not

avanlable when needed we may have o curtail operations or attempt to raise funds on unattractive terms.
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’ o : ) . . For the.Year Ended December31 \
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Cash provided by (used in): - ., ;o . g B0 Syen 0 g bt e

Operating activities ........... .. 00 e eee s ...;:.-, ............ b_,$(85 179) -$(54,033), $ (29, 936)
Investing activities ...............cciiviniinnn.. PRI ._': deve sty (A4424) 195,832, ., (124,653)
Financing activities. ...................... ... L feenees 85 542 (46 094) 156,158
Cash and cash equwa]ents at end of perlod'.'..'..‘.".".'.."..'.".'..'.". forlen R BRD AFIE5.943 ¢ 70 238
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Césh and Cash Equtvalents At Decemb'e'r'31‘ 2006 we had $31.9 mllhon in-dash and'cas -
equivalents. Together with Our invéstinents at December 31,2006 ($130. 1 illion). this baldnce i/ + "'
($152.0 million) is $3.5 million less than at December 31, 2005..Slgn1f1cant cash.flows:during;the year, *
ended December 31, 2006 include, the net proceeds from the sale of 3.5% senior convertible debt
($52.9 million), net proceeds from the sale of 6.0 million shares of our commonsstock ($27:7 million)gi- s.;.¢
capital expendrtures ($6.3 mllhon) the net proceeds from the sale and leaseback fmancmg of eqmpment
and other equlpment ﬁnancmgs (85. 9 mnlllon) and costs assocxated Wlth the advancement of our dmg .
development programs as reﬂected in'th¢'$85:2 mnlhon of cash we used in operatmg 'activities durfrfg the i'_
year. ended Decembé‘r 31“2006 el G e ' S IR G T S T R T A YR
TN ; sl IR Syt o s g el s LY
Avallable cash is mvested in accordance with our.investment policy having primary objectlves of iny su
liquidity and safety of principal while maximizing the.income,we.receive from our investments without , -, 5

significantly increasing risk. Our cash is deposited only with financial institutions in Iceland, the United

H' MU S nitr,
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Kingdom-and the United States having a‘high credit standing (A-/A3 or better). We expect:to maintainour
portfolio of cash equivalents and investments in-a variety of securities, including auction rate securities ., »

commercial paper, money market funds,:mutual fund investments and government and non-government! »
debt securitiés. .. . S o S e et .”-“;;J-‘I,,,_L‘,

.
B Y

At December 31, 2006, our cash is largely 1nvested in'U. S dollar denommated money marlcet and f
checking accounts and also i in Icelandlc krona denommated accounts At December 31 2006 ou i
investments are in auctlon rate securltles a mumc1pal bond US govemment securmes and a corpprate
bond. - : e : , ,

T I RS | N B ’ ! R fi. b Tt

OperarmpActzwtres Net cash used in operating activities lncreased to $85.2 million forthe year.i-
ended December 31, 2006 as compared to $54.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and
$29.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 As more fully descnbed above the mcrease in use of
cash in operating activities is most lmportantly attrlbutablc to'the 51gmficant research and development -
investments being made in advancing our drug and clinical development programs. "The balance ofour "
deferred revenue has decreased during 2006 as we recogmze Tevenue as work progresses under

collaborative ¢ ontracts wrth srgmﬁcant up-front momes pald

' |Jl "‘.

Investing 4cuvmes Our mvestmg activities have consrsted of short term investments in marketable
securities (consrstmg mamly of auction rate securities, US government_ securltles and ifi‘an intermédiate ¢
term bond mitual fund) ‘and' capital expendltures Additionally, in 2006, we purchased UVS and;in domg
so, we acquired $1.3 million of cash to be used to fund the acqulred liabilities of UVS. Also;lin 2005 ve 1
completed the sale and leaseback of our Reykjavik, Iceland'facilitiés at Sturlugata 8 and Krokhals 5D and
5E. In July 2006, we commenced installation of Illumina SNP genotyping platform anid finaiiced'the: 1+
equipment purchased ($4.1 million) w1th a thee-year capttal lease with an Icelandic financial ifistitution."
With the exceptlon of the’ Illumma CqLIlme[lt purchase we. prmcrpally made replacement capttal e
expenditures during 2006, 2005 arid 2004 and 1nvested in ¢ertain computer and laboratory equipment. Wwe:
have experienced an increase in the pace of necessary caprtal expenditures and this trend may continue. -,
Although we believe.we will continué'to make largely replacement cap1tal!expend1tures in.the near-term; i ;
net cash used in investing activities may in the future fluctuate significantly from peridd to period due.to
timing of our capital expenditures and other investments as well as changing business needs:t - %.1v.uh

H

Financing Activities. Net cash of $85.5 million was provid'e:d' by.fln'arlcingjr activities in’ the'year ended
December 31, 2006, as compared:to $46.1 million.that was used in the year ended December:31, 2005 and »
$156.2 mllllOl’l that was provrded in the year. ended December 31,2004, - s De oo by e Ll

More srgmficant fmancmg actwmes for the year ended December 31, 2006 mclude our salehof
$80, OOO 000 prinicipal amount of 3. 5% Semor Convertlble Notes due 2011 ata prlce of 70% of i par (nettlng
$529 mrllron) our sale 0f 6 000 000 shares of common stock (nettlng $27 7 mrlllon) the sale- and leaseback
of Ilumina and other equ1pment and proceeds from other equtpment fi nancmgs (%5. 9 million) and debt
SCWICC($28m1"10n) e .)tl, 'I‘ - R e o Lot J'E"..; L

(AN LN 1 nn

Flnancmg actlvmes for the year ended December 31 2005 largely con51sted of prepayments of short
and long—term debts secured by mortgages on Sturlugata 8 ($38 6 mrlhon) prepayments of long term debts
secured by mortgages on Krokhals 5D and 5E ($1.8 million) reﬁnancmg of thie mortgage on our
Woodridge, IL facility ($4.0 million) which freed-up $6.0 million of previously restricted cash (reflected
above in investing’ actwmes) the sale-and- leaseback of certain equrpment ($1.2'million} and other debtnei»
Serv1¢e($30mlllron) SO B N T T IR R T I LRSS LA U

In February 2007, we entered 1nto an agreement regardmg the sale and leaseb‘ack of our propert;; e

(land and facrltty) in Woodndge IlljlﬂOlS Pursuant to. theTagreement and subject ot the satlsfactlon of )
contmgencres mcludmg, wrthout lrmltanon negotlauon ofa satrsfactory lease we wrll sell the Woodrldge
property for $25,000,000 in cash and léase the property back under a 173 year leasé'at an initial rént of
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$163,000 per.month, subjéct to annual rent increases.of 2.5%. Under the lease contemplated by the
agreement, we will have two 5 year renewal options with rent at the then'prevailing market rate. The lease
will be an absolute net lease'and we will-continue to pay all expensesitelating to the property, including -
taxes, utilities, insurance and maintenance. Our obligations under the lease are to be secured by a letter of
credit in the amount of $5, 000 000 The agreement regarding the sale and leaseback.of the property is
subject to the satisfaction of various contingencies, tmcludmg, w1thout limitation, the negotiation of a
satisfactory lease, the buyer’s ability to obtam fmancmg for lts purchase of the property and the buyer’s, |
satisfaction with its due diligence review of the property. The transaction is expected to close in May 2007
if such contingencies are satisfied, however in hght of the contmgencres there can be no assurance that
theclosmgwrlloccur - A

T L) -
i)l

Contractual Commztments and Off Ba[ance Sheet Arrangemems The followmg summarizes our
contractual obhgatlons at December 31, 2006, and the effects such obhganons are expected to have on our
liquidity and cash ﬂows in future perlods

s . - L F PPN
- [ LI N .

i P S e

’ - _Paymenis Due h)" Périod
Less Than 57" 0, ° ' s More Than

Total 1 Year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years 3-4 Years 4.5 Years 5 Years
) vood oLl n ' o P . ot ~f(In thousands)y, oo T

3.5%. Semortconverttble T : : .

notes, including interest; . . $266 225 $ 8050 A $ 8050 $ 8 050“ $ 8050. $234, 025 $ —.
Long-term debt, including- - Wt Y T

interest (1).............. E"J’,340_ 1089 3 .5902 YIS 272 tJ R L—
Capital lease obllgatlons e e o o e, i

including interest . .« .. cee v 6,103 _,,,2,5118 ‘ 2,2@6 1 399 — ., = —
Operating leases (2) ........ 63,245 ,,.5131. 4921 4 829 o ,,4 706 4,706 . 38952,
Total...... FRpSp ,-.'.;_.l. .. $342 913.. $16 688 - $21 159 $14 550 $12,833 ; $238 731 $38,952

Lt : TS RN A U 4ot o L, e CAer e i

m uBalance mcludes a $5 611 ,000 mortgage loan at December 31, 2006, which has a vanable lnterest rate
of LIBOR + 2.25%.(7.62% at December.31, 2006}. A hypothetical 100 basis point.increase or .
decrease in the interest rate would resilt in-an‘increase of our interest payments related.to.this =~ - .
amount of approxrmately $0 06 ml]llon per year.

Y S T L
(2)- Balance 1nc1udes $62,482 000 of Icelandlc krona (ISK) denoniinated:lease: obhgatlons which are
variable based on the exchange rate of the ISK versus the U.S. dollar and also this amount is-subject to
periodic adjustments based on the Icelandic ansumer Price Index (ICPI). A hypothetical 10% -
increase ‘Or decrease i in the ISK and U S. dollar exchange rate would result in an increase ‘or decrease
" of our. annual lease payments of $0.4 mllhon A hypothetlcal 100 basrs pomt increase of the ICPI '
' :would result inan merease or, decrease of our annual lease payments of $0 04 mllhon '

Under the terms of certain technology llcensmg agreements, deCODE is obhgated to make payments
upon the achtevement of established milestones leadmg to the dlscovery of defined products. These .
payments could total $5.0 million, with the ttmlng of payments not determmable at the current tlme These
potential payments are not mcluded in the above table : !

Fova, «'-'-1" L o
All material intercompany balances and transactlons have:been eliminated. We do.not have any other
significant relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often
referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the
purpose of facrhtatmg off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
As such, wé ire'not exposed to any fmancmg, 11qu1d}ty, market or credlt risk that could arise if we had
engaged in such retatronshlps Addntlonally, holders of our 3. 5% semor convertlble notes may elect to
convert theu' notes into shares of ¢ our common stock at any t1me at a prlce ‘of $14 00 per share.
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Critical Accounting Policies-- .. .. e 330 0 ) o r AT ST RN L T

The preparation ¢ of financral statements in conformrty w1th accountmg pnncrples geinerally accepted i in
the United Stites of Amenea (GAAP) requires us to make certam ¢stimates and assumptrons that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of’ contrngent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported
period. On an ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates; which include, among others, those related to -
revenue recognition, property and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets, materials and supplies, .
derivative financial instruments, income taxes, litigation and other contingencies. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that,we believe to be reasonable under the .
circumstances; the results of which form:our basis for making judgments about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources: The.impact and any associated risks related
to these and our other accounting policies on our business or operations is discussed throughout
“Management s Discussion and Analysrs of Fmanc:al Condition and Results of Operations” where such
pollc1es affect our reported and expected financial results For a detailed discussion on the apphcauon of
these and othPr accountmg pohcres please refer to our notes to the Consolldated Frnancral Statements
There caf be 06 assurance that Actual results wrll not differ from the estlmates 'referred to above

I S MEAN ' 1
We believe the following policies to be the most critical to an understandmg of our fi nanaal condition
and resuits of operations because they require us to make estimates; assumptions and-judgments about

matters that are 1nherently uncertam . "
N N e P VA . S

. i R A LD TR TN Tt ot g R L ‘_" Y .
Collaboranans and Revenue !

\ .
Our collaboratlve arrangements and the recognition of revenue in such arrangements is the ... ..

accounting policy most critical to,us. A substantial portion of our revenues relate to funded research ., -
coliaborations. Our revenues from research and development collaboration agreements are recorded and -
recognized in accordance with the applicable performance requirements and terms of the respective
contracts, generally either. (i) as contract research costs are incurred, usually ratably over the period of
effort, (ii) according to the level of efforts-expended based on the ratio of contract research costs incurred
to expected total costs, or (iii).upon the achievement of substantive milestones. Our accounting recognition
policies with respect to each significant element of our revenue isssummarized as follows: -+ . o

. L ~ i aas .
VR, perart [ T oL et [ B R [T

Research funding and other servicé fees: Research funding is recognized:as earned, typically ratably
. over the period of effort. Funding payments are not refundable in the event that the related efforts are not
| successful. Other service revenues from negotiated rate contracts are recogmzed baséd upon ' the terms of
the underlying contract generally either (i) on a:per diem basis as'services are rendered; (ii) on the basis of
efforts expended; generally upon the ratio of costs.incurred to total expected costs.of providing the.service;
or (iii) upon completion of the service rendered. Any losses on contracts are provided for when they are .
determinable. Included in revenue are billings to customers for the cost of materials purchased by
deCODE. . T T T SN I T " e L e .

4

M:Iestone pa):,ments Under the substantlve mllestone method deCODE records i revenue when the
milestone has been achreved and payment is due and payable under the terms of the respectrve agreement
and deCODE 1 recogmzes revenue whenl acknowledgement of achievement of appllcable performance '
requirements is: receivéd from thié' collaborator. Milestone payments without thé above characteristics are
recognized on a retrospective basis over the contractual term of the underlying agreem_ent.

' R sate,
In arrangernents wrth multiple elements if the mllestone is substantive in nature and there i is
uncertainty in the ach1evement of the mllestone and there 1s no further obltgatlon on the part of deCODE
deCODE records revenue vvhen the mllestone has been achreved and payment is dué ‘and payable under
the terms of the respectlve agreement and deCODE recogmzes revenue when acknowledgement of
achievement of applicable performance requlrements i§ received from the collaborator (“Milestone ~

55




Payment Method™). If the milestone is earned and there is further obligation under the contractfor . v+
performancc by deCODE then deCODE will record revenue.when the milestone has been achieved and
payment is, due and payable under the terms of the respectwe agreement and deCODE retroactwely
recogmzes revenue through the current penod based on the total contractual term and amortrzes the
balance over, the remarnmg contractual term

r . a rot ' .
N FESY R | 1 L3 L [ ! I L B MU

'.[’1; \

Up—from,' exclusivity, technology access, and technology development fees. - We recognize revenue from
non-refundable fees not specifically tied:to a separate earnings process ratably over the expected customer
relationship period ot estimated period of performance: Changes in estimates could impact revenue in the.
period thefestimate is.changed. If our.estimate of the period of performancesshortens or-lengthens, the
amount.of revenue we.recognize from such non-réfundable fees.not'specifically tied to a separate earnings
process could increase or decrease in‘the:period the change in estimate becomes known; future related .

! t..-v

revenues would be- adjusted accordmgly A e ||~ i 4 . ‘

‘!"-fl'

Revenue estimates are revrewed and revrsed throughout the hves of our contracts and are made based
upon current facts andlc1rcumstances If changes in these estrmates or other rr)raterral adjustments to} '
revenue are 1denttﬁed the ad_]ustments to proﬁts resultlng from such rey}stons will be recorded ona
cumulative basis in the perrod in which the revisions are made. )

T, l’u" s LI R LN I N 2 LENITS TOOP Y LA T SR TR R L .l'; Pl ' y b

Long-Lived Assets; Goodwill and Intangibles .. @ =~ == o' " 0ty e W e0Lnne Yot T,

We periodically review property and equipment, goodwill and intangiblés for potential impairments
and to assess whether their service lives have been affected by continued technologrcal change and L
development. There were no events in 2006, 2005 and 2004 that triggered an 1mpa1rment review nor did
our annual review of goodwill indicate any recoverability:issues: Should we determine that there has.been
an impairment of ‘our fixed assets, goodwill or other.intangible:assets in the future we would suffer an. -
increase to our net loss or.a reduction-ofiour net income in the period such a determination is made. In - » L
light of experience and the current technological environment,.in 2004 we changed certain of our salvage -
value'and-useful life estimates for equipment and furniture and fixtures for purposes of depreciation. * -
These changes in estimates had the effect of increasing depreciation expense in2004 by $2.2 million.
Should we determine that the pace of technological change or other matters dictate that we change the
service lives or other estimates-inherent in-determining the carrying-valu€s of our.long-lived assets, there
will be an impact on depreciation expense from the date of the change. |

LT Y ‘i: \ e
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ngatwn and Other Contmgenc:es o .
. - 'We consuier htlgatton and other claims and potential claims or contingéncies in preparing our -~ -
financial statements under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States:of America. We' ..
maintain accruals for litigation and-other contingencies when we believe a loss to be probable and .-
reasonably estimated. In doing'so, we assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or. outcomes with
respect to legal and other matters as well as potential of probable losses. We base our accrualson -
information avatlable at the time of such determmatlon Changes or developments in the relevant action or
our strategy in such proceedmgs could matertally affect our results of operatlons for any partlcular
quarterly or annual perlod Since the recogmtton of a loss'is dependent upon factors not completely in the

control of | managernent trmmg of a charge, if any, is difficult to predtct wrth certamty

L ' PRV
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Share Based Payments " r - ' : '
P e F by

We grant stock optrons to purchase our common s’tock to out’ employlees and dtrectors under our 2002
and 2006 Equtty Incentlve Plans. The benefits provrded under these plans are subject to the prov1srons of |
Statement of Fmancral Accountlng Standards No 123R (“SFAS 123R”) Share-Based Payment which wé ',
adopted effectlvc January 1, 2006. We elected to use ‘the modtfied prospcctlve appllcatton in adopting” -
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SFAS 123R and therefore have not restatéd results for prior periods. The valuation provisions of :
SFAS 123R apply to new, awards and to awards that are ~outstanding on the adoption date and v
subsequently modlﬁed or cancelled Our results of operatrons for the year ended December 31 2006 were.

awards. Shart" based compensano’n expense recogmzed under SFAS 123R for the year ended "
December 31 2006 was $4 3 mllllon - .

P TYEN P PUN SR T TV S AR T I TR ._[. it
-+ Stock option awards ‘and’ restrrcted stock units'generally.vest over a three to four year period and"
expense is ratably recognized over.those same timé periods. The detérmination of fair value of stock-based
payment awards on:the date'of grant.using the Black-Scholes model is-affected by our stock price, as wellt
as.the input of other assumptions. These assumptions include, but are not limited to,.the expected.term-of.
stock'options and our expécted stock price volatility over the term of the awards. Changes in the .+ * 510,
assumptions can materially'affect the fair value estimates.. R B R/ NS P

-SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant'and revised, if necessary, in *
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures'differ.from-those estimates. If:actualforfeitures vary from our - - ..
estimates, we will recogmzettheldtfference in compensatlon expense.in'the period the actual forféitures

occur-of when optronsvestni.' B P T R R SRR
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RecentAccountmgPranouncements '.I-:r“.: oot M et e o b e

In June 2066 ‘the Fmancral Accountmg Standards Board (“FASB”) 'issued FASB Intérpretation

No:.48rAecouriting for Uncertainty iniIncome Taxes, an-interpretation of FASB Statemént No. 109
(“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes recognized in an entérprise’s
financial statemnents. FIN 48 requires companies to determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax
position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authority.:If a tax position meets the

more likely than not” recognition criteria, FIN 48 requires the tax position be measured at the largest
amount of benefit greater than 50 percent ltkely of bemg realized upon ultimate settlement Thls
accountmg standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 deCODE is evaluatmg
the impact of FIN 48 on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows T

[} . 3
o In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS No 157, Fair Value Measuremems (“SFAS 157”) wlnch >

establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about the use of fair value ., ...,
measurements and liabilities in interim and annual reporting periods subsequent to initial recognition.., ., -
Prior to the issuance of SFAS 157, which emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement and
not an entity-specific measurement, there were different definitions of fair value and limited definitions for
applying those definitions under generally accepted accounting principles. SFAS 157 is effective for the
Company on a prospective basis for the reporting period beginning January 1, 2008. deCODE is evaluating
the impact of SFAS 157 on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In February 2007 the FASB issued Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities (“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 expands opportunities to use fair value measurement
in financial reporting and permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain
other items at fair value. This Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007.
deCODE has not decided if it will early adopt SFAS 159 or if it will choose to measure any eligible
financial assets and liabilities at fair value.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”} issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior.Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in
Current Year Financial Staternents (“SAB 108”) which provides guidance on quantifying and evaluating the
materiality of unrecorded misstatements. SAB 108 was effective for fiscal years ending after November 15,
2006. SAB 108 did not have an impact on our results of operations or financial position. v
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Quahzatwe Duclosures About Market Risk.. R P

The primaty ob]ectwes of 1 our mvestment activities are to preserve prmcnpal mamtam a hlgh degree of
11qu1d1ty to mieet operating needs, and obtain competmve returns sub]ect to prevaﬂmg market condmons
Investments aré made primarily in hlgh grade corporate bonds asset—backed debt secuntles and U.s.
government agency debt securities. These investments are sub_]ect to nsk of default changes in credlt
rating and changes in market value. These investments are also subject fo interest rate risk and will'
decrease in value if market interest rates increase. A hypothetical 100 basis point increase in mterest rates
would'result in an approximate $0.2 million decrease in the fair value of our investments as of . - -’ ¢
Deécember 31,.2006. Due to'the nature of 'our investments and relatively. short effective maturltles of‘debt -
instruments, interest rate risk is mitigated. Changes in interest rates do not affect interest expense incurred
on the Company’s Convertible Notes, because they bear interest at a fixedirate: The market value: of the-
Senior Convertible Notés was approximately $170.8 million on December 31,2006... - .

As a consequence of the nature.our business and dperations our.reported financial results and cash’
flows are exposed to the risks associated with fluctuations in-the exchange rates-of.the U.S: dollar, the .
Icelandic krona and other world curreitcies. We continue to monitor ouriexposure to: «currency risk. A -
hypothetical 10.0% decrease in value of the US dollar against the Icelandic krona would result in a loss of
approximately $0.1 million on our Icelandic krona denominated non-U.S. dollar assets and liabilities. We
have historically purchased instruments to hedge these general risks through the use of derivative financial:

instruments; however, we have no. derwatwe mstruments'outstandmg as of December 31,2006. ; - -,
As of December 31 2006 we did not have any flnancmg arrangements that were not reflected inour -
balance sheet T Y LT e nbt iyt g
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT-REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM .

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of: B U
deCODE genetics Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of deCODE genetics Inc. and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our ,
responsibility is.to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits, .,

' We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting = '
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain *
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. ‘An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates madet1
by management, as well as évaluating the overall financial statement presentatlon We' beheve that our

audlts provide a reasonable basis for our opmton O - poie
: RTA
. Inour oplmon such consohdated financial statements present fatrly, in all matena] respects the '
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2006,and 2005, and the results of its opere’mons and
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2006, in conformlty with

accounting pnnc1ples generally accepted in the Umted States of Amerlca i : ' " ’ *

As discussed in Note 2 to the consohdated ﬁnancnal statements tthompany changed 1ts ‘method of
accounting for stock-based compensation on January 1, 2006, as required by Statement of Financial, + .
Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment. ; N S O ,q '

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Aocountmg Over51ght
Board (Umted States) the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reportmg as of
December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control- ]megrated Framework 1ssued by the '
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March ‘14, 2007_
expressed an unqualified opinion’on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company 8
internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opmlon on the effectweness of the Company s
internal control over ﬁnancml reporting.

Yokl sY ot % S ' CE S
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts . S "o T
March 14, 2007 cowdite P T T ST LA, oL el
i . I L.
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.+ 'deCODE ‘genetics; Inc.-1%
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS':” -

e it ,n HHURCG Y b, ULk e

SIS ol VNS TR RIS s YD PR PR N ST Y] AV B R ] SV L PP
ASSETSHa wdigi 2 wnrd o b aie s oo e o Ay s
Current-assets: /M- 00 a0 ) vt e g e e Gt e

Cash and cash equivalénts'. 'L 0T 0ot e gt s o pe it f' :

Investments.,. .. . BT AR Lo T LR PR RS RE LR AR SRR RNERRS AR

Recewables... e ke .,,.ﬁ.;l.,. T RCE R T RTL: 32T RV

Other CUITENLASSELS. 1.+ . 5o vyrieys Deprsa s v pagr oo me s tar g s> r e o e s o e soem e oy g

Total current assets. :-.;. T PP wa e,
Property, and\eqmpment 3L ST AR R s R e
Goodwill 1. . oo o et cote s e “ e e g e s s
Intangible assets, net . .. '. ............................. st e s iy
Other long- term BSSELS « + o v sttt et e e etk e e

Total assets R PR T AT r w'!:','. REE AP RIPT TLAPC RO

L SRS e
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT . :

LA £ AT TV T i I R B I T T R

Current l1ab11|t1es

A LA J-o"i._} 31 O ‘h s

L S R

N T 2T N STV RS ST

.. 9231 .

RERTTI AN ',.[.,ufh‘nil TR Y

¥ e .'; P h pl?'.

2 IR R R O . FRY |
o l. A Wtb

DecemberSl

V12006, . 4 va- 2005

e ‘(ln thousands, except T
b share amounts) ' '
1 "- PEETT FRTS L PR f:-» s
0 E e, Al
$' 21,882 /'$ V65,9431

130,134,...., ., 89,611
o, 8,464 . ,..7 856
3,541,
_1_66 951,
24,382, .1.24,500,,
1,10055 ., ., 8,863 1
‘(43576 Dot -.--=1a.5§.1.|,
6,885 4,923

169,711 .

'$°215,6094°$' 2061758

v
Pl Tara ~e P o 7ta td

"4,732"

Accounts payable ............ PR RARSRS e Tlgh 287 s
‘Accrued-expenses and other-citrent liabilities:f b.ion:, . ... RPN R T -' am"14 360=u.2112,823
Curreént portionof capital I€asé ‘obligations ;.. . 1wl e, '. ;..', ..... ALY 2 10051 1,313 .
Current portion of long-term debt ... .. S e deporm A el e N s [ 6048 5o 5507
Deferred TEVEIUE, 5 g T F S5 3 i 3 L T T T T L i 3,557 . 6,105 !
" Totallcurrent hablhtles T R R R RS PRRY “".'.:?‘.1' LA T e o ‘23, 498 25 523
Capltal lease obhgatlons net of current portl.or‘l..‘. [RESTIITITIRE _..":... s . L 3 493 ‘ 1 046
I_ong-term debt net ofcur{ent portnp\r; AT T e T (’ N .212 062'! ‘ 155 653
Deferred gam on sale leaseback eI .. Cntrennts .rh.ﬂ.:.; ) ,25,716, 27 654
Def‘erred reveque”.}.‘i TN I VA L e e 'f'h'_l"ul 6219 6219

Commitments and contmgencnes (Note 13)
Stockholders’ deficit:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; Authorized: 6,716,666 shares; Issued
and outstanding: NONe. .. .. ... ..ottt e
Common stock, $0.001 par value; Authorized: 100,000,000 shares; Issued
and outstanding: 61,556,985 and 61,555,985, respectively, at
December 31, 2006; and 54,762,095 and 54,742,595 respectively, at
December 31,2005 ... ... .. ..
Additional paid-incapital ... ... ... .. L
Notesreceivable............... PP
Deferred compensation ...t i e
Accumulated deficit. .. .. ... . e,
Accumulated other comprehensive income ........ ... ... ... ...
Treasury stock, 1,000 and 19,500 shares stated at cost at December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively ... ... .o i
Total stockholders’deficit ...............cciiiii i,

*

‘!Li..x_;!".' .

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit

..........................

[ AL !' AERE S| B l['

il % opial AT .,

APLAGUDM RS A 0t 2
Y, ' sl

62 55
483052 444,401
(2,778)  (2,898)
— (418)
(535,688)  (450,215)
(22) (139)
5 (123)
(55379) __ (9,337)

$ 215,609 § 206,758

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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deCODE:genetics, Iné:

VT U E 2 HCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS. . 7. . #0
For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
S et (In thousands, except per
R : rag o N onh ryoMh B . wor share amounts)
Revenue'..... e N st TR LT $740,510 0 8 43,955 ., $42,127
Operating expenses: o ' T :
Costofrevenue ... ST 42,660 37,263 - 43,407
Researchanddevelopment ............. ... ... .o 0 57,108 43,748 ' 24,942
Selling, general and administrative . .......... e 25,206 20,118 + 20,187 -
Total operating expenses ........ e e 124974 101,129 88,536
Operating loss. .. ..o i e e e e (84,464) * (57,174). (46,409)
Interestincome............... e e e e 6,685 6,397 = - 2,903
Interest eXpense .. ... .ottt (7,808) (7,484) '. (8,983)
Other non-opérating (expense) and income, net . .................. 114 (4,489) (4,766)
Netloss.......ocoovuieunen.. e T PO e $(85473) $(62,750) $(57,255)
Basic and diluted net loss pershare ...............c.cooiiiiiinn. $ (149 $ (117) $ (107
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share ....... - 57,465 53,824 53,423
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.” ...
1 ! .
i {
Con
1 : TRV [T L ar 1 .
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deCODE genetics, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF.CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

T ' T E ) Accumulated
. . Other
P oL ' ’ Additlonal Comprehensive Total
. Common Par Paid-In Notes Deferred Accutulated lacome Treasury Stockbolders'
. . o 0 Stock ., Yalue Capital Receivable Comp L] Deflcit {Loas) Stock Equity {Deflcit)
Balance at January 1, 2004 . . ... ... .. 53,735,230 354 $430,489 ©  $(4,240) $(572) $(330,210) §°3 s(2117) 5 93,4077
Issuance of common stock and warrants, . 689,703 1 11,507 A i) L 13,6290
Issuance of common stock upon exercise -, . .Y
of stock options . .. ... .. PR ' 114,657 . 519 T . : . vt sy
Compensation arising fl'D'l':'l stock . Lo fpeies ) i R
OPLIOMS . . ..ot aiie s ) 484 nt ' . ' - R
Cancellation of note receivable and - P . . o T g T . P! :
forfeiture of commonstock .. ... ... {17,521} 124 (124)"" —
Paymentof notes. .. ... ! .. 1,002 . .- B RERET P 1,002
Amortization of deferred compensation, . . 572 o . 52
Comprehensive income (loss): * A ' B : N M .
Net loss for the period =% ... .. ... . o . {57,255) L ey 4 p (57.255)
Onher comprehensive income (loss): . R
Foreign currency transtation . . ... .. .. v . . . . . .10 . . . 10
Unrealized gain on marketable mcurilics._ . R , e - "o 25 ¥
Total comprehensive income (loss): - st -t e - (57.220)
Batance at December 31,2004 ... 0, .0 54522069 55 442999 EN 2L - . 387,465 38 (120) . 52,396
Issuance of commeon stock to consultant. . 15,000 04 104
[ssuance of restricted commen stock . . .+ 57,944 526 (526) . P S e -
Issuance of commoa stock Upon exercise ' : : A - LR W 20
ofwarrants , . ... .. ... ..., ... 47,222 LT - LI vyt e it
[ssuance of common stock upoen exercise : -
ofstockoptions . ............... 102,860 439 439
Compensation arising from stock VL .o R s s . s
options. . .......... seot 333 . o i Y e T wl 333
Cancetlation of note receivable and
forfeiture of commonstock . ..... .. (2,500) 3 [©)] —
Paymentofmotes. . ............... 21 210
Amortization of restricted stock and
deferred compensation .. ... ... ... 108 108
Comprehensive income (loss): .
Netloss fortheperiod .. ......... ., (62,750) (62,750)
Cther comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign curtency translation ... ... ... {3 3)
Unrealized loss on marketable sccurities . (174) (174
Total comprehensive income (loss): . {62,927)
Balance at December 31,2005 ... .. ... 54,742,595 55 444,401 (2,898) 418 (450,215) (139) (123 (8337
[ssuance of common stock upon public
offering, net of offering cxpenses of
$2276. ... 6,000,000 6 27.5%4 124 27.724
[ssuance of commen stock for the
acquisiion of UVS . . ............ 635.006 1 6,081 6,082
[ssuance of common stock upon cacicisc
ofoptions .. ,._............... 178,796 830 (1 870
¢ of restricted stock . ... < 7,588 —
Elimination of deferred emplayee stock-
based compensation upon adoption of
SFASIZR .0\ vriervvnanr e (418) 418 —
Compensation arising frotm stock
OpHONS . . .. ... 4,301 4,301
Cancellation of note receivable and .
forfeiture of common stock .. ... ... (1,000) 6 (6) —
Paymentofnotes. . ............... 124 . 124
Amortization of restricted common stock. 213 . 213
Comprehensive income (loss):
Ness loss for the period. . ......... .. (85.473) : (85.473)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign curvency translation . . ....... 1 10
Unrealized loss on marketable
securities. . ... 107 107
Total comprehensive income (loss): _ 85,356
Balance at December 31,2006 . ... .. .. 61,555,985  $62 $483,052 {2,778 5§ — $(335,688 5 (2 L)) ${55.3719
_— — _—— —_— —_—— —_—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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deCODE genetics, Inc.
» CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS .,

SR T T N e WL T LT L LS L For the Years Ended
: December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(ln thousands)
Cash flows fron) operating activities: L- P ‘
Nt dO8S . o i e e e $ (85 473) $ (62 750) $ (57 255)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operatmg actmtles Se
Depreciation and amortization,... ... c... 0. ... ..., AP e e A 389 t .7,611n " --‘14,135
Amortization of deferred gain on sale-leaseback of real estate. . .. .. .. ceeeee o, (1,938) 0 (1,394) — .
Charges for debt extinguishment. ..., .0 .0 0 00 T T = 1,741, -
LSS ON AIVESIMEIIS + v v\t v s esse ettt e ee e et e s e ene e eenneneanens — 1,044 - b
Stock-bascdcompensauon...............................1 ...... s : 4514 .41 L17
Gain (loss) on disposal of eqiipment, net, .. .......... 5. ..., PO S ’{685) 7 883
Chatges for write-down of obsolete and excess materials and supplics R BTSNV 63'iLl o117
Loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments . .. .. T P . Cm = It - 1,465 .
Foreign currency exchange loss onIcelandic krona denomlnated debt ......... o 8 L 262 62y ¢ 2,936
Amortizition of debt discount..." . ", 7. ... L0 e . - T
Amortization of deferred financmg costs .. L L PUDULE T T kL -‘949‘ 872
Other.ain oo sl T e Saesedo il (33) e 31) . - (177)
Changes in operating assets,and liabilities; v, 01 ., ipir oo - N R e TR L L R
Recewables ......... P R ETRT PRREPRPPITD s « +« (379) C(1456y 47
Other current assets’ .. *, .3 1.0 et LT (3,643) 037 L1740
Accounts payable {1,986) (1,097) 476

Accrued expenses 652 3,399 2 224
Deferred revenue AN LooeE (4 760)" -7 (3, 550) ? 1,857
Other'.. ... ;o as b ool o : Fe it Loyl — L — ~139 .
Net cash-used in operating activities . :.............. e e e T (85 169) . (54 033) (29 936)-
CASH FLOWS FROM lNVESTING ACI'IV[TIES . . . TN o
Purchdse ofmvcstmcnts. D S S D Lol (326,070)' d (230,678) (248,040)
Sale of invéstments ;2% ... &L, Bt .’. AT R 285,655 - 261,920' ' 125,950

Purchase of property and equipment-.. ST
Proceeds from sale of property and cqulpmcnt

{6, 232) no (3968)i,. - (2,695)
L. 909, 62452 . . 39-

Acqmsmon of UVS, net of cash acqulred _ : 1 270 —_ -
Change in festricted'cash. .. ;.. 00 00, ; : Lol e T e ‘60009 1 L
Other. & ..uoy SN TN Y .'...a‘m.i, 94 - " C106 - . 93
Net cash {used in) prowded by investing activities.............. Wit {44,424) 95,832 1. (124,653)"
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from convertible debt offering; net of financing Tosts™. .. ¢/, .. ... T 152947 .. ¢+ — v 143,805
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and wamants ..., ........ .. v 1 28,660 1. 439. .. 14,153
Repaymcnt of notes receivable for common stock .......... . e 156 . . 210, 1,002
PAymeénts on lme‘of credit .0 Lo .". T .';.‘, ! .‘_.‘L ! = (4 500) (2,000)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings. . T. [0 2 L oL i A T e 600 1. S L1199+
Repayments of short-term borrowings . ;. 'm0 o siie o e, T (268 (569)«; C o {550)
Proceeds from equipment sale-leaseback financing. ................ P 5,038 1,200 436
Proceeds from equipment financing . .. ... ... ... i . 889 | — N
Proceeds from swap termination . . .. .....ouuirireriniae e T R 1
Debt refinanciig COSt . . .o ov ettt et e e e e e e — (59) . .(478),
Repayments of debt and capital lease obligations .......................... (2,490) (42 815} (11 ,049)
«,, Netcash prov;ded by (used in) financing activities, . .o 5. ..o . 85,532 (46,094) | ._ 156,158
Net (decrease} i mcrease in cash and cash equwalents P .' C . (44,061) (4 295) 1,569
Cash and cash equivalents at bcgmmng of pcnod B ST S ' 77650943 - T 70238 - 68,669 ‘
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period . . . ." T L ST S R '$' 21,882 "S" 65943° § 70,238
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for 1erest . . ... i tre i irrrts s iiier s tinnnnsearennnns $ 6017 § 6608 8 ;-6250 -
Supplemental schedule of non-cash transactions o
Deferred gain dn'sale of praperty and equipmentad, . ivun i, eeanies. W8, 336 © 8§ 20270 ..8..: —
Note receivable for sale of property .. ... oo i toin i, SR o222, - L,
] f - .

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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déCODE genetlcs, 'Inc.
NOTESlTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.4+, (tabular amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

i

I BN

l_!;_ . e . -

\ .
1L Organization and Business el e A e e
A\ . '
References in these ﬁnancral statements to deCODE refer-to deCODE genetics, Inc., a Delaware _;,
company, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Islensk erfdagreining.ehf., an Icelandic company:registered in
Reykjavik, and its sub51dlanes and MediChem Life Sc1ences Inc., a‘De]aware corporatlon and its ',_" ,

subsidiaries. - | . r s et g

e

"' With its headquarters in Reykjavik, Iceland, deCODE is a biopharmaceutical company. developmg
drugs and DNA-based diagnostics based upon its discoveries in the mhented causes of common diseases.

deCODE’s population approach and resources have enabled 1t to isolate genes and targets directly o
involved in the development of many of the biggest challenges to' publlc health. ’deCODE is'focused on ". '
turning these fmdmgs into.a pipeline of products which it believes will be able to combat the ca]use of
disease, not just the signs and symptoms. deCODE’s customers include major pharmaceutlcal compames*
biotechnology firms, pharmacogenomics companies, government institutions, universities and other s s
research institutions. deCODE’s business is global, with its principal markets in the United States and m

Europe. e

deCODE’s focus is on the discovery and commercialization of novel therapeutics based on genetlc
information identified in deCODE’s population-based gene dlscovery work. deCODE has 1ntegrated
capabilities for applying'genetic findings to the development of drugs, both through its proprietary
programs and in alliance with corporate partners. deCODE is also applymg the links rt has 1dent1t" ed
between genetlc factors and dlsease to create DNA based tests which can also be used {6 1dent1fy patlents
with increased risk of developing a disease or to predict which patients will respond well to a glven drug i
therapy. deCODE believes that such tests will become a standard part of healthcare wnthm the coming
decade, making it possible to gauge individual predisposition to a partrcular illness and to desrgn effectwe
preventwe strategies; to complement traditional clinical diagnoses; and to 1dent1fy patients who are hkely

to' respond or not respond to particular drugs. - P L S e e s
T AR R SRR PIEL R v,

In addition to conducting work on targets in deCODE’s collaborative and internal programs, the
chemistry group provndes drug discovery work for fee-for-seivice customeis! deCODE’s other sefvice
offerings include. protein crystalhzat:on products and protein structute analysrs contract services through
its Seattle-based biostructures group; pharmacogenomics and clinical trials services through its Encode
sub51dlary, and DNA analysrs services through its genotypmg laboratory in Reykjavtk T

Seat Lt L LI

' .\..

2..Significant Accounting Policies o o Ty

Bas:s of Presentation

[ e ' T o
These financial statements are reported in Umted States'dollars deCODE ] functronal currency, and
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. .
Tabular amounts are stated in thousands, except per share amounts. . - .. . v L e

. - j} n

Principles of Consolidation ‘ o . . o e l

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operatlons of deCODE genetrcs Inc
and its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned All significant mtercompany accounts and transactions

have been ehrnmated

I I T L ST VI [T MRS JOSL T ST BPIE LTY - S 1



deCODE genetics, Inc.
NOTES TO,CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: (Continued)
(tabular amounts in.thousands; except share and per.share amounts)

Use of Estimates and-Assumptions, i .-+ in. ri, - Cronontudig iy a0 G e 0 e ey

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally Accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make certain estimates-and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the.disclosure-of contingent-assets-and liabilities at the .
dates-of the financial statements.and the reported:amounts of revenues-and expenses during the reporting -
period. On an origoing basis deCODE evaluates its. estimates, which'include,-among others, those related
to collaborative arrangements, property and'equipment, income taxes, litigation-and other.contingencies, .,
materials and supplies valuation, derivatives, goodwill and intangible assets, and bad debts. deCODE bases
its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that management.,believesto be.- .
reasonable under the cucumstances the results of which form rts basis for, makmg ]udgments about .
carrymg vilues of assets and llabrlttles that ‘are not readtly apparent from ‘ther sOUTCés. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. '

Uncertainties

deCODE 1s subject to nsks common to compames in the brotechnology 1ndustry meludmg, but not
lrrnrted 10, development by deCODE or 1ts competltors of new t technolog1cal mnovatlons ability to marketf
products or serwces dependence on key personnel ‘dependence on key supplrers and many of deCODE’
materials’ and supplles protectlon of propnetary technology, abrllty to obtaln addrtlonal financrng, abrlrty

K
to negotlate collaboratwe arrangements and complrance wrth govemmentfa}rand ‘olther regulatlons .
o e ol vy T 0 [ ’

TR HPR LI v.'é FEcb e Ln ety catenre e
:Nh.!\ru' Lo s Tt
At December 31, 2006, deCODE has no significant off-balance sheet concentrations of credit risk
such as foreign exchange contracts, option contracts or other foreign hedging arrangements:-Financial .
instruments that potentral]y sub_]ect deCOI‘)E'to congentrajtklons of credit r1;sk consrst prmcrpal]y of
'mvestments made prlmarrly in hrgh-grade commercral paper, auct1on rate securrtres money market funds,
mutual fund rnvestments government and hdn government debt securrtles fnd recelvables These o
instruments are subject to rlsk of default changes in credrt ratlng and changes in market value R
Investments are also subject to 1nterest rate risk and wrll decrease in value if market 1nterest rates increase.

deCODE s cash and cash equrvalents are deposrted wrrh ﬁnancral 1nst1tutrons m Iceland the Umted
Krngdom and'thie Unitéd Statés having a htgh credit’ ranng (A-/A3 or better) Deposrts with banks' may
exceed the amouint of insurance provided on such depasits. Generally, thése deposits may be rédeemed
upon demand and, therefore, bear minimal risk.

Concentration oflf sk

»

TR S SN
At December 31, 2005 20% of. consolrdated recelvables were due from Roche At December 31, 2006
and 2005 37% and 18%, respectlvely, of consolldated reCelvables were ‘dué from. U S Government !

. L AT HI ]
agencres ‘ C - . .
L o L Ji‘ A i‘l‘ l“‘ AR -i'.. l' "‘ o :4'!“ -)'\J' '.'lJ. - r'”.» to iy Js
------ N A Lo A T LR I PRRT PR L2 NI : '
Fair Value ofF:mmcml Instruments . ML Y . L N .
. LA TR RIS L 11 ER LU ' e vt e ot

'u'l'he fair value ofashort term financral instruments, including cash and cash equrvalents 1nvestments
receivables, certain other current assets, trade accounts payable, certain accrued liabilities, and other '
current liabilitics approximates their carrying amount in the financial statements due mainly to the short
maturity of such instruments. Based on borrowing rates currently available to deCODE for mortgage loans
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deCODE genetics, Iné.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

and capital lease obligations with similar terms, the carrying value of such of its debt obligations. -
approxrrnates farr value.. Les o . .

] -' i hilae ot it t

The fair values of equlpment notes at December 31 2006 and 2005 were approxrmately $792, 000 and:
$281,000, respectively,.as estimated based on quoted-market rates for instruments with similar terms and
remaining maturities. The fair value.of the 3.5%-convertible notes at December 314 2006 and 2005 was + + =
approximately $170,756,000 and $123,375,000, respectively. The fair.value of.the convertlble notes was
based on the quoted market prtces at. December 31, 2006 and 2005. <. v o o -

A |, H MITIN] . PN T M L v e torppes

CashandCash‘Eqmvatems I . e T S

nghly liquid mvestments wnth a maturlty of ninety days or less at the date of purchase are consldered
cash equivalents. ~~ e -
Investments e

deCODE invests its excess cash balances in marketable securities. deCODE classifies all of its
mvestments as avallable for sale Avatlable-for-sale investments are reported at fair value as of each ‘
balance sheet date and 4 any unreahzed gams and losses are reported in stockholders eqmty in accumulated
other comprehcnswc income. Fatr value i 1s generally dctermmcd with'réference to quotatrons in active
markets. Prémiums and dlscounts assocnated with mvestments in bonds are amorttzed using the effectlve )
interest rate method. If any adjustment to fair value reflects a decline in the valué of the investment, is -
determined to be “other than temporary”, the investment is marked to market through a charge to the
consolldated statement of operatlons ' oo

. -
(x] N - : . €
Ty ' e P . Lo Cor (AT ot L

LI

MatenatsandSupphes e T I I I L

Matenals and supphes included'i in deCODErI’s other current assets are valued at the: lower of cost o
(flrst in, first-out method) or market deCODE evaluates fatérials and supplles levels and’ expected usage '
on a periodic basis and records wrrte-downs of value for obsolescence as required. At December 31, 2006
and 2005 materlals and supplles were valued at $2 290 000 and $1 158 000 respectwely

st e

In 2006 2005 and 2004, deCODE used matenals and supplles for which it had made provisions for in
priof years as slow- movmg, excess and obsolete benefltmg othermse reportcd research and dcveIOpment .
expenses by $837, (}00 $816 000 and $1, 411 000 respectrvely ’

f .4
Pmperry and Eqmpment s

Property and equnpment are r'ecorded at cost Deprecratron is computed usrng the straight -line
method over the estimated useful livésof the relatéd assets of generally fifty years for buildings, three to'
four years for laboratory equipment, five years for furniture and fixtures, and three to five years for other’
equipment. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, while major betterments are capttaltzcd
When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the assets and related acéumulated depreCIatton or
amortization are eliminated from the accounts and any resultmg gam or loss is reflected in the statement
of operations:y . ...t y i N B »

Yy
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deCODE genetics, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) .

(tabular amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Capitafl.eases R 7' P L W :‘,J., Lot

Assets, held under capltal lease agreements are 1n1t1ally recorded at the lower of the falr market value
of the related asset. or the present value of the future mlmmum rental payments using | interest rates
appropriate at the 1ncept10n of the lease. Property and equnpment subject to capltal lease agreements are
amortized over the shorter of the life of the lease or the estimated useful life of the asset unless the lease
transfers ownership or contains a‘bargam purchase optlon in which case the leased asset is amortized over
the estimated useful life of such asset. . T U I S

' [N . . B
' M » . " e

Imparrment ofLong-LwedAssetsand Goodwdl : Ty R SR oo

deCODE' penodlcally rev1ews long-lwed assets for potentlal lmpalrment whenever events or changes
in circumstances 1nchcate that the carrymg amount of an asset may ot be recoverable Recoverablllty of
assets held for use is méasred by comparing the ¢ cartymg amount of an’asset to the undiscounted
estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. In estimating expected future cash flows
for determining whether an asset is impaired, assets aré grouped at the lowest level for which there are
identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the.cash flows of other groups of assets. If any such
assets are considered to'be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is the amount by which the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds its fair value. i [ ~ o coeta b

deCODE reviews goodwill annually and whénever evénts or changes in-circumstances suggest that the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. For purposes of the goodwill impairment tests, deCODE
identifies its reporting units, identifies the assets and liabilities of the reporting units-and performs -
impairment tests on the goodwill associated with them: Goodwill.impairment is deemed to-exist if the net ..
book value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair valtte. To identify potential impairments deCODE
compares fair.value of a reporting unit with-its carrying amount, including goodwill. For this purpose,:
deCODE estimates fair value of a reportmg unit using-analyses.of comparable companies and recent~ .. f
comparable transactions. .. -.lu, . . B I e : :

l)l; [P '}3 l‘Ui W ',',','_14"|'ll‘.'n'.: ‘ [ ' 1 st

Finance Costs Related to Long-Term Debt : : N : :

Costs associated with obtaining long-term debt are deferred and amortized as interest expense over
the term of the debt. Remaining unamortized deferred fi inancing costs included in long-term assets were
$6,812,000 and' $4,783,000 at- December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. .

RevenueRecogrrmon A I ) e P 4- .t ‘ -

St Fifs r?, cF e Y PR PR

deCODE records revenue provrded that there is persuaswe evrdence that'4n arrangement exists, the
price is fixed and’ detenmnable services were rendered and collecnb:l:ty is reasonably assured. deCODE
has entered into research, development and commércialization allianéés and collaborations with' major
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. The key components of the commercial terms of such
alliance arrangeéments typically include one or more of the following: research funding; up-front, o
exclusivity;technology access, and technology development fees; milestone payments; license .or o
commercialization fees; and royalties or profit sharing from the commercialization of products. . "

- deCODE's revenues from research-and development collaboration agreements are recorded and
recognized in accordance with the applicable performance requirements and terms of the respective
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contracts, generally either (i) as contract research costs are incurred, usually ratably over the period of .y
effort, (u) accordmg to the level qf efforts expended based on the ratio of contract research costs incurred
to expected total costs or (m) upon the achlevement of substantwe mllestones deCODE’s accountrng
recognition pohc1es wnth respect to each mgmfrcant elefnent ‘of deCODE s revenue lS summarlzed

AL -"J(JJ}-‘J"’J“‘-L o e a PR
as follows B It " 1

ST e Lt l"ul/..‘;l.mr.-; R ;!. l‘ I LT P I
< Research funding and other sérvice fees.: ' Research funding is recognized-as earned, typically ratablyi., .
over the period of effort. Funding payments are not refundable in thé event that the rélated efforts-are not,
successful. Other service revenues from negotiated rate contracts are recognized based upon the terms of
the underlying contract generally either (i} on a per diem basis as services:are rendered; (ii) on the . basis of
efforts expended generally upon t the ratro of costs mcurred to total expected costs of prowdmg the service;
determinable; Included m revenue are bnlhngs to customers ‘for the cost of materla‘fs] purchased '
IR N R LN R R A S T : aeds
bydeCODE T P T T BT -‘vrr' PRI S S R Lot s
Mdestone payments - Under the substantive mrlestone method deCODE records revenue when the "
milestone has been achieved,and payment is due and payable under the terms of the respective agreement -
and deCODE recognizes revenue.whén-acknowledgement of achievément of applicable performance.
requirements is received from the collaborator. Milestone payments withoirt thé-above characteristics are
recogmzed ona retrospectwe basis gver the contractual term. of the underlymg agreement.

0 T TR LA 3

P

*. ¥ In arrangements with multiple elernents ifithe mllestonc is substantive in nature and there is °
uncertainty in the achievemnent of the milestone.and there is.no further obllgatlon on the part of deCODE
deCODE records revenue when the milestone has been achieved and.-paynient is due and payable under.
the terms.of the respective agreement and deCODE recognizes revenue when'acknowledgementof .. -
achievement of applicable performance requirements is-received from the collaborator (“‘Milestone 1.+ =,
Payment Method™).rIf the milestone isiearned.and there-is further obligation under the contract for 7" :. 1. .
performance by deCODE, then deCODE wilt record revenue when the milestone has been achieved and-. .
payment is due and payable under the terms of the respective agreement and deCODE retroactively
recognizes revenue through the current period based on the total contractualiterm’and amortizes thewn..
balance over, thc remalnmg contractual term.

R A AL U T AR

 Up-front, exclus:vrty, technology'access, 'andftechnot’ogy deveiopment fees.ur. deCODE. recogmzes revenue’
from non-refundable fees not specifically tied to a separate earnings process ratably over the expected - -
customer relationship period or estimated period of performance. Changes in estimates could impact
revenue in the period the estimate is changed. If deCODE’s estimate of the period of performancé ..
shortens or lengthens the amount of revenue.we recogmzed from such non- refundable fees.not speaﬁcally
tled toa separate earnmgs process cor{rldI !mcrease of decrease in the perlod the. change m estrmate

becomes  known, future related revenuess\?opld be adjusted accordrngly R T S

Gram ‘Revenue. . “Research grants and.congracts that pr0v1de for payments to deCODE for work
performed are recognizeéd as revenue'when the related expense is incurrediand deCODE has obtamed
necessary governmental approval to uséithe grant funds for these ‘expensesiRevenues under.these « v -
contracts will be'recognized as deCODE'incurs costs related to the contracts.:- . '» . .0 Trovitd oo s

Deferred-Revenue.: . In-general,prerequisites for billings are-established by contractual térms including
predetermined payment schedules, the achievement of contract milestones, or submission of appropriate
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billing detail: Deferred revenue représents amounts billed'in accordance with contract terms but not yet + ..
recognized according to deCODE’s accounting policy. Unbilled costs and fees arise when revenue has
been recogmzed but custorners have not been brlled - o o,

i - ¢ 4 T T PR R
I T ”r L I T S SPYs P DL S te LA PR w i

C ost of Revenw’

L T T P 3 B Cer . TV
deCODE s cost of revenue is comprrsed of costs of services provided to customers and collaborators,
including the entirety of costs incurred in connection with programs that have been partnered and on
which deCODE receives research funding. At times, deCODE may dedicate additional resources and incur
costs in addmon to costs coyered by research fund1ng received in such colla(boratrve programs. Major
components of deCODE’s cost of revenue mclude personnel costs narnely salanes benefits and stock-
based compensatlon nrraterrals and supplles services contracted for research actlvmes other third party
fees and costs deprecratlon of property and equrpment amortlzatron of patents and other 1ntang1ble

I ..
assets and 1terns of overhead 1ncludmg allocatlons of varrous admrmstratlve and facrlmes related COsts,

4" } ' -

' o Y P

Research and Development Expenses

All costs associated with internal research and development and research and.development services,
including pre—chmcal and cllmcal tr1a| studles whrch deCODE has extcmally contractediare expensed

5o Tar el
as mcurred 4 e

PULIRNLAR RN B (ST IS It LR [P FYR WP 1S T £ 1 H ) o ey !

A L SRTEI S IR T R SR APUIEIRUITS SRRV et

Patent Casts

RTINS

PLoa

TR B e T R S o LR IRE i I R P S SO

Patent appllcatlon costs are charged to legal expense as 1ncurred and classrﬁed n selhng, general and

adnnnlstratlve expense. A . MATRBIREITD e ST
4 IR .YT..rJ. L ' v Coomglip e gty ‘-.'[-,‘,:‘1.'

Stock-Based Cornpensation .'r' e . 9 - ' ! ;ihy" leb B 1'“” o v :, . B ‘:‘ :1'{" C "’

On .Ianuary 1, 2006, deCODE adopted SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”), which
requires companies to recognize in the statement of operations the grant-date fair value'ofstock awards .
issued to employees and directors. deCODE adopted ; SFAS 123R usmg the modified prOSpectrve transition
method. In acoordance w1th the, modrfied prospectrve‘transmon method deCODE’s Consohdated
Financial Statements for prror perrods have nét been restated to reflect the lrnpact of SFAS 123R )
deCODE elected to use the short-cut method for determmmg the hlstoncal pool of wmdfall tax benefrts in
accordance w1th FASB Staff Posmon SFAS 123R 3 Tmnsmon Eiection to Accoummg for the Tax Ejj’ects of
Share: Based PaymenrAwards and the tax law ordenng approach for purposes of deterrplmng whether an

excess tax benellthas been reahzed o - ;
.'-t-t)'ll LA B (R L A l oo

 Priorto the adoptron of SFAS 123R, deCODE applied Accounting Principles Board Oprnron ey
No. 25 (“APB 25”), Accounting for Stock Issued to-Employees; and related interpretations to:account for

stock-based cornpensatron granted_itlo “-""}PI,QY‘?ES- T S VP
FPLLET B ' 5 T Y AFURS RN e STV} VA LA AT B SR LR Ty l"(} PO S Lot
Fare:gn Currency Translatwn , . - .
'.’ " -t | R L TRV i m '-Jll"' | -

- e

* deCODEs functronal currency is. the U.S. dollar. One of its subsidiaries uses the local currericy; the v
Icelandic krona;, as the functional.currency. For this entity,ithe assets and:liabilities are translated into ...
U.S..dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date: Income and expense items are translated
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at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Gains and-losses from translation are included ..,
in accumulated other.comprehensive income.,i. .t oy vV O S

L S0 ., . . -

Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are reported actording to the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction date and are included in the consolidated statements of operations classified as other
non-operating income and expense. Net transaction and translanon gams (losses) recorded were $114 000,
$(124, 000) and $(3 294 000) in 2006, 2005: and 2004 respectwely : .- '

AR S L ™ RN . L oo M"'?‘

IncomeTaxes v I IR I T A . she L e

deCODE accounts for tncome taxes usmg the liability method “which requrres the’ recogmtlon of
deferred tax assets or liabilitiés for the temporary dtfferences between the finanCIal reportmg and tax bases
of deCODE's assets and habthtles and for tax loss carryforwards at enacted statutory tax rates in effect for
the years in whtch the dlfferences are expected to reverse A valuatron allowance Is applled agamst any '
deferred tax asset if, based of the ‘weighted available evidence, it is more hkely ‘thh ot that'$éme or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. . . .
Computation of Net Loss per Share. - . .~ - ¢+ .. S S S R VNI P R UM

Basic net ioss der'“s'h"are is computed using net Idss available t6' dommon stockholders and thé o
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. The weighted-average number of commor
shares outstanding during the period is the number of shares determined by relating the portion of time
within a reporting pertod that common shares have been outstandtng to the total time in that perlod

'Diluted net loss per share is computed usmg the we1ghted average number of common shares }
outstanding during the period, plus the dilutive effect of potential common shares. Diluted net loss per o
share does not differ from basic net loss per share in all periods presented as potential common shares are,
antidilutive for all such periods and are, therefore, excluded from the calculatron '

Y 5 e S Lo, ) T . o)

RecentAccountmgPronouncemem i :J .y SRR TR S R T e

In June 2006 the Fmancral Accountmg Standards Board (“FASB”) 1ssued FASB Interpretatton

No. 4§, Accountmg for Uncen‘amty in Income Taxes an mterpreraaon of FASB Statement No. I 09
(“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accountmg for uncertamtles in income taxes recognlzed in an enterprtse s
financial statements FIN 48 requtres compames to determine whether it is more llkely than not that a tax
posmon will be sustamed upon examination by the approprtate taxing authortty Ifa tax posmon meets the

“more likely than not” recognition cntena FIN'48 i requires the tax posmon be measured at the largest o
amount of benefit greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. This '
accounting standard is effective for fiscal'years beginning after December 15, 2006. deCODE is evaluatmg
the impact of FIN 48:-onits financial position, results of operations and cash flows. - . . 1 e

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Valie Measurements (“SFAS 1577), whtch
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about the use of fair value
measurements and liabilities in interim and annual reporting periods subsequent to initial recognmon
Prior to the issuance of SFAS 157, which emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement-and
not an entity-specific measurement, there were:different definitions of fair value.and limited definitions for
applying those definitions under generally accepted accounting principles. SFAS 157 is effective for the

70




deCODE genétics; Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL:STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular amounts in'thousands, except share and per share;amounts)

Company on a prospective basis for.the'repoiting period beginning January 1, 2008. deCODE is currently
evaluating the impact of SFAS'157 onvits financial position, results of operations and cash flows. e

In February 2007 the FASB issued Statement-No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Fmancml Assets and
Financial Liabilities (“SFAS No. 1597). SFAS No.:159 expands opportumtres to use fair value measiirement
in financial'reporting and permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments-and certain * .
other items at fair value. This Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after Novembeér 15, 2007.-
deCODE has not decided if it will early adOpt SFAS 159 or if it will choose to measure any ehgrble
financial assets and liabilities at fair value: - Yo e o . R -

In September 2006 ‘th Securmes and Exchange Commlssron (“SEC”) 1ssued Staff Accounltmg .
Bulletin No. 108, Consrdenng the Eﬂ'ecls of Prior Year Missidtemenits When Quannfymg Misstatements in
Current Year Financial Statemenis (“SAB 108”) which provides guidance on quantifying and evaluating the
materiality of unrecorded misstatements. SAB 108 was effective for fiscal years endirig after November 15,
2006. SAB 10§ did not have-an impact on deCODE’s results of operatrons or financial position..

FER L A Vo e el e VL I R 1"'. ! I . '
3.Revenue .. . - v .oy . e : T O ". o
[ . L "
Slgmfrcant eleménts of deCODE’s revenu‘e are summarxzed s follows: ’ ‘
P d g ' HY . i
T “ o, . C o . v+ _ .=~ _Forthe Year Ended December 31,
, L T oL T T 2006 2005 2004
Lttty SN L L - - b (In thowsands) =~
Research fundmg and other servicefees ... ..5..... L L A . $18,907 $29,111. 331, 723
Milestone payments .............................................. vl v 702 1,216 . . 1,835
Up-front, exclusrvrty, technology access, and technology development ) _
fees. ! e L P L S T2000- 4,538 4,116
Grantfundmg....r...r...L ..... e e e e Loi.e 0 16,734 728700 2,032
Other ... e . 2,167 1,803 2421

$40,510, $43,955: 1 $42,127

Ao e TR Ot R P T )

'I'he followmg table represents revenue derwed by geographrc area; T |

L e . svope e e TTI006 2005 ¢ 12004
ETLS : N R TN - -+t (Inthousands), -
United States. ... .. T S R R R PR $16 816 - $15,486 .. ,$13,680
Iceland ....... e P P eeraane .23, 694 28469 . 28,447

. , “ Lot e U e e, 540, 510 . $43,955 ,_,,$42,127
s o TR B P R : L
Significant collaboratrve agreements contracts and grants are as follows AR o .
T A T A .
F., Hoﬁmann-La Roche (Roche) o )

T?zerapeuncs In 2002, we entered 1nto an agreement w1th Roche to collaborate on four dlseases that
had been the subject of an earlier collaboration with Roche. During 2004 and through January 2005, we
collaborated with Roche on two of those diseases. Under this agreement we discovered genes linked to
diabetes and Roche continues drug discovery based on one of these discoveries. Under the 2002
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agreement, which expired on February 1, 2005, we received $20.0 million in research funding and we-are
entitled to receive royalties-on the sales of any drugs that-are developed oommg out-of work conducted" -
under thls agreement

1

L L R R B A s S P T SR B IRAN

- In November 2004 we signed a new three-year agreement with Roche to co-develop inhibitors ofi.ii:\
PDE4 for the prevention and treatment of vascular disease, .including stroke. This agreement continues ..
work advanced.under the 2002 agreement, and we'will focus on optimizing lead compounds identified: ! ..
under the'previous agreement and beginning clinical development. Under-this agreement, asof - .- .23 7 7,
December 31, 2006, we have received $4.0 million of research funding. We will share drug discovery and .
clinical trials costs u1nder this new agreement, and we, may recelve an addltlonal $2.0 million of researc'h
fundlng over the remammg term of the agreement as well as mtlestope payments and royalttes based on

dru sales v ' f e
g T '.'»_, oy ,-J-. el g _,‘"‘I C“ oy 'lf o .

Dzagnosrics. In June 2001, we: sngned a five-year alliance with Roche s dlagnostlcs division and -
through June 2006 we collaborated to develop and market DNA-based diagnostics for major dlseases
During the term of the alliance, which has now expired, we received $44,250,000 in research funding, up-
front fees and milestone payments under the agreement and we may receive additional milestone~+ . :
payments upon the achievement of research and development mllestones byl Roche and royalnes on the
sales of diagnostic products developed by Roche.

'Reventies frori these’ alliances with Roche amounted to $6,722,000, $9 995,000 and $12,613,000 for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Costs incurred with these collaborative
programs with Roche amounted to $6,437,000, $8,257,000 and $19,475,000 for the years.ended -

Decémber 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectlvely . - L
. - _.; i

For the years ended December 31, 2006 2005 and 2004 Roche represented 17%, 23% and 30%,
respectively,. of consohdated revenue. . : e e e .

(I .o . .. . . . A

Merck & Co, Inc. (Merck) 1.

Obesity.  In September 2002, deCODE entered into a three year alliance with Merck aimed at
developing new treatments for obesity. Under the alliarice, déCODE 'combiried research efforts with*”
Merck in the genetics of obesity to identify, validate and prioritize a series of drug targets to take into
development During the three—year research program, which has now expired, deCODE has received
research funding, teehnology access fees and milestone payments in the aggregate amount of $26.3 million,
In addition, deCODE may receive further technology access fees in the total aggregate amount of $1:0' ‘
million. Subject to Merck’s developing products based on collaboration discoveries, deCODE may also '
receive development mllestones and royalties. deCODE has discovered three genes linked to obesity under
this alliance, and Merck has generated a lead series of compounds against one of the targets dcCODE
validated through deCODE'’s genetics.research. 1 . . ivine o i vrond = a0 v

Revenues from this alliance with Merck amounted $1,000,000, $6,325,000 and $7,850, 000 for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Costs incurred in connettion with this alliance with
Merck amouinted to- $0 $2, 933 000:and $4,630,000 for the years ended: December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectlvely ' PSR LT P T ST ST . -

CATes L 2Pk DL SEAVIT I S PRAn s e L T
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Information-Rich Clinical Trials. In February 2004, deCODE entered into an agreement with:Merck *
which provides that deCODE w1|l conduct mformatron -Tich chnrcal trials on a range ¢ of Merck’s . .
developmental compounds that Merck selects for mclusron in tlltJe program The term of the allrance is,
seven years sub]ect to ternunatlon by Merck after f,!‘,"‘" years 'I;he collaboratrion 1nvolved three{agree.me,n‘ts
(a) a Llcense and Research Collaboratlon Agreement (b) a Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement and
(©) a Warrant Agreement( Unper the terms of, the chensedand Research Collaboratron Agreement
deCODE will'receive royaltrcs on’ sales of drugs and dragnostlcs developed as part of the all1ance wrll
receive milestone payments as compounds or pharmacogenomrc tests reach the’ market will receive
research funding for the’ chmcal devélopmentiof. compounds and pharmacogenomic: analysrs and received -
a ofie-time-technology. access! fee of $10,000,000.:A contingency claiise on:the technologyiaccess fee .
provides that if deCODE rejects theé firstitwo.non-exclusive: development compounds that Merck presents
to'the collaboration; then Mérck has the right to request a refund of $2;500,000 of the.technology access -
feé. The remaining amount of the technology access'fée is non-refundable: To date, Merck has not*s.
selected any compounds for development under the agreement. A I I ol AV

r

. ".Under the-terms of the Stock and' Warrant Purchase’Agreément; Merck pufchased 689,703 shares of
deCODE’s common stock at a price of $14.50 per-sharetor $10,000,000, which:represénts a-premitiin of *
$2,700,000 to the fairmarket value of the stock on.the effective’dateof the:agreemient. ($10'60 per share). -
Accordingly, of thé $10,000,000 cash feceived; deCODE ascribed $7:300,000:to the’ comfnoh stock and : -
$2,700,000 to deferred revenue. Under the terms of the Warrant-Agreement, deCODE has issued Merck a-
warrant to purchase up to 1,724,257 of additional shares of deCODE’s common stock at an exercise pnce
of $29.00 per share over the five year term of the warrant. The warrant is exercisablefat’ Merck’sioptionas *
to 344,851 shares for a period of 30 days, commencing on the, first, second third, fourth and fifth ‘
anniversaries of the Warrant Agreement with the final pOl’thl‘l of warrants exprrmg in March 2009 Any
portion of this warrant that is not exercised during an applicable exercise period shall explre and be of no
further force oneffect. The warrant was valued at $6,300,000 using a Black Scholes model with the
following assumptrons lives of one to five years, risk free interest rates of 1.24% to 3.07%, volatility of
90% and no drvldend yield. The one-time technology access fee of $10,000,000 and the $2 700,000
premlum recerved on the sale of common stock less the estimatéd fair value of the warrant of $6 300 009
together nettmg to $6, 400 000, has been recorded as deferred revenue Thls amount less the refundable
amount of $2 500,000 ($3 900,000) is being recognized as révenue according to level of efforts over the
seven-year development term. The refundable $2,500,000 technology access fee wrll be recognlzed as
revenue accordmg to level of efforts retrospectwely over the seven year develr:)pment terrn commencmg
upon satlsfactron of the contmgency ‘

Reévenies from this alliance with Merck amounted to $0, $190,000 and $825,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005.and 2004, respectively. Costs incurred in connection with this alliance with Merck

amounted to $l) $144,000,and $1,313,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 2005 and 2004 Lt
respectrvely 5 T UL ST S U T A, AR SR A L P IR '-' LT

For the years enided December 31"2(}(}6 2005‘and 2004, total revenues from Merck represented 3%,
15% and 22%; fespectively, of consolidated revenue: R N RN -"'I e
et e R I P IT I SV IS TR SO L B TR (I
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GrantFunding B A ?',. I

deCODE has recetved vartous research grants from lelSlOl‘lS of the Umted States’ Natlonal Instrtutes
of Health (NIH), the' Cornmlssron of the European Communmes (EC): and prwate foundations. Research
grants for’ multlple years are based ¢ on approved budgets w1th budgeted amounts subject to approval on an"
annual basis. NTH grants generally provrde for 100% retmbursement of allowable expenditures’ whlle the =
grant under the EC generally provides for fifty percent relmbursement of allowable research and '

3ty . L
development related expendrtures deCODE’s stgmflcant research grants mclude e
. catet ey B

National Institutes afA[t‘ergy and Infecttous Diseases (NIAID). In September 2004, deCODE was
awarded a five-year $23,900,000 contract by the NIAID, a division of NIH. Under the contract, deCODE
will apply its population approach and resources to.discover genetic factors associated with susceptibility to
certain infectious diseases and with responsiveness to vaccines targetmg such discases. Revenues from this
contract with NIAID:amounted to $5,566,000, $4,042,000.and $138,000 for the years ended December 31,.
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. R P T S e,

- For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, deCODE recogmzed revenue of $16,734,000,
$7,287,000 and $2,032,000, respectively, from research grants. Costs incurred with research grants ,
amounted to $19,133,000, $7,724,000 and:$2,032,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and,
2004, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, divisions of NIH represented
33% 13% and 1%, respectively, of consolidated revenue. . 7. P

: A AU s " Co .
4. Research and Development Cooepe " R e '

deCODE’s research and development expenses consrst of the costs of lts own propnetary programs
and consist of the followmg '

oA,

ched : ' o : . For the Year Ended Decéber 31,

_ I ey e . 2006 2005 . _ 2004
v .. . L . (In thousands)

Salaries and other personnel costs ........................ $20 597 $18 072 $10, 233
Materials and supphes..." ...... AT et 7495 ) 4600 ) 3671'
Contractor services and other thtrd party costs ................ B .': ..... . 19,109 13 285 : 3, 938
Overhead expenses. . ... ... S S Lt CU 51070 1 46300 1,603
Depreciation and amortization | .. ... : B8 T 3089 5 123
Stock-based compensation ...\ UL 513, M2 ' 374

$57 108 " ’$43 748 $24 942

L (LY vl ! ol . PR ]

In November 2003, deCODE acquired an exclusive worldwide license from Bayer HealthCare ‘AG
(Bayer) to develop and commercialize a small molecule compound (now known-as'DG031) that is active ©
against a key target, located within an inflammatory pathway, made by a gene isolated at deCODE that
predisposes to myocardial infarction, or heart attack. deCODE is obligated to make development
milestone payments to Bayer as the compound advances towards market approval and wrll make.royalty -
payments to Bayer based upon sales of the compound as a marketed drug.
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In May 2006, deCODE entered into a strategic alliance with Illumina, Inc. (“Illumina”) to develop
and commercialize molecular diagnostic products. Under the terms of the agreement, deCODE and
lllumina will share development costs equally and split operatmg profits from the sale of dlagnostlc tests.

5. Net Loss Per Common Share

The followmg potentially, dllutlve common share equivalents were excluded from the calculatlons of
diluted net loss per share because their effect was antidilutive: :

5 For the Years Ended Deée'mber 31,
2006 : 2005 - 2004
A i . . . L (Shares) ' - . -
Warrants to pl'rrchése shares of common stock........ e T 2,385,022 2,729,873 3,124,733
Options to purchase shares of common stock.............. G, (4,975,074 . 4,702,702 o 4,689,942
Restricted shates subject to vesting or with an associated, Tt
outstanding non-recourse promissory note . .........o..vuon.. 709,497 774,787 788,800
Convertible shares 1ssuable , upon conversron of 3. 5% semor . et e .
convertible notes s .,.f.._. et ._ eyt 16,428,572 10,714,286 10,714,286
o7 ' | 24,498,165 18,921,648 19,317,761
VI e el P A S & T [ R - N
6. Investments ! i , ”,“" ' , I,‘ "\ " .‘.:a' | ‘, C . "::."j.“." -
deCODE's marketable securities are classified as avallable for sale These mvestments are classuﬁed in
current assets and are summarized as-follows: | 4 . L C oL car ey
R T P AR T (I ' f'AmonizEd"‘Estimated
T T TS SNy S LTI DU S R S L B T L vy Cost Fair Value
.- . . (ln thousands)
December3l 2006 . - AT T Tt g - EEEUE “ o '(,
Auction rate securities. ..... 0 ... o o T T 8105175 t$105 175
Govemmentdebtsecunties.....................................-.....L ..... 15,000 ' 14,959
Municipal bond...-7. .". . PR D LA e P S AL A L + . 5,000 - 5,000
Corporate, bOnd_..,.-_.,.'E....31....:..:.:,:,.-....f. R e e Tl - 5,000 1 5,000
$130,175 $130,134
December 31, 2005 S -
Auction rate Securities. ;.. .. ..v .., S b © $.69,760 - ' $ 69,760
Government debt SeCUrities : . % .o .. vevivetin e ie bttt s .. f0 15,000, + 14,851
Corporatebond 050 i L AN ST A U S NP BV L VRN 5,000 5,000
R I i P ot [T . PR L i $ 89,760 '$ 89,611
i"";"' (1 L d"vn'J" . . J.'-lzl‘. Lt i 4 b N -

Gross unrealrzed gains and losses wete $0 and $41,000 at December 31, 2006, respectwely, and $0 and
$149,000 at December 31 2005 respecnvely S Faehan e Anh
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7. Property and Equipmént st ae Nt :.ili-, ?v: R T | 4 AT | RN I R TTRNTUNEEY N ST
Property and eqmpment ConSlSt of! theifollowmg et .')' T ""J"”‘_ )'jtf“‘ "'A!"' " ’l
- | I . ! '- VI e o . - 4 NN
December 31,
v il stngr 12006 . 3 2005 -
. (In thousands)
B SN0 S UL L R AT SO L DI TR S0 5 A LS LA .‘.«.t.ru1$-= 2,303 $.2,303
Buildings ..............co i, r:—'.*!'.'. RN I ) S B TP AN Y. 7¢15,8000 16,138
I.aboratory EUIPIMEIIL. . L ottt et ettt e e 27,378 21,513
Fumlture and flxture§ et ""”i. ........................................... 5,302 3,877
Other eqmpment ........... SRS PO s i 2,457 4,354
L AR _f Leed L - N umN e e 253240 v ‘48,1857
Less: accumulatéd depreciaiié’n and amortization.............. JE ey i Lo d L (28,858) © 1(23,686)
Total,..oovn i TR S NTRE SO SR SR ST 1L/ 1 382 $ 24 500i

! . L O Ce e 4t .-- r. . o

December 31, 2006 2005 and 2004 was $6,049,000, $7,003,000 and $12,029,000, respectively”

Property and equlpment also includes amounts for certain fixed assets financed under other capital
lease obligations. Total cost and accumulated amortization relating to all of deCODE’s property and
equipment subject to capital lease obligations was $11,073,000 and $5,514,000, respectlvely, as of
December: 31, 2006 and $1;428,000 and‘$570,000 respectivély; as of December 311°2005.:deCODE’s capital
lease obligations are collateralized by the assets to which the obligations relates 10 2 ', - Aec e

.v . Inlight of experience and the current technological environment, in 2004, deCODE changed certain
of its Salvage value and useful life estimates for equipment and furniture and fixtures for purposes of
depreciation. These changes in estimates had the effect in increasing depreciation expense 2 and basicand
diluted net loss per share by $2,171,000 and SO 04 per share, respectively, for the year end
December 31,2004, T T T e T RV P

" Long-lived'assets located in the United States and Iceland were $25 356 000 and $20,457,000, v »te: -
respectwely at December 31, 2006 and $26,231,000 and $13,494,000, respectively-at December 31, 2005: +- *

e 4 "..“

Foi

8. Acquisition of UVS an .

PLTE naqalety
t.. On January-17, 2006, deCODE acquired.100% of the outstanding shares of Urdur Verandi'Skuld ehf.
(“UVS”), a privately-held cancer research firm, from Iccland Genomics Corporation, Inc. (“IGC?), both. 3
companies having their principal offices in Reykjavik, Iceland. To acquire UVS, deCODE paid - $6,137,000»
including 635,006 shares of deCODE common stock valued at $6,082,000 (based upon the average closing
price of deCODE common stock two days before and after the acquisition date) and approximately
$55,000 for acquisition related costs, As part,of the transaction, deCODE acquired research rights for
blaod and tissue samples and clinical data for various types of cancers whlch deCODE has added to its.
samples for research and development purposes. deCODE has included the results of operatmns of the
acquired entity in deCODE’s consolidated statements of operations from the date of acquisition. Because
the activity from the beginning of the period to the acquisition date was not material, no pro-forma
information is presented.
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The purchase price was allocated to the estimated fair value of the acquired tangible and intangible
assets and assumed liabilities as follows (amounts in thousands):

ARFT RTY
Wt cashlMTLLL. R U S PUUE P LIS I $1270 -
b Net liabilities acquired ....:..........coitiiii ity Atemgy
- Goodwill ....... B T I ST S S ARPPYSL RIS I 1) R
\'. Identlﬁablemtanglbleassets..........;.;...:...;::..;....;.:.:.;;:;.:- 4,395 o
e "‘4"’. '. . . ) . . - $6,137 - ¢

- +Thé purchasé price was allocatéd t5'the net assets'acquired based on‘their estlmated fair values at the
date of acquisition. The excess of the purchase’ pnce over the' estlmated fdir value of the net assets -' ¥ ¢
acquired amounted to $1,191,000, which was allocdted to'goodwill #Under I¢élandic tix Taw goodwﬂl 1s not :
deductible for tax purposes. o g

The identifiable intangible assets acquired consist of the exclusive rights to perfom research on blood.
and tissue samples and related clinical data which were valued at§4, 395, 000 and will be amomzed over a

period of 15 years, the estlmated useful life of the assets. - R B
C e e e e . L. s
9. Goodwnlland Otherlntanglbles o ‘ RN

deCODE’s goodwill resulted from the acquisitions of MednChem in 2002 and UVS i’ 2006. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually on September 30 of each year and whenever changes in the
circumstances indicate goodwill could be impaired. No goodwill impairment losses were recorded in the .
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004. FINCRUEERS RS DU LN A G WY | i bl o

Other intangible assets included in other long-term assets‘and deferred charges on the. consolldated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consist of the followmg

e U
--f; \ s For the Year Ended December 31, 2006
RS L Accumulated
Lol S . BT L LT '_ulGrossTA‘ll Amortization ' Net
) } v o ] . . (In lhousands)
Developed technology, Syearlife ...t 7$4,5607 . "84, 370, $ 190
Acquired research rights, 15yearllfe.:...'.....:..::..'.....'.....:.‘“ 4395“,1 .293 410
Patents, 5-7 yearlife. ..............00.......i.... e . 380 229, 151
Royalty-free licenses, 10 year life ......0..0..... 0 oo iis © 0 23007 110 120
Other, 5 year life......... L R RALTLE 320 | 307 13
Total'.....,..... . ?.".“.‘.‘.:‘...’.'..'..'.‘.'.'.".‘...'_‘.‘:...(.'..‘.?.3.f.‘.'.'.'.".‘f.“’"‘$9 885 o $5309 ' $4, 576
B L L R A e B B & T A N
't :.J' AL {c'.',w 5 AN l' iy VIS {f: \' Rl a b *_,'14‘.", ’r.a."il RURETE TR PR LR
T TIPPIT: SR AR SRLR WP SO U S R LY DL TR TAN
PR T IINERTE LR LTI D ISP BT LS SRS IR Lt PR AR IR
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VL ab arewtt L 14w 3 st pe 1., ., oForthe Year Ended December 31;2005
o L Accumulated - )
et ERT T e REY S Gross- 111U Amortization. ' <Net
{(In thousands)

Developed technology, Syearlife ............... ceeeerreieeaaao.. | 34560 $3458 ., $1,102
Patents, 5-7yearlife.................... ..., N . ..380,. ,..0181 199
Royalty-free licenses, 10yearlife ............................... . 230 87,,, 143
Other, 5 year life....... e Ceereeeas Beeerresiesieny, 3200 243 o 77
Total..... e e e i e e $5,490 $3, 969 $1,521

| Aggregate amortization expense, was $1,340,000, $1,047,000 and $1,047,000, respectively for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, rcspectwely These amounts were included in researcp and ik
development expenses for all penods presented. As of December 31, 2006 est:mated future. amortnzatlon .

expense is as follows: bt ean
V2007 .. U DTS ST il o8 567 -
CT2008. L R T e s e T 36 T
2009 . U R UL AL ST = 338 - w7
2000 - e et i e T 331
p11) ) O PO k331 T
¢ Thereafter.. ... ... i iiismioiteidianeaaaaaisarnennnnn eieeaees aee 2,645 .
) ’ . A e . A R TS L I AR
'10. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Lmbllmes ) B T K R SRR Y FPORY S
' Accrued expenses and other current hablhtles consist of the followmg T LTl
sttt Db R MY ST L VL LN PR T U e :,4!:
- j . DecemI;er31, "
l’, co_tat o] 2006 2005
PN {In thousands)
Salaries and other employee benefits. ........................ $ 6205 3§ 63814
- Accrued interest. e N 1,716 1107 o
- Accrued tegal ... "I e e, e 1,862 S v R
Other.current liabilities ................0.00 s 4577 UAT4 A
- Total-........... S S S S5 00 S I O ,,..$14,360 ‘$12,’823 ;""" ‘
¢ " T

.In January 2004, a then executive ofﬁcer of deCODE acqmred an ownershlp interest in Icelandair, the
only regularly scheduled commercial airline serving Iceland. From January 2004 through June 2004 (when
the executive officer left the employ of deCODE) deCODE incurred charges to Icelandair of $436,000 for
business travel by deCODE’s officers and employees. deCODE believes that the rates charged by
Icelandair are no less favorable than those it charges other customers. '
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11 Debt .. ) b Jhu tJ 1- Lt NPT e N P P R &V §
251 . e e - . . ot
TERET R oo . ¥ I T
Long term debt con51sts of the followmg R . oy .
R TTFT LT O T P I L e T
L 2 R L R | ,J ‘,..!r 0k '-'h I LR -/ -f.‘"' LN Ao e l“ AR Dec‘eiilberﬂ, l‘v oo
rr;‘. e tr ’:)tl .4'. . lJJ‘;l! g"'f 1N L lll'” ’«L i -h.,__ .\'t' 2006 cov 2008 ety S
; . ey .(In thousands) ey,
Vo Semor converttble notes net of dtscount of $23 736 000 and o .
- $0 at December 31 2006 and 2005 respectlvely e $206 264 $150 000 " -
' ' [T PR 1 ea.
Mortgage(loans ......... t'h't‘it"": ...... }..; ...... FASRIREE ”5611 5921 , R
" 41 Y NI fdas) Let . LA TR PRV Ke I .
Equ1pment notes ......... e S 791 282
s AN 1 1 YIS T LE S PR Y SO S NP VR N I T , T,
- JLTotal ...... U _ -;--';";,"",'“.', ........... RRPAPRPOp G 212666 o 156203 {
hot N wii! [ TR A A T 1 S M oSk .
(oo Less current portton A e PR 604 7, 550
- LIRS ¥ * - .'. [ i A - LR
. Long-term portron..._ BB e e PO - $212 062 $155 653
f - LRI P S Y C L VLR v T
R PRRTEL s B TOOTS f PRV llo ‘:J-l- FTEEY DTSN PELRRENURNT L LA F IO SR WO T G LT T I TR S
Aso,f_‘]_)_ecemberrii_l-,12006‘prin_cip_al,paytnents‘on long-term debt-are asfollows:. } ‘¢ ... .0 -1e,
2011 R U o TN R Y D '111 aa RT D e i, AL H230000tt t.
L T Y B L S CR RN ARUREL Sy REIP RS 0000w
e Thereafter.‘..’..._l.....[..l.%..i...L.‘.}............‘ ........ y ..'.r...j ...... r"'":(l:““ ’ .
Do : SNt win ESTT T VAN A W et
ay AR J‘:..rﬁ ‘f B RS S TN "'_'“‘:. ! TR I B §‘"—-—%“§'6_———4—03
o RO R g ant g e B L PRI
Se'"or Co"vertlble NOIGS e TIPS LI v‘ [ SRV Corren KT [ J.J‘-:

.. In,April 2004; deCODE completed an offering of $150,000,000 principal.amouni 3.5% Senior, . .
Converttble Notes (the 2004 Notes”)due 2011 to qualified mstltuttonal buyers. The 2004, Notes are ,, .
convemble into shares of deCODE common stock at the option of the holder, at a price, of $14 00 per .
share (fa1r market value of $10.60 on date of lssuance) which is equwalent to an initjal conversion rate of ,
approxlmately 71. 4286 shares per: $1,000 prmcrpal amount of the Notes. deCODE may redeem the 2{)04
Notes beginning Aprtl 20, 2009 Interest is payable semi- annually on Aprll 15 and October 15, pFrom this o
offenng, deCODE recetved net proceeds ;of $143,805,000. deCODE Jecorded deferred offenng costsof
$6,195,000 which are bemg amortlzed to interest expense over the life of the 2004 Notes (through Aprll 15,
2011). During the years ended December 31, 2006 2005 and 2004 interest expense. of $885 000, $885,000. .
and $635,000 was recorded to other non-operating expenses in the Consohdated Statements,of Operatlons
related to the deferred offering cost amortization. Deferred ﬁnancrng COStS related to the;2004 Notesis |+
included in other long—term assets. and totals $3, 898 000 and $4,783, 000 at. December 31, 2006 and 2005
During the years ended December 31, 2006 2005 and 2004, interest expense, related to the 3.5% annual
interest, of $5,250,000, $5,250,000 and $3,768,000 was recorded to other non-operating expenses‘in the; .,
Consohdated Statements of Operatlons ,

B FYLTIN I fr I T O RET SPEE PR
- In November 2006 deCODE completed | the sale. of $80,000,000 prmcrpal amount of-3.5% Senior «;;p,.
Converttble Notes due 2011 (the “2006 Notes’;) at a price of 70%,of par pursuant to:Rule, 144A under the
Securities Act of 1933. ,The 2006 Notes have, substantlally similar,terms to the 2004 Notes. The 2006.Notes - =
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are convertible into shares of deCODE common stock, at the option of the holder, at a price of $14.00 peri
share, which is equivalent to an initial conversion rate of approximately 71 4286 shares per $1,000 principal
amount of the Notes. deCODE may redeem the 2006 Notes be'gmnmg April 20 2009. Interest is ‘payable
semi-annually on April 15 and October 15. From the 2006 Notes offering, deCODE recéived gross
proceeds of $56,000,000. The 30% ($24,000,000) discount on the 2006 Notes was recorded as a reduction
to the debt recorded and deCODE wil accrete this dtscount over the life of the 2006 Notes (through
April 15, 2011}, to interest expense up fo the full prmcrpal amount of $80 000 000 Durmg the yéar ended
December 31, 2006, deCODE recognized intérest expense related to the accretion of the chscount of
$264,000 in other non-operating expenses in the Consolidatéd Statemients of Operatlons ‘with a remammg
discount to be accreted of $23,736,000 at December 31, 2006. deCODE recorded deferred offering costs of
$3,053,000, whrch are being amortized to interest expense over the life of the 2006 Notes During the year
ended December 31, 2006, interest expense of $34,000 was recorded to other non-operatmg expenses in
the Consolidatéd Statements of Operations with a remaining balance of $3,020,000 at December 31, 2006,
During the year ended December 31, 2006, interest expense, related to the 3.5% annual interest, of
$583,000 was recorded to other non-operating expetises in the Consolidated'Stiteménts of Operations.

Mortgage Loans ¢ - .. : . C X

deCODE has a mortgage loan with a financial institution for its Woodridge, IL facility. In )
March 2005 deCODE eliminated restricted cash collateral totalmg $6,000,000 and entered mto an
agreement to refinance its $10,211,000 mortgage with the sanie financial institution by paying down
$4,000,000 of the mortgage balance and refinancing $6,211,000. deCODE refinanced the mortgage again in
December 2006 and had a balance of $5,611,000 at December 31, 2006. The new mortgage carries an
interest rate of three-month LIBOR + 2.25% {7.62% at December 31, 2006), payable in monthly
installments of $26,000 plus interest for two years with a final payment of $4,990,000 due in
December 2008. The mortgage loan is collateralized by deCODE’s Woodridge, IL facility. '™ ' "5

In March 2005, deCODE: entered into a sale-leaseback fii nancmg for two'of its facilities (seé Note 12)
and in con]uncnon with that everit, certain mortgage loans totaling $21,334,000 were repatd. The mortgage
loans weré collateralized by deCODE’s facilities to' which they wndetlying loans'related to. Prior to the *
sale-leaseback financing the mortgage loans that were extinguished in 2005, consisted of (i)- a $17,523,000
mortgage loan that bore interest at a rate of three*month LIBOR plus 3.00% untll March 1, 2009 at Wthh
time the lender had the right to unilaterally ad]ust the interest margin. "The loan wis payable in twenty
quarterly payments startmg on mafch 1, 2009 with a final payment due in 2013 (ii) a $1,907,000 mortgage'
loan that bore interest at a rate of six-month LIBOR' plus 1.95% and was payable in semi-annual "
installmérits' of $73,000 begirining in June 2003 with a final payment 'of $1,835,000 due in 2005, and’ (m) a’
$1,904,000 mortgage ‘loan (net of a-discount on warrants of $381,000) that bore'annual interest at a'rate of
three-month LIBOR . plus 3.00% with prmcnpal and interest payable quarterly beginning iri March 2002 At
December 31 2006 and 2005 there were 16 balance’s related to these mortgage loans '

. v 3 T - I R I A A IO T PO RIPLE ‘.;-

MartgageBonds AL T e R PR a | I
During the year ended December 31, 2005, deCODE repaid er'ig'age bonds of $14,236,000in
conjunction‘with the sale-leaseback finaficings of Sturlugata‘and Krokhals (see'Note 12). The bonds, had
been used'to finance the construction of deCODE’s headguarters facility-in Iceland The mortgage bonds -
bore annual intérest of 8.5% that was payable annually along with principal beginning in December 2002-..
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and with a finil payment in December 2008. The mortgage bonds were collateralized by deCODE's .. s

headquartersiacrllty‘(“ S e, et T T mar

L AT "7“1' il'r O S TN A U T U S DU Mg
Short Term Borrowmgs Lon L A X H _ ! ‘
i R S P T TR NN B

t o, K f ]
In-July 2006 deCODE entered: into:an-agreement'to finance its Directors and Officers insurance'. 1

premiumiin:the amount! of:$600,000: The-amount is payable monthly with interest:at 6.25% with a final ,

payment due in' June 2007. At December 31,2006, $331,000 was 'due under this agreement and-is 1ncluded

in accrued expenses:and other current liabilities in the accompanymg consolidated balance sheet TR

Durrng the year ended December 31, 2005 and in connection with the sale-leaseback financing of -
Sturlugata discussed.in'Note 127deCODE repaid short-term:borrowings of $4,500,000. These borrowings
were due.in twpamountsiof $2;500,000 and $2,000,000-on.March 17;:2005 -and April 28, 2005.and had: .- -4
interest'rates ofithree month LIBOR: Also in the year erided December 31; 2005, deCODE repaid the i .2 :
$569,000;balance of a short term/oan; which had been entered intoin*August 2004 for $1,100,000 at an.;- .}
interest rate of 3.79%, and was due in ten monthly principal instaliments of $114,000. At December 31,.1.,
2006 and 2005, none of these short term borrowings were outstanding.

; A SRR LI L Y
Equlengf’l‘!‘tN?ﬂ('s CITTI R (It R ISR TIURE RS R TR I IS VIR B [ R B A A

Thé equip'ment notes consist.of various loans for.equipment and insurance financing, range:in ..j . v
principal amount from.$53;000 to$601,000 and are collateralized by the related equipment:‘The notes are’

generally payable over aterm.of 4 years at interest rates ranging from858% t0.10.95%. v Lne L s
R T ARSI B fIRRY a bas At . - s w o e d Caath S o

12. Sale-Leaseback Financing ..., ., 7 ., - h'r oMt ain L0 0Tl s bt

Sturlugata.u.rur SISV Y DN e co T J..--"-'.' ST SR

In March’ )005“deCODE entered mto a ﬁnancmg for the sale and leaseback of its’ headquarters T
facility at Sturlugata 8, Reyk}awk fceianid! The sle price for the property was 3.4 billion Icelandic kronas
(854,767,000, after taking into account a forward forelgn exchange contact entered in-connection with the
sale of the property) As a-result of the sale, the remaining net book value of the property (829,278,000) .
has, been removed from theibalance sheet as of December 31,:2005 and, the resulting gain has been.i .. .,
deferred and is bemg recogmzecl in earnmgs over the 15 year. term of the leaseback oo ';..'.; 1aeld

g un

syt

TA pOl‘thIl Woftie’ proceeds from the sale of Sturlugata 8 were used to prepay approxrmately
$38,639,000 of short and long-term debt that was secured by mortgages on the property (see Note 11)
deCODE recorded a loss on early extinguishment of debt during the year ended December 31, 2005
amounting to $3,142,000 which consisted of (i) prepayment fees ($1,400,000), (ii) write-off of remaining
unamortized finance costs ($1,394,000), and (iii) remaining unamortized discount on the prepaid long-
term debt ($34i 000). The loss has been recorded in other non-operating expense in the accompanying
Consolidated Statement of Operations.

deCODE has leased the Sturlugata 8 property back under a 15 year non-cancelable lease agreement
at a rent of 21.4 million Icelandic kronas per month ($298,000 as of December 31, 2006), subject to
changes based on the Icelandic consumer price index. The lease is an operating lease and, as a result,
Icelandic krona denominated rent will be included in operating expenses over the 15 year term of the lease
agreement

81




deCODE genetics, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular amounts in-thousands, except-share and per share amourits)

Krokhals -~ ' R e T PO U vy ey

In June 2005, deCODE entered into a financing for the sale and leaseback of its facility at Krokhals
5D and SE, Reykjavik, Iceland. The sale price for the property was 502 million Icelandic kronas
($7,672,000 after taking into account the sales commission of $117,000). As a result of the sale, the’
remaining net book value of the property ($4,029,000) has.been removed from.the balance sheet as'of
December 31, 2005, and the resulting gain ($3,559,000) has been deferred afid will be recognized to
earnings over the 15 year term of the leaseback. A 'portion of the proceeds from the sale of Krokhals were
used to prepay approximately $1,836,000 of Iong-term debt that was secured by a'mortgage on the ' ...

property ’ R - . 'f e . HURLR

deCODE has leased the Krokhals 5D and SE property back under a 15 year non-cancelable lease :
agreement at a'rent of 4.1 million Icelandic krona per month ($57,000 as of December 31,,2006), subject to
changes based on the Icelandic consumer price index.. The lease is an operétinglease and, as a result,
Icelandic krona denommated rent will be included in operatmg expenses.over the-15 year term of the lease
agreement. - R S chon, _ CRTI . LT

.

Equipment

In June 2003, deCODE sold certain laboratory equipment for $4,750,000 net cash proceeds and leased
the equipment back from-the counter-party (an Icelandic leasing company) for an 18-month term: In ’
January 2004, the lease was extended for another 18-month term with'the finalipayment due June 2006. As.
ownership of the equipment was transferred to deCODE at the end of the extended lease without any
further significant payment, the transaction was recorded as a financing and the gain (31, 418 000) was
deferred and amortized over the remaining usefui life of the leased equipment. .

In December 2005, deCODE entered into a financing for the sale and leaseback of equnpment The -
sale price, of the equipment was 71.6 million Iceland kronas ($1,200 ,000) and the resulting gain of $222,000
has been deferred and is bemg recogmzed in earnings over the 37 month term of the leaseback. -+ -

- During 2006, deCODE entered into a financmg for the sale and leaseback of laboratory eqmpment
from Hlumina for $4,071,000. The net sale price of the equipment was'$4,325,000 and the resulting gain of
$254,000 has been deferred and is being recognized in earnings over the 37 month term of the leaseback.
Also, during 2006, deCODE sold certain laboratory equipment for $713,000 net cash proceeds and leased
the equipment back. The resulting gain of $82,000 has been deferred and is being recognized in earnings

over the 37. month term of the leaseback. T T
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13. Commitmeénts and Contingencies

IR A - i et R A ¢

Lease Arrangenients

44t

deCODE leases certain propetty, equipment and other’ assets under non-cancelable leases that explre

at varying dates through 2020 At December 31, 2006 future mlntrnum lease payments under all non-

o

cancelable leases are as follows

i e . Pt Co .
B R LA B R ALt “Operating '*"." Capitai *"
oo Vo - . P T L AR o E e L (In lhousands) .
2007 ..ot e e g e e § 5,131 $2,418,
2008 ......... e e e [ T 4921 , .2,286
' 2009 0. e O A e s . L4829y 1,399
2010 ... R O URUT e 4,706 —
2000 L e e e e - 4,706 —
Thereafter. . ... ..o vttt a e 38,952 —
Total minimum lease payments. . .........ooviienieeiianinn. $63,245 6,103
Less amount fepresenting mterest, REFRTRETRIIY capTiTeye e 510 .
Present value of future munmum lease payments .............. o . 5,593
Less: CUFTent POrtion. . . oo eve e eireeenns TR " - 2,100
- Long-term portion. . . .. T T PP O SRR SN SO v $3,493

e . LERIPI A ‘aias E J H L

RN

-

Total reiit expense ' for’ operatlng leases Was $3,452, 000 '$2, 888 000 and’ $1, 482,000 in the years ended *
December 31, 2006, 2005'and 2004’ respecnvcly ‘For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 the =

amount reflects the amortlzatron of the deferred gain on sale- leaseback of propertres of $1,938, 000 and

.41'

L L T Yo,

$1,583,000, respectlvely

OtherCommztments et e e e reyT S SRR

FIO

‘Under the terms of certain technology hcensmg agreements deCODE is obhgated to make payrnents

upon the achievément of éstablishéd' milestones leadmg to'the’ dlscovery of defined products. These *
payments could total $5,000, 000 wrth the tnmmg of payments not deterrmnable at the current tlme

At , ‘ P ) .
Guarantees R . . —

.“'t'\',':,',x ,'f""" 1 .

i

1
i

; .

e v

When as part of an acquisition deCODE acqurres all of the stock or all of the assets and llabrhtles of a

company, it assumes the liability for certain events or occurrences that took place prior to the date of
acquisition. The maximuim potential amount-of futire paymients it could be required to make for such

obligations is undeterminable at this time. deCODE has no liabilities recorded for these future paymerits

asofDecernber 31,2006 ., , v et ot
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Indemnification ML 3 GNETE S INDRE T A (P LR

deCODE enters into indemnification provisions under (i) its agreements with other.companies in its»*
ordinary course of business, typrcally.wrth business partners, contractors, clinical sites and,customers and
(n) its agreements wnth investors, Under these provrslons deCODE generally mdemmﬁes and holds
harmless the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by the 1ndemn1f1ed party as a result of ..
deCODETs activities or, in some cases, as a result of the indemnified party’s ‘activities under the agreementJ
These indemnification provisions generally survive termination of the underlying agreement. In addition,
in some cases, deCODE has agreéd to reimburse employees for certain expenses and to prowde salary
continuation (during short term disability. The maximum potentlal amount of future payments deCODE
could be requrred to make under these indemnification provisions is unlimited. deCODE has not incurred
material costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements! As a result,
the estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal. Accordmgly, deCODE: has no habllmes recorded
for these agreements as of December 31,2006 - - e e

-~ . . Ce e e e e e s e . e - l-‘lh.-’.:“

14, thlgatlon" A ‘n“ e e N LT -‘1(% UL 4 S

t

Other than claims and legal proceedings that ; ,arlse form tlme to ttme m the (l)rdmary course of
business Wthh are not material, deCODE has no pendmgllegal proceedmgs except as follows

T e,

On or about April 20, 2002, an amended class action-complaint, captloned Inre a'eCODE ' genetics, Inc.
Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation (01 Civ. 11219(SAS)), alleging violations of federal securities laws
in connection with. deCODE's initial public, offering was filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York on behalf of certain p'u'rchasers of deCODE common stock. The complamt
names deCODE two, 1nd1v1duals who were executlve offlcers of deCODE at the time, of its 1mt|al pubhc yryee
offermg (the “Individual Defendants”) and the two lead underwriters (the “Underwrlter Defendants”) for
our initial public offermg in July 2000 (the “IPQO™) as defendants.

deCODE is aware that similar allegations have been made in hundreds of other lawsuits filed (many'™
by some of the same plaintiff law firms) against pumerous underwriter defendants and issuer companies
(and certam of thelr current and former offlcers) in connectlon w1th vanous publ1c offermgs conducted in.
recent years. All of the lawsmts that have Jbeen, flled in the Southern Dlstrlct of New,York have been R
consolidated for pretrlal purposes before Umted States District Judge Shira Scheindlin. Pursuant to the -
underwriting agreement executed in connection with our IPO, deCODE has demanded indemnification -,
from the Underwriter Defendants The Underwriter Defendants have asserted that our request for

t

mdemnlﬁcangn is premature s dnen il e £ m>|_,4 NIRRT m’u.mu RINEEI TR AN o O
L I'f ‘ol e Tt lna [FX73% S TU’ e st (J' l' 2ot e nni
Pursuant to an agreement the Indrvrdual Defendants have been dismissed from the case, wnthout

prejudice. . . .. gy ‘,!,5

T R IR TREY Y 1w RN Dy T TR RO R rh"nll?._‘ lfln

On July 31, 2003, our Board of Directors (other than our Chairman and Chief EXécutive-Officer,' who'
recused himself because he was an Individual Defendant) approved a proposed partial settlement with the
plaintiffs in this matter, subject to a number of conditions, including the participation of a substantial
number of other issuer defendants in the proposed settlement, the consent of deCODE's insurers to the
settlement, and the completion of acceptable final settlement documentation. Any direct financial impact -
of the proposed settlement is expected to be borne by deCODE’s insurers.
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In conjunction with the plaintiffs, the settling issuer defendants filed-a motion seeking:the court’s ) *...
preliminary approval of the settlement.. The court granted preliminary approval of the settlement on', ; - --*
February 15, 2005, subject to certain modifications. On August 31,2003, the court.issued a prellmmary order.
further approving the modifications to the settlement and certifying the, settlement classes. The court aiso .+
appointed the Notice Administrator for the settlement and ordered that notice.of the settlementbe.. ...
distributed to all settlement class members beginning on November, 15,:2005... The settlement fairness * .y .
hearing was held on April 24, 2006, and the District Court reserved decision, On- December 5, 2006, the |,
United States Court of Appeals for the Second Cll‘CUlt (the “Second Circuit”) 1ssued an opinion vacanng
the Dlstrrct Court s certrflcat:on of a lmgatron class in that portlon of the case between the Plamtlffs and :
the underwrlter defendants Because the Second Clrcurt 5 oplmon was dlrected to the class cemf" ed by the
District Court for the Plaintiffs’ lmgatron agamst the undérwriter defendants thie' opmron ’s ‘effect on the
class certified by the District Court for the Company's settlement is unclear. On January 5 2007, Plaintiffs
filed a petition for rehearing en banc’ by the Second Circuit. .The proposed settlement is pending final
approvalbytheDlstrlctCourt;rn BhT i e . R R R U U BT

’I‘here can be'1io assurance that l‘.lllS proposed settlement will be approved 'and 1mp1emented m 1tsl ]
current form, if at all If the settlement of the IPO lltlgatlon is not consummated deCODE expects to’ ,:'
contest the allegatlons in‘the’aciion vigorously. Due to the inherent uncertamtles of lmgatlon and the fa_ct
that the settlement of the litigation relating to our IPO remains subject to couft ‘approvai, the ultrmate v
outcome of this matter cannot be predictéd. If deCODE were required to pay significant monetary .-
damages in the évent that the IPO settlement is unconsummated or as a result 'of an adverse deter'mination
in the other actions described above (or.any other lawsuits alleging similar claims filed against deCODE. .-
and deCODE's directors and officers in the future), deCODE's business could be significantly harmed. .-+
Even if such litigations conclude in deCODE’s favor, deCODE may be required to:expend significant .. -
funds to-defend against-the allegations. deCODE is unable to'estimatesthe range of possible:loss from.the. :
above litigations and no amounts have been provided for such matters.in deCODE’s financial statements.

On August 4, 2006 deCODE commenced.an action in;the U.S. District Court for the EastermDistrict
of Pennsylvania against five former-employees for misappropriation of deCODE’s trade secretsand. ...
intellectual property, related breach of non-competition, non-sohr.:ltatron and non- drsclosure prOVlSlOIlS of
their employnient agreements ‘and vnolatron of the federal Computer Fraud and Abuse Act The surt
alleges that the defendants, mcludlng Hakon Hakonarson formerly deCODE’s Vice Presrdent Busmess
Development, were recru'rted .nd at least four are currently employed by the Centér for’ Applled batelust 1t
Genorics, a business unit of the Childen’s ‘Hospital ‘of Phrladelphla (CHOP) Also, the suit alleges that
while still deCODE employees and with the knowledge of senior.CHOP staff, these defendants copied or
sent directly to CHOP deCODE proprietary methods, tools, business plans and research results. nCI-lOPf R
has intervened as a defendant in the case.

deCODE is seeking preliminary and permanent injunctions restraining, among other things, the-
individual defendants from working'at CHOP ini any.capacity competitive with deCODE for two yéars, and
the individual defendants and CHOP from soliciting our employees for a period of one year and from' .. *
using or disclosing our confidential information. In addition, deCODEis'secking unspecified amounts of '
compensatory, special and punitive damages-and attorney’s fees: L i et s o e oager 1o
On August 11, 2006 the court issued a tem;:oorz'iri/!r"els't[raTi‘ni'r:gj order protibiting the individual*'
defendants from using, altering, destroying or transferring possession of any information taken from
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deCODE; and fromdéstroying; using,'altering, copying-or transferring possession‘of one or more +

250 gigabyte hard drives or any:other.removable storage devices that contained any deCODE information.,
On August 22, 2006, the-court entered an order extending the'temporary restraining order until the court’
rules.on deCODE'’s motion for:a preliminary injunction: The hearing on plaintiffs: motion fora n» -3
preliminary injunction-concluded on November 22; 2006, Post- -hearing briefs have been'submitted. The -
court has stated that it will schedule a date for argument on the-motion,.but no date hasbeen scheduled.
yet for the argument Accordmgly, the temporary restrammg order remams m place‘ Tl er

r

On September 5 2006 deCODE ﬁled a motlon for an order to show cause why defendant Robert "
Skraban should not be held in contempt for vrolatmg the temporary restrammg order On December 1, ',"
2006 deCODE flled a s1mllar contempt monon as t0 defendant Hakon Hakonarson The court has not yet

i, lt -
ruled on these motlons e - ‘ .
. " PR PN L S Y TRRNLE I S TLERFINIL R - N AU S Y M.

On December 13‘+2006 CHORP filed counterclaims against deCODE: asserting claims for defamation,
trade libel, abuse of process, breach of contract, promissory estoppel, intentionafk interference with' - - g
prospectlve contractual relations, and fraud. CHOP’s counterclalms for defamatlon trade libel, intentional
interference, “with | prospectwe Contractual relatlons and fraud are asserted agams’t Dr. Karl Stefanssop as
well as deCODE CHOP’s. counterclatrns seek unspec1f1ed amounts of compensatory, spec1a1 and punmve

ttorn :
damages andator eysfees S T A R S VS VS S

On December 22, 2006rfour mdlwdual defendanits (Hdkon Hékonarson,Struan Grant, Robert . 1o
Skraban and Jonathan Bradfiéld) filed:counterclaims against deCODE asserting clarms.for.defamatron," '
trade libel, abuse of process; breach of contract, promissory.estoppel, fraud, breach of.implied contract,. .
breach of covenant of good faith and fair.dedling; and false:light. The individual defendants’ counterclaims
for defamation, trade libel, abuse of process, fraud; breach of implied contract; and false light are asserted.
against Dr.-KAri Stefinsson as:well as deCODE. The individual defendants’-counterclaims seekrunspecmed
amounts of compensatory, special and:punitive damages, and attorney’s fees- T I R

deCODE and Dr. Stefdnsson have filed motions to dismiss the counterclaims of CHOP and the" -
individual defendants. The cotirt.has not  yet ruled upon the motions to dismiss. - P RS AT

CIf deCODE is reqmred o defend the' counterclalms flled by CHOP and the mdwtdual defendants
deCODE believes that it has vahd defenses to such c0untercla:ms If the counterclaims of CHOP or the
individual defendants ,are, resolved agamst deCODE Jtis possrble that monetary damages could be R
awarded agatnst deCODE that would matertally affect the busmess of deCODE e -

4

P WYL FIN R . ! g
The fifth 1nd1v1dual defendant Jesns'Sainz; was. served with. deCODE’s cornplamt but has not filed any
response The court entered Sainz's default on September 21, 2006+, 7.7 . = 7Y ey

PR IR E R T B TOE 1 L T

15. Denvatlve Fmancml Instruments . . ey
LORIGT e erGEY - L i Ly A T N e e

it deCODE recognizes all denvatwes as either.assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet andyi
measures those instruments at fair value: The fair.value of derivative instruments is sensitive to movements
in the underlying market rates and othér. variables..deCODE monitors the fair value of derivative.. -, ..: -
instruments on a periodic basis. Fair values are estimated for.each derivative using common market -
valuation methods wnth reference to avallable market data as of the balance sheet date

BT+ 1L h - ' . HER S AR

- : CO ;T ST POV TR Hn I L PRI PP ., o g ] P A
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In March 2004, deCODE refinanced its foreign currency debt, with the new instrument being a
variable rate U.S dollar denominated debt. Following-on fromi this-refinancing; deCODE reconsidered its -«
two cross-currency swaps.and decided to liquidate them realizing $9,720,000 in proceeds: deCODE . 1.,
realized a loss on this early termination that, together with unrealized. losses on the swaps'during the: year -
ended December 31,2004,-amounted to $1,465,000. Unrealized and reallzed gains and losses on these two ¢
CroSs-cUrrency swaps are mcluded in other non-operating income and (expense), net in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. L P A

In March.2004; deCODE entered.into five forward foreign-exchange contracts with an-Icelandic s
financial institution for purposes of hedging.a portion of its Icelandic krond-denominated. salaries:Onithe ..
maturity date of each contract, deCODE sold'$1,600,000 and deCODE- received Icelandic krona® at the , i
contracted forward rate. These forward foreign exchange contracts were designated as economic: hedges of
the foreign currency salary cash flows and quahfled for hedge accountmg The fmal contract matured in
August 2004 and no new contracts were entered into. During ‘the year énded Décember 31,"2004," ioss of
$11,000 with regard-to these forward exchange contracts was recorded to operating expenses in the;
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations, ~o; N RS EUUNE AYSRN | 13 SR R PR TIPS

In March 2005, deCODE purchased three forward foreign J.ex‘chan'ge' 'option‘?:dﬂt'racts for $214,000
from an Icelandic financial institution-for: purposes of hedging.a portion of its Icelandic kronas+ 2 ¢ «
denominated salaries and other operating expenses. The forward foreign exchange option contracts
provided deCODE the rtght but not the obltgatlon to sell stated amount of U.S. dollars and recewe
Icelandic krona at ‘the contfacted forward rates. The’ forward forergn exchange optron ‘contracts’ to sell
$10,000,000, $3,394,000 and $3,394,000, expired unexercised on Juic 10, June'30-and July 29, 2005,
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2005, a loss of $214,000 with regard to these forward .
exchange contracts was recorded to operating expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements e

of Operations:. 1.0 . v i vy 27 wuiie L oant e o chen e TEUG S Teest 0 e o
R A A T RO RPN S St TN SO R T P .r‘-n‘,.l : x"rvt‘ .t
16. StockholdersDeficit . .. :1n v v & 5 ewar Lsegerai et e
y l f:." KRV JL. -, . .l' ' i | JATE o v ..:.r FJ ‘t 'l‘ Lot + lE 'Jl

Commaon Stock

The total authorized sharés of common stock par value $0.001; -of deCODE s 100 000 000 shares )
Holders of shares of common stock are entitled fo orié vote at all megtings of stockholdérs for &ach share -
held by them. The common stock has no preemptive rights or other rights;to subscribe for additional .;
shares, no conversion right and no right of redemption. Subject tothe,rights and preferences of the holders,
of any preferred stock, the holders of the common stock are entitled to receive such; dividends as, when
and if declared by the Board of Dlrectors out of funds legally.available for.that purpose: j,uv,. .« 4.

" Notes receivable’ provrded in' connection with the purchase ‘of common stock Are collateraltzed only by.'
the shares to which they relate, are payable after a fixed period of generally four years and bear'a fixed " *
interest rate of generally six percent per annum. Several of the notes that have become due have been
extended a further six years without additional interest. The loan becomes payable upon termmatlon of
employment and/or when the shares are sold.
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In December 2005, deCODE filed a universal shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the
Securities'and Exchange Commission.(“SEC”) for the issuance and sale from.time to time of debt and
equity securities either individually ot 'in units, in one or more offerings, with a total value of up to $100
million. In July.2006 deCODE completed the sale of 6,000,000 shares of common stock at a purchase price
of $5.00 per share; for aggregate net proceeds; after costs of-the transaction, of $27,724, 000 ek

Dot b sl i o il G N

Preferred Stock - S el

At December.31, 2006, deCODE had 6,716,666 shares of undesignated preférred stock authorized
and:no'shares issued or outstanding. In respect'of the undesignated shares of preferred stock, deCODE’s .
Board of Directors is authonzed except as otherwise limited by Delaware law without further actlon by -
the stockholders to:. - .- tur. t~ T T T S N T 2

. 0 10 o i3l . Lt
. _rg rssue shares of prefer‘red stock m one or more sertes o . , ; | L
¢ fix or alter the dividend rights, dmdend rates, conversion nghts voting rights, terms of redemptron

(including sinking fund provisions), redemption price or prices, and liquidation preferences of any
iy, Wholly umssued series of preferred stock;

I B I T . .

* designate the number of shares constituting, and the desngnatton of any. series of preferred stock;

andtl"""'(7 _u-.un 105 ) SERE LT S L SR T v TR *h
T S BT AN TS LN R
mcrease or decrease the, number of shares of a series subsequent to, the issue of shares of that series,
but notbelow the number of shares of that series then outstandmg L
I B 7 -l"-.Tt‘,-"‘lft s e ey “Jr.“' -"‘.f-’-.i‘i_-~‘ S
Wam"ts T T N P S I L ' e Y R LT [ A T

Upon the closing of deCODE’s public offermg in J uly 2000, warrants to purchase 1,075, 833 shares of
Series A preferred stock and warrants and options to purchase 416,667 shares of Series C preferred stock
automatically converted into warrants and options to purchase the same number of'shares of common* -

stock. Of these warrants, 47,222 were exercised in the year ended December 31, 2005. N

In May 2002 deCODE 1ssuediwarrants to purchase 933,800 shares of common stock at an exercise
price of $15 00 pet share in conjunction with the issuance of debt.. P

In February 2004, deCODE issiied a warrant to purchase 1, 724,257 shares of common stock at $29.00 -
per share over five years to'Merck in' connection with a Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement. The ' -
warrant is exercisablé at Merck’s option.asito 344,85 'shares for a period of 30 days commencing on the-
first, second, third, fourth and fifth annivérsari€s of thé¢ Warrant Agreement. Any portion of this watrant
that is not exercised durlng an applicable exercise penod shall expire and be of no further force or effect
(see Note 3)

V)" /Y LN BT PR S (T PO (AR | S R TP A L1 I A P R R R - ool

|
!
O DR TR LY TN YRS N K T SN TSI B O R IE

- , . \ . -
eaer Bl ’|a I OMILTRPE T DL R B . [T Y
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-aWarrant.activity.is'summarizedias follows: <, otdn g 0 et abmanee Y waree e 3l
oo ool L om0 s A Lp<be o an noeds ciumiviol ao ten R0t DT e it
. . '.h- T Y e :For the Years Ended December 31, ¢l o
‘ o 2006 - 2005 0 2004 - - °
. vy + Qutstanding at- beginningof year-.. ;12 .. . ey .2, 729 873414 3,124,724,11,1,400,46 713
ISSUCd ......... S I el e e r’__ T ( fuTe L N iy :1 724 257' A
Exerc1sed. NIRRT T, et e ey e et S 0T e (47,222) s Lt ,,—",,j et
Cancelled .................................. (344 851) (347 629) —

" Outstindihg at'ehd f yaat, 1t & 43 L0 0388 105 N 21729 873" L'3 124 724

A summary of the exercisable,deCODE warrants as of December‘31‘,52006, is as follows:

T IR T Y autoe ot T ul 2y
., Common Shares Exercise Price i '.r l;. e ;'l Warrant Expirauon
Tyt sor —lssuablefor. . ", Per'Share L1 DRI ~'Date- ‘L' s
et 250 0003.-{.,: $ 2.00 . n,.February 2, 2007, (exermsed January 26, 2007)
I:l‘-'.l ! j ':.(.'55 3557 L ! -19"{29!; _.-'-“; ' ‘- " d:o'?"l" February 5 2008 '
' 55,556 3.00 ’ o May 20, 2009 _ - ‘ R
ty 4055556 - 4.00. e £t February 10,2010 . ... & v el
Y7 -933 800 © 1500 . - Marchl 2007 (exp1red unexerCISed Marchl 2007)' J :
.. 1350467, o, N
Eq:u{y Incennve Plans "~ Al ; Lo ; ko s LI AT '- "r

© In May 2006 deCODE adopted the deCODE genetics, Inc. 2006 Equlty 'Incennve Plan (the “2006-
Plan”). The.2006 Plan provides for the i issuance of up to 4,000,000 shares of ¢Ormon stock to employees
consultants and,non-employee directors in the form of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock optlons '
restricted stock and stock appreciation rlghts (SARs) .deCODE also maintains the deCODE genencs Inc.,
1996 and 2002 Equity Incentive Plans (together with the 2006 Plan, the “Plans”) that provide for the grant !
for awards to eniployees, members-of.the Board of Directors, consultants and other advisors who are not" '
employees. The 1996 Equity Incentive Plan expired in July 2006. A total of 10,000,000 shares were_ !” i1 A
originally reserved for’ grants of options and restrlcted stock under the terms of the 1996 and 2002 Equ1ty

Incentlve Plans , .
Vo . l.a.r."a N RN Y .n‘fll llal“ < rllJfl' }""l"'l"* [ "'[‘ MERRY 141 I ,(""1'!"1 ~1'n

. »sThe equ1ty incentive Plans are administered by the Compensatlon Committee of the, Board of i
Dlrectors The,Compensation Commlttee determines the type, and term of each award,the award exercise
or purchase,price; if applicable, the-: number of shares underlying each award: granted and the rate at:which;
each award becomes.vested or-exercisable. Inceritive:stock options may be granted only to:employees of 1+,
deCODE at an exercise price per share of not less than the fair market value per share of common stock ¢
on the day before the grant and with a term not to exceed ten years from date of grant, Nonqualnﬁed stock
options may be granted to any officer, employee, director, consultant or advisor at a per share exercise
price in such amount as the Compensation Committee may determine. Generally each employee option
grant vests twenty-five percent on the first anniversary date of an employee’s commencement of
employment and 1/48th of the original grant each month thereafter for the following three years. Upon
exercise of options, shares are issued from the pool of registered shares under the Plans.
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The Compensation Committee may also grant restricted stock and other stock-based awards on'such
terms and conditions as it may determine, which may include deCODE's right to repurchase the unvested
underlying stock upon termmanon ‘of the ‘holder’s employment.

Options granted to date generally vest over a period of four yéars; generally have a'maximum term of
10 years, and‘may contain early-exercise provisions allowing for company-provided financing of the
exercise price. As of December 31, 2006 4, 201 184 shares were available for grant under the Plans

The following: table summarizes mformatlon about stock options outstandmg under the Plans at
December 31, 2006: '

sl Exercise Price - * - N 1 ! Exeréise Price
Greater Than Grant Exercise Price Less Than Grant
.- Date .t Equais Grant Date Date .
Stock Fair Value Stock Fair Value Stock Fair Value ' Total
. , Weighted . Weighted Weighted - - . Weighted
' " i Average - : Average Average ' Average

Number  Exercise - Number Exercise Number Exercise.  Number Exercise
of Shares Price of Shares Price of Shares Mce of Shares Price

Outstanding at ' ‘

January 1,2004. ... ..... 100,000 $742 - 3,516,831 $7.73 491,500 $9.02. 4108331 $7.88
Granted.....:wi. 1.t 30,000 839 . 832,734 , 835 =, = 862,734 - 835
Exercised............... — -—  (113,427) 4,57 - —. (113,427) 457
Cancelled............... — — {164,154) 7.68 (3,542} 10.00 (167,696) 7.73
QCutstanding at . C ' ’

December 31,2004, .. ... 130,000 7.64 4,071,984 7.95 487,958 9.02 . 4,689,942 1. 8.05
Granted ................ — —_ 592,333 8585 — - - 592,333 .8.85
Exercised......%...t...0 (200000 742 - (82860} - 351. . ., —.- N (102860) ¢ .. 427
Cancelled. . ....... (30,000 |, _839. _-(186713), . _7.77 . -(260000) . 5.63 (476,713}  , 6.64
Outstanding at N : - o, " L ) .

December31 2005...'.'.‘:” TUR0000 ¢ T 742 4394744 816 0 7 227,958 1288 - 4,702,702 " 838
Granted ;.. !.. PP S IR U (R — '974,194 ' 724 =T . 1974194 -0 724
Exercised :.......vneenn (80 000) 41742 . 1 (96,067) 297 y = T — (176,067) © - 499
Cancelled...........n... -, . = (500,755) 9.27 -(25,000)-" 1817 - (525,755) - _9.68
Outstandmgat , ¢ " .. L e . e T

December. 3, 2006. U 4,772,116 © '$7.96 202,958  $12.23 - 4975074 | $8.14 .

‘J..‘_' ot} P M FI i . T . O 5 'R

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised under the Plans determined as.of the date of option
exercise was $528,000,-$461,000 and $578,000 during-the years ended December‘31;.2006, 2005, and 2004
respectively. The weighted average grant date fair valueof options granted durmg the years ended
December-31, 2006'-2005 and-2004 was $4.34, $8.90 and $8.32; per share, respectively. Cash received from .
option exercises for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and 2004 was 5870 000; $439 000 and :
$522 000, respectively. PR v e 4, .

LY P "{

P e (A dav o vnis L ! . 0ot

L4

90
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NOTES TO.CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. (Continued)
(tabular amounts-in-thousands, except:share and per share-amounts)

-The following table summarizes mformatlon about stock options outstandmg and exerc1sable at

December 31, 2006: R o e . P Loob L

Options Qustanding ‘ Options Exercisable '

! -. : - Weighted W

' Average

" ' * Weighted Remaining : Weighted

P . Average  Contractual Average

! Number of  Exercise Life Numberof  Exercise
Exercise Price ] Shares Price (In years) -Shares . .-Price - '
$1.52w$7.05. ...t 1,055,278 §$ 461 7.77 555,063 3 3.74
$7.38t0$8.13 .............. 1,104,006 796 - 647 © 779,939 8.04
817108865 ......... ..., 326,236 .  B41° - 694 227936 : 841
$8.96t0$8.96.....: o ... 1,427,501  896. . 683 1213444 8961
$9.21 10 $24.56... .. .. 1,062,053-. 1064 721 578,634 11.75

© $152t082456............. 4975074 § 814. , 7.05. ...3,355,01_6; . $ 833,

ST , .‘.'3.‘ ' ' i A P T PR l‘,.“" - "i s ) . N l.p
The aggregate intrinsic value of opttons outstandmg and exercisable at December 29, 2006 was $0 and
$0, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and options exercisable represents
the total pre-tax intrinsic value, based on deCODE'’s closing stock price of $4.53 as of December.29, 2006
| (the last trading'day for the year ended December 31, 2006),,whic'h would have been received by the option
. holders had all option holders exercised their options as of that date The total number of in-the; rmoney
| options exercisable as of December 29 2006 was 305 997 The wetghted average remammg hfe of ppttons
' exercisable was 6.3 years The total shares vested and expected to vest at December 31 2006 was h
approximately 4,751,685, C e T e

Stock-basedCampensauon R S0 R IR U PR R T

Effectwe January 1 2006 deCODE adopted SFAS 123R usmg the modified prospectwe transmon K
method, which requares the measurement‘and recogmtlon of compensatxon expense for all stock-based
payment awards made’ to deCODE’s employees and directors. deCODE’s financial stalements as of and ,'
for year ended December 31, 2006 reflect the impact of SFAS 123R. In accordance with the modified
prospective transition method, deCODE’s financial statements for prior periods have not been restated to
reflect, and do not include, the impact of SFAS 123R. Stock-based compensation expense recognized is
based on the value of the portion of stock-based payment awards that is ultimately expected to vest. Stock-
based compensation expense recognized in deCODE’s Consolidated Statement of Operations during the
year ended December 31, 2006 included compensation expense for stock-based payment awards granted
prior to, but not yet vested as of December 31, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the pro forma provisions of SFAS 123, and compensation expense for the stock-based
payment awards granted subsequent to December 31, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. In conjunction with the adoption of SFAS 123R, deCODE
elected to attribute the value of stock-based compensation to expense using the straight-line method,
which was previously used for its pro forma information required under SFAS 123.
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NOTES TO,CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS; (Continited)

(tabular amounts:in thousands, except share and.per.share amounts)

The following table summarizes stock-baseéd compensation expense related to employee stock options
and nonvested share awards under SFAS 123R for the year ended December 31, 2006 which was'included :
in the Consoltdated Statement of Operations in the following captions:

BNRRL ) LI LAY ‘
: - Year Ended
. ) R - December 31,
o o o 2006

ST} L i Y T {In thousands)
Operattng Expenses: PRT . RN w0
Costof révenue’................. - s 612
Research and'development—proprietary programs. . .............. TEeYL513L)
Selling, genéral’and administrative. ......... O e 2176
Total...... = TR S S LML P N a0 :$4,301 <~
R - AL SRR 4 g

As stock-based compénsation éxpense recognized in the Consolidated Statemeéiit'of Operations for
the year ended December 31, 2006 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for
estimated forfeiturés. SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time.of grant and revised; if
necessary,/in subsequent.periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates: deCODE has calculated)
stock-based compensation using an estimated forfeiture raté of 5.6%. To the extentithe:actual forfeiture.: !
rate differs materially from this estimatetth‘e‘ expense will be adjusted- S L AT r"hr- bress A

I -~ 1 u‘
'As of Deceri‘tber 31 2006 there was $6 457 000 of total unrecogmzed compenrsatl'g)n expense related

to‘non-vested stock opttons Thts unrecogmzed compensanon ex]:}ense is expecteld to be reeogmzed over'a |
weighted average pertod of 1.7° yéars. The total fair vahie of opttons vested during the year ended _ . “n. o I
December 31, 2006 was $3,634,000. Lt e

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based~ »~?
Compengsation (“SFAS, 123”) and SFAS No. 148, Accounting for, Stock: Based Compensarron—-Transrtron
and Drsclosure deCODE apphed the accountlng Tules under APB 25 Wthh prov1ded that no .
compensatton expense was charged for options granted at an exercrse prtce equal to the market value of

 the underlylng common stock on the date of grant o

- Yoo

P B VR L - A | JJ). ottt T et
TIPS L ":'..' T A T L & (L AT P PR F SR PR A UL ST
T T e e R B A S St AT STLUUR R UV N SR
B R ITE O T AL SRR M TR L TR R SRR SRR ST
P T T T L L O T P UL 'a'-,m s £ O LR TP PR
Baba, o g CHAb gL Yaer N A e 1) R . LS V) SITLET. LA R SO UL
P L T A N DL BT o L R U P O S R T T PR R TR BT
R R | P Y 2 L SRR ST BN AR AT S B R B T T (T T A & B
R e L L e A A RN S AL P RO TIERS T A
) B K LT S L 1P AP SR TR L O LTI VNt RYELA | T T
A A T P A T L L PRI TN TTI SEILEE P IR PN AR
ber DL T L e Y e e T e Y TR W 3T B
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NOTES TO.CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular amounts.in thousands; except share and per share amounts)

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss per share if deCODE had applied the fair value
recognltlon provisions of SFAS 123R to awards granted under deCODE’s stock based compensatlon Pplans
pnor to the adoptron of thls standard o ;

AR AUt PR SR A TP | NS SPURPE T TN RS R SIS PR T P

:Jl "-":‘3' A A f.'la"'.J. Pt ,.ptn - ! PRI SRR * 1 P

Year Ended December 31, - - VA
Cht el e e e e e T 3005, 12008 S
(In thousands except, - - . .,
’ per share amounts) - ‘
.~ Netloss attributable to common_ . L e g h -
stockholders—as reported ... .. ..................... $(62 750) $(57, 255) -
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense
_included inreportednetloss /. ... oo 441 964
Deduct: Total stock- based employee compensation
expense determmed under fair value method for
allawards ©.%. ... 0.0, e (5,347) (5,932)
Net loss attnbutable to common stoclcholders—~pr0f0rma . $(67, 656) $(62 223)
Basic and diluted net loss per, share at e I e e
as reported—as reported ........ Ll SR R )R $ (1.07) -
Basrc and dlluted net loss per share—proforma ..... IR - - (1.26) (1 16)
',’ t' b e e RS I o

The employee stock-based compensatron recogmzed under SFAS 123R ‘and presented in the pro
forma disclosures required under SFAS 123 wis determined usint the Black Scholés option valuanon
model. Option valuation models require the input of subjective assumptions and these assumptions can

vary over time. The welghted average assumptions used are as follows:. - 1. SR Lt
Co . : l'»(‘-l’*'l.ru.-‘ ; AP T b
A : TR Pl S S U TR S . Year Ended December 31, L.,
2006 _ 2005 2004
Expected dividendyield .................... S — — - *
_Expected volatility. ..t .ot e v e se et - 659% - 80.0%.. ..920% |
Expected option life (in years) ..z, 0 W oS8 50 0 50,
v Risk-free Interestrate. ... i it de s ineiiee et e -47%,.-.41%. .. 3.7%
) T S B YO T L M R UL F I S T o g : s

deCODE estlmates the expected term of the optlons based on hlstorlcal patterns by employees w1th
respect to exerc:lsc “and post Jvestmg employment term1nat10n behav:ors Begmnmg on 2 anuary 1, 2006
expected volatlllty is based on deCODE’s hlstoncal volatlllty and'i is calculated usmg a welghted average of ’
the volatility over a penod equal to the expected term of the award and the most recent one year volatlllty
deCODE bases the risk-free interest rate used on the implied yield currently available on the'U.S.
Treasury zero-coupon.issues with an equivalent term. As deCODE does not pay.dividends,: the dmdend T

rate variable in the Black-Sholes model is zero. .- T L LA 'R
ERN: RAVIEIN B 1 TR

T SVt BT RPN PYU S 1T SRR L S B PR PN P N S S N IR o
T L T T T PEUN IR P T e e T
- ."u_“ Y e o “t lf' . L . hé” [N 5 - 7'“_3," .
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NOTES-TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. (Continted)
(tabular amounts in thousands;.except share and per share amounts)

Restricted Stock > 6. - 0 T et A A T S 't.'u PAURSEE

! 'deCODE’s Equrty 'Incentive P]ans aliow for the issuance' of restrrcted stock awards that may not be
sold or otherwise transferred until certain restrictions have lapsed. The' stock-based compensatlon expense‘
for these awards is determined based on the market price of deCODE’s stock at the date of the grant
appliéd to the total numbers ‘of. shares that are anticipated to fully vest and then amortized over the period

LY £ ]

the restrictions lapse.”” |

The followmg table represents restricted stock actlvrty for the years Thded'Decémber 3122006 and

2005: SRS L, A T el
s e s B en e L xRl
. Years Ended December31, = .
. 2006 . ., i 2005 .. -
o Weighted ' Weighted
G e v Averaget w7 Tar ot Average
oAy el Number Grant Number | Grant
‘ e - ) oot of Y7 Date Fair of "Date Fair
e e hoehot <.yl Sharfes . ¢ Value:, r1iShares. ... - Value ¢
Unvested restricted shares outstandmg, R U DRI LRI Do
beginning of period. ....... e 51,987 $9:31,(,. P S )
Restricted shares issued . . ... ey T ;7588 w 138, 1.57.944 908
Restricted shares vested................ (7,678) 7.29 15 957) 7.05
..-Unvested restricted shares outstanding, 4 .-y, 0 0 bt RO
e, endofperiod.. oo g 51,897, - $9 33 e 51 987 L 5931, ey
DV I L VPP O B AN L (TR S LR AT [T R PRI YIS A 1 I S O P L L e
At December 31, 2006, there was $261,000 of total unrecogmzed compensatlon costrelatedito - r.fn

restricted stock to be recognized over a weighted average remaining period of 1.53 years. The total
fair value of shares vested durmg the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $56,000 and $42,000,

respectively. L s o 8

In 2006 and 2005, deCODE granted 7,588 and 7 944 shares respectwely to'its Audit Committee
members. These grants remain subject to the right of deCODE to répurchase thé shares inicertain
circumstances through-a period of one-year from grant date. During the years ended December31, 2006 -
and 2003, deCODE recognized expense of $56,000 and $36, 000 related to these grants, respeetlvely

In 2005, deCODE granted 50 000 shares t0 an executlve qgfrcer .ThlS grant remams sub]ect o the
right of deCODE to repurchase the shares i certam crrcumstanees until July 2008. Durmg the years ended

December 31, 2006 and 2005 deCODE recogmzed expense of $157 OOO and $73 000, respectlvely in Lo

In 2004, deCODE granted a stock award to a eonsultant for: 15,000 shares. deCODE recogmzedt‘-’ ¥
expense of 1 $104,000 in 2004-related to this grant based on the: fair market value of common stock on the !

t

date of grant. These shares were issued in January 2005, T S T TSR - M TINEIN SN R

17. Defined Contribution Benefits

deCODE contributes to relevant pension organizations for personnel in Iceland in accordance with
Icelandic law and employment practices. Certain other discretionary contributions may be made.
Contributions are based on employee salaries paid and deCODE has no further liability in connection with
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these plans. Total contributions,were $2,231,000, $2,120,000 and $1,648,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.. A T

i

deCODE maintains 401(k) pension plans available to eligible full- time employees in the Umted
States. deCODE made contributions of. $319,000, $273,000 and $248,000 for the years ended December 31
2006, 2005 and 2004 to these plans. v R R LR DT 1P ST

b
il ey g, v b L T

18. lncome Taxes . .
XA T BRI I O O

Deferred income taxes include the net effects of temporary differences between: the carrymg arnounts
for assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.

deCODE's deferred tax assets (habllltles) are comprised of the following: 105 ..
eoa T . RN . ' [ AN Tt ld v )
L. . ‘JI w ' a, . ii ]. w bV Qo a0 ; 2w[2€¢2“1b€l’3;605 i
r AT R U I S T T R T T (In thoiisands) . :
-Loss canyforwards ..... e S U S cateeet. 008 73,061 $.61,039 . -
Capltallzed research and development COStS. . .cvvneriininnnenn 18,564 15,640 .=y
Deferred TEVENUE. . .« o\ e et e e e e e e e e ee e eeee e 1,429 2,200
Fixed asset depreciation...........c.coiiviiiiiiiiiiinivnnnnans 4340 s, :» 107 L.
Intangible assets/patents............ e P e ., (186) ) (897
Other deferred tax assets "."]"" 750 "7 837,
Total deferred tax asset, net.......“.‘.:.'....f...';ff.l.;. ap e .“.’.'..'. 97958 75,026
Valuatlon ailowance e ._‘.' ..... s L (97958) ! (79 026)
A T S S SRR T LI N s —, $‘_ nL"
L . ¥ I T I S T NERRES

_ The table below reconciles the expected U. S federal income tax rate to the. recorded income tax:rate: .

. . i . BFL L P )f l' L _:1.7 o
P . . . .. For the Years Ended
' T . o S - December 31,

Yo 2006; - 2005, zoom by A0

-, Income taxes at federal statutory rates:. .. ....ovlneiraneen.s . .(34,0)%-(34.0)% (34.0)% - . :.;
- State income taxes, net of federal beneﬁt..:'. A .09y (02), - (16, -
. Non-deductible equlty compensation. .. . : e s e 0.5 03 ,. 39 =~ v’: ,
Foreign rate differential . . .......... ..o i e s 1340, 14840 1220,
Foreign currency adjustment. ............coiiiininrennnnen {0.8) 26 (124)
Other ... e (0.3) 21 {0.8)
Net change in valuation allowance . ..............c..covuuss. 22.1 144 327

0.0% 0.0% 0.0%'

Pre-tax U.S. losses were $13,653,000, $7,986,000 and $13,587,000 and pre-tax Icelandic losses were
$71,820,000, $54,764,000 and $43,668,000 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. As of December 31, 2006,
deCODE had U.S. federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately $49,388,000 that
may be available to offset future U.S. federal income tax liabilities and expire at various dates through
2026. As of December 31, 2006, deCODE’s Icelandic subsidiaries had NOL carryforwards of
approximately $298,535,000 that begin to expire in 2007. Management has evaluated the positive and
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negative evidence bearing upon thié réalizability of its déferred tax assets.and has.eStablished a full> v7 -
valuation allowance for such assets, which are comprised principally of-nét opéerating loss carryforwards -~ -
and capltahzed research and expenmentauon costs. - ., S vens

A IS T (T '“-' T A ol
.. 'Approximately: $655 000 of the fiet operating'loss carryforwards relate to the exercise of non-qualified.

stock options and disqualifying dispositions of incentive stock options, the'tax.benefit from which;if . .« .

realized, will be credited to additional paid in capital,
[N
Ownership changes as defined in the Internal Revenue Code, may have limited the amount of ngt

operating loss,carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable'i income. Subsequent
ownershlp changes could further affect the limitation-in future yéars.." .. -+ . = -1 ' v

In the year ended December-31::2004 there was'a foreign currency adjustment caused by /4.
strengthening of the lcelandrc krona against the U.S. dollar, resulting in an increase in deferred tax assets .
and liabilities’ that-was offset by an increase in the tax valuation allowance of $32,502,000. In the years
ended December 31;:2006 and 2005, this strengthening began to reverse resulting in a decrease in deferred
tax assets and liabilities that-was offset by a decrease in the tax valuation allowance of $26,207,000 and

$11,096.000.¢1 4t ..l e A S A A
LV Ul T e e e e .. . P O T
19. Suhsequent Evento- ] e e Y L

In February 2007 deCODE entered into an agreement regarding the sale and leaseback of i 1ts
'property (land and facnhty) in Woodridge, Tllinois. Pursuant tothe agreement and sub]ect to the
satlsfactlon of contmgencnes inchiding, without limitation, negotiation of a sausfactory lease deCODE will
sell the Woodndge property for $25,000,000 in ¢ash and lease the property back under’ al7 year lease at an
initial rent’of.$163,000 per month, subject to annual rent increases of 2.5%. Under the lease contemplated
by the agreenlen_t, deCODE will have two 5-year renewal options with rent at the then prevailing market
raté. THe l€asé will beran absolite nét leaseand déCODE will continué to'pay all expenses relating-to the
property, mclud%ng taxes, utlhtles insurance and maintenance. deCODE’s obligations under the lease are
to be secured by a letter of. ‘credit in the amount of $5,000,000. The agreement regarding the sale and
leaseback of the propétty is subjéct to the satisfaction of various contingencies, including, without
limitation ‘the ﬁegdtia'tion'ofﬁa-’satisfactory lease, the buyer’s ability to obtain financing for its purchase of
the property-and the buiyer’s Satisfaction with its due diligence review of thé property. The transaction is
expected to close in May 2007 if such contingencies are satisfied, however, in hght of the contrngencres

there can be no assutarice that the closing will occur. AN MR

(50 L ANy L. o . P TR o

20 | R P A . S Cee e Lr

'\S et .85 R e B TR HP B

A ERRRY _ml{l
o~ .o £

s rags 1l vl e vy T, T FET R 0 a0 T jb ey s IR T
L gt cond e e R e ae T ,.-,.-':i x'i‘fﬁ'l""f‘-rl'-, R T TR A
fodt COBRRT M L i l(,am bty e Y At gL S L ol P (S
L I PR e L ST e A N T N el P R L A T
P I L R T e I R B 3 T b L LRI

L (R TR T N N F YR PAREP 1 I | U B PR VY T3 DI RE L T IL E R AL PR

96




‘ 4 'gECODE genetics; Tne." ' oA TRl 000
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued). .

{tabular amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

LTI [

- i T o S .\| A S T BT T YRR
20. Selected Quarterly Data (Unaudlted) P S S S L R
2 ! . ' |',r RN N LTRY P oae Lo ke {

For the Three Months Ended

March 31, June30, _ September 30, December 31,

¢ ] ) LA TR R N (ln thousands, except per share’ amounls) Lo
2006 e . S P R P S L BT i ‘
Revenue. ... ..vvvennn.. it room 810,133 0 $10360..0:. 8 8566 .4 $11,451
Operatingloss........... S 20,5015 17,698 23,907 1+ 22,358
Netloss. ... ie e PO AL S . 20,273 v 18,343, .. 23,632 ... 23,225
Basic and diluted net loss pershare ............... « (0.37) (0.34) . (0 40) - {0.38)
2005 AR A O N AR ,,_',:_,-.._rr PR _
Revenue:............ hovas Deveinds e b, 809, 523 $11,437 - $13 19? v $ 9,798
Operating loss........... P . 12,050, 12,855+ -+.11,781 20,488
Netloss. ..ot ceees .. 16 936 13,332 11 370 21,112
Basic and dlluted net loss per. share el - ._._Lﬁ oy (0 32) (O 25) (0 21) §0.39)

-3
N LN vt et o i ] 1
[ 1y " RS I‘ FC . M | e " T * v
" . - ' i e AT TR [T I
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. 3 PR T * . i i Tl b et
vy ! PN i Vo I R SR iy " ' | )
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

a

Not applicable.- . - - i . ¢4, T

. . . I . - - -
* *t - + A

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
Financial Officer evaluated the effectiveness of deCODE’s disclosure controls and procedures (as.defined:
in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the
end of the fiscal.year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief

Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have conctuded that as of the end of such fiscal year
deCODE’s disclosure controls and procedures are adequate and effective to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in the reports deCODE files under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,-
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s
rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it filesor- .
submits under the Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer’s management including its
principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions as appropnate
to allow ‘timely decisions regarding required disclosures. ' .

In desngnmg and evaluanng our disclosure controls and procedures, our management recognizes that
any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance that the desired objectives of the control system will be met. In addition, the design of any
control system is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events and the
application of judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
Because of these and other inherent limitations of control systems, there is only reasonable assurance that
our controls will succeed in achieving their goals under all potential future conditions.

(b} Changes in Internal Controls. We are continuously seeking to improve the efficiency and
effectiveness of our internal controls. This results in periodic refinements to internal control processes
throughout the Company. However, there was no significant change in our internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the last fiscal quarter of the year
ended December 31, 2006 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting,

Management’s Report on Internal Contrel Over Financial Reporting

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. The Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the
Company’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of
published financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even
those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation and presentation.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework. Based on its assessment management believes that, as of December 31,
2006, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.
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The Company’s independént régistered public accounting firm, Deloitté*& Touche LLP, which
audited the financial statements contained in this Annual Report.on Form' 10-K, has issued.an attestation -
report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting asof © *
December-31; 2006. This report, which expresses an unqualified opinion.on management’s assessment and
on the effectiveness of thé Company s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,2006, isi
included below under the heading “Report of Indcpcndent Registered: Pubhc Accountmg Fnrm
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. REPORT OF INDEPENDENT. REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM-

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of . e
deCODE genetics, Inc.: FEUR B RS 1

We have audited management’s assessment, mcluded in the accompanying Management'’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting; that deCODE genetics, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria
- established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an -
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our-audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the
supervision of, the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing
similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements:

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error
or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the . .
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that
the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission . Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2006 of the Company and our report dated March 14, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements and includes an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, in 2006.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 14, 2007
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Item 9B. Other Information.+ - P E R TP A N R T R R

. s ir 1 VA YW I [
Not applicable ' o ‘
. . . PARTII . e N
+ Lt Ly, e o RIS A N ek
Item 10. Directors and Executive Oﬁicers of the Registrant 7 T SEREPASTR

For information concerning this item, see the information under “Election of Directors,” “Executive
Officers Who are Not Directors, “ “Code of Ethics” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” in our Proxy Statement to be filed with respect to our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Erecutwe Compensatwn , Lo .. . .

For information concerning this item, see the information under “Executive Compensatlon in our
Proxy Statement to be filed with respect to our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which mforrnatlon is
incorporated herein.by reference. o .

* wl 1 Yol T ., . . s, r . .
Item 12. Security Owner_fs[:ig ?f Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
For information concermng this item, see the information under “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” in our Proxy Statement to be filed with respect to our 2007 Annual
Meeting'of Stockholders which information is mcorporated herein by reference.
Item 13 Cnﬂn‘am Relationships and Related Transactions

For information concerning this item, see the mformatlon under “Certam Relatlonshlps and Related
Transactions” and “Election of Directors” in our Proxy Statement to be filed with respect to our 2007
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which inforrrnation is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servrces .
For information concerning this item, see the information under “Principal Accountant Fees and

Services” in our Proxy. Statement to be filed with respect to our 2007 Annual Meetmg of Stockholders

which 1nformatlon is mcorporated herein by referencc T S P

Item 15..  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on F orm 8-K

(a) The following documents are included as part.of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Financial Statements: : . 3

¢

PAGE
Reports of Independent Reglstered Publrc Accountmg Firm............... e PR 59
ConsolldatedBalanceSheets..,- ............... s 60
Consolidated Statements of Operations. . ..z ...:.e.vuunveenn. e e, 61
Consolldated Statements of Changes in Stockholders Equity (Deficit) ................coonnis 62
Consohdated Statements of Cash Flows ..........ccooviiiiiiiinaenn.. U 63
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. ..o i i iii i e 64
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2. All schedules are omitted as the information required is inapplicable or, the informatiomis ..
presented in the consolidated financial statements or the related notes.

3. Exhibits

S . . R L/ L N
The exhibits required to be filed are listed on the “Exhibit Index” attached hereto, which is
incorporated herein by reference. tart At AT G e W
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused thls report to be srgned onits behalf by the undcrsngned thereunto duly
authorlzed t ‘ ’ : A

* deCODE genetics, Inc. -

! . - T4 Ty

' By:/s/ Kari Stefansson = - !

Kari Stefansson, ‘
s o - Chairman Presidc'nt and Chief Exécutive Officer

Dated March 14, 2007

-

Pursuant to the' requlrcments of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been’ signed
below by the followmg persons on behalf of the reglstrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ Kari Stefansson Charrman Presxdent Chief Executive Officerand March 14, 2007
Kari Stefansson Dlrector (principal executwe ofﬂcer) o
t 4 v i . . . )
/s/ Lance Thibault Chref Financial Officer and Treasurer (prlnapal - March 14, 200?
- Lance Thibault ' ) fmanClal officer and prmc1pal accountmg offlcer) g
/s/ J. Neal Armstrong Director o K : - ' March 14, 2007

J. Neal Armstrong

t

/s/ James'Beery Director ' I - March 14, 2007
James Beery ' - o ' ‘o

/s/ Terrance McGuire’ ©  Director
. Terrance McGuire

March 14, 2007

T
’

/s/ Linda Buck Director March 14, 2007
Linda Buck ' !
fs/ Birgit Stattin Norinder ' Director o a B T Mar’ch 14, 2007
Birgit Stattin Norinder . b
/s/ Earl M. Collier, Jr. _ ~ Director o S March 14, 2007
Earl M. Collier, Jr. " ' c :
/s! Peter Goodfellow Directpr ' _ : g ‘ , March 14, 2007 .
Peter Godfellow " ‘ e ' .
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Exhibii
Number )

31

32

33

4.1

42

43

44

4.5

4.6

47

10.1

10.2%

10.3*

No. 333-116543) which was filed on June 16, 2004).

EXHIBIT-INDEX

ooy B L £ T T TR RO SRR PR T NI

S ' N DYLER” s IS SR 2 Description - i n it Cha
Amended and Restated Certtflcate of Incorporation, as further amended (Incorporated by, .
reference to Exhibit 3.1 and Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-31984) which,became effective on July 17, 2000).
Bylaws, as amended (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-31984) which became effective on July 17,
2000). o r '."_.f-q:%‘_:.;‘ Lo

.+ Certificate of Amendmentito Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated

August 30, 2002 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed on November, 14,2002).; . ...
Specimen Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

.Company’s Registration'Statement.on Form §-1 (Reglstratlon No. 333-31984) whrch became

effective on July 17,2000). ([, : vr fr reayeiio 0 L aictn o e aiee ot o

Form of Warrant to Purchase Series C Preferred Stock (Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on.Form S-1 (Reglstratlon

No. 333- 31984) which became effective on July 17, 2000) o A f o .

Warrant, dated February 25, 2004 issued to Merck & Co., Inc. (Incorporated by rcfcrcncc to ‘

. Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2004).

Indenture dated as of April’] 14 2004 between, chODE genetics, Inc. and Thc Bank of New |
York (including form of 3.5% Senior Convertible Note due 201 1)(Incorporated by reference i
to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Regtstranon
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 14, 2004 between chODE gcnetlcs Inc !
J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Lehman Brothers Inc., as representatives of the Initial ' '
Purchasers (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Company’s Quartcrly Report on

Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2004).

-Indenture dated as of November 17, 2006 between deCODE genetics, Inc: and The Bank of

New York (including form of 3.5% Senior Convertible Note due 201 1)([ncorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 20,
2006).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of November 17, 2006 between deCODE

genetics, Inc. and Lehman Brothers, Inc. as Representative of the Initial Purchasers

-(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8:K filed

on November 20, 2006).
Form of License from The Icelandic Data Protection Commission (now The Icelandtc Data

, Protection Authority) to Islensk erfdagreining ehf. and its Clinical Collaborators to Use and

Access Patient Records and Other Clinical Data Relating to Individuals (Incorporated by,
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form §-1 (Reglstratlon
No. 333-31984) which became effective on July 17, 2000).

1996 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (Incorporated by reference to Exhlblt 10 1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-56996) filed on

March 14, 2001},

Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement, as executed by employees and officers of
deCODE genetics, Inc. who received non-statutory stock options (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed April 15, 2003}.
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Exhibit
Number
10.4*,

A
-1 Co-operation Agreement between Reykjavik Hospital and Islensk erfdagreining ehf., dated

10.5

10.6

10.7% 1 ot

10.8

109

10.10*

10.11*
10.12*

10.13+

10.14+

10.15*

10.16*

10.17

10.18

10.19*

+i% "4 .. Description :: tr‘..i,f
Form of Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement, (Incorporated by i

.reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement omForm S;1 (Registration

No. 333:31984) which became effective:on July:17, 2000). . v ¥ A ot § 1 Gl

November 4, 1998 (Incorporated by reference toExhibit/10.22'to the Companyjs|Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No, 333-3.198,4) whﬁch:becameieffective‘on July17, 1z

2000) R bR LT ) ',jﬂ)}._t S ST PR/ A [ S ‘"‘J}

Co—operatlon Agreement between the- Iceland State Hospital and Islensk erfdagreining ehf:,
dated December,15,,1998 (Incorporated by reference,to Exhibit 10.24 to the;Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1.(Registration No. 333-31984) .whlch became effective on
July 17, 2000).

. Form of Employee Confidentiality,- Invention Assignment;and, Non-Compete Agreement .

executed by certain officers (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to- the Company’st
Registration Statement on Form S 1 (Reglstratnon No. 333-31984) which became effective on
July 17, 2000). BCLRE A OO Y L R IOV B 1 LT PU I L e T ot IVHL VLT S PV (Pl
Purchase Agreement between Vetrargardurmn ehf. and Festing ehf: dated March 29,2005 o, .
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Report on From 10-Q filed on
May 10, 2005).

Lease Agreement between Vetrargardurinn chf. and Festing ehf. dated March 29, 2005
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Report on From 10-Q filed on
May 10, 2005).

Employment Agreement between deCODE genetics, Inc. and Daniel L. Hartman effective as
of July 15, 2005(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Report on From
10-Q} filed on November 9, 2005).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the \
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 1, 2005). :
2002 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Company 5
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 15, 2003).

License Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2003, between deCODE genetics, ehf. and Bayer
AG (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2004). 1

License and Research Collaboration Agreement, dated February 25, 2004, between deCODE
genetics, ehf. and Merck & Co., Inc.

Agreement between deCODE genetics, Inc. and J. Neal Armstrong dated as of A’ugust 18,
2003 and effective as of October 3, 2003 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on From 10-Q filed on November 13, 2003)

2006 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 11, 2006).

Placement Agency Agreement by and among the Company, Lehman Brothers Inc. and
Thomas Weisel Partners LLC dated as of July 13, 2006 (Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 14, 2006).

Form of Purchase Agreement between the Company and Certain Purchasers of Common
Stock (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed on July 14, 2006).

Employment Agreement between deCODE genetics, Inc. and Jakob Sigurdsson, dated as of
{October 25, 2006
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Exhibit - . . !
Number Description

10.20 *© - Purchase Agréement dated November 14, 2006 between deCODE:genetics, Inc. and Lehman
: Brothers, Iric;, as‘Representative of the Initial Purchasers (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 15, 2006).

10.21" Agreement of Purchase and Sale between deCODE Chemistry, Inc and Woodndge Holdings
‘ LLC, dated as of February 5, 2007, v a coan

21.1 " Subsidiaries of deCODE genetics, Inc. -~ - /- e

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered pubhc accounting firm.

311 Certifications plrsuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. -

31.2 Certifications pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 " . Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of -2002.

' [
+ Confidential treatment has been-requested for certain portions of lhlS exhibit. The omltted portions
have been separately filed with. the Commrssnon " : IR

[

*  Constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement ,

Note: Unless otherwise noted; the SEC File number-of each of the above referenced documents is
000-30469: « ™ 1s ey ot ot e < !
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LA GO AD ; _ EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF deCODE genetics, Incaf. ¥ .20 . ."7 o0 0 TeoWh
1. Islensk erfdagrelmng ehf an Icelandic pnvate limited company (Enghsh name: deCODE genetlcs ehf )

bl

2. MednChem Llfe Sc1ences Inc aDela\ifare corporanon g . .

.,“‘;,',._-,..-, A LR

SUBSIDIARIES OF ISLENSK ERFDAGREINING

FRTIE xn 05 5 St AOUOTLL I o L BT O Tt e

1. Islenskar lyfj arannsokmr ehf., an-Icelandlc pnvate llmltcd company. (Engllsh namc Encode ehf. )

2. Islénskar krabbamemsrannsokmr ehf an Icelandlc prwate ‘limited company (Engllsh name deCODE
Cancer ehf.) . .

-

3. UVS—Urdur, Verdandl Skuld ehf.—an Icelandic private limited company (acqmred in January 2006)

’l'» ". ,’1'

SUBSIDIARIES OF MEDICHEM LIFE SCIENCES, INC.
1. deCODE biostructures, Inc., a Washington corporation S O
2. ThermoGien, Inc., an Ilinoi$ corporation ' T

3. Emerald BioSyatems, Inc., a Delaware corporation

4, deCODE Chemistry, Inc., an Illinois corporation

5. MediChem Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation




IR C R ' EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM; i t¢'v * j9

+J.'We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-56996, 333-96825;
333-110905 and 333-139622 on Form S-8 and Regnstratlon Statement Nos. 333‘ -130128, 333- 132576 and i
333-139621 on Form S-3 of our reports dated March'14, 2007, relating'to the consolidated financial "
statements of deCODE genetics, Inc. and subs:dlanes (Wthh TepOIt expresses an unquahﬁcd oplmon and
includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the adopuon of SFAS 123R, Share-Based Payment effectwe
January 1, 2006);.and management’s:report-on the effectiveness of internal control:over financial.. © -~ -} .
reportmg, appeanng in thlS Annual Report on Form IO-K of deCODE genctlcs Inc and subsndlanes for
the year enided Decémber 31,2006, % =t o '

f
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TR EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION .
I, Dr. Kari Stefansson, Chief Executive Officer, certify thatzr -, .. 77 e 0 78 el e wae
1. I have reviewed this annual report on‘ Form 10:K of deCODE genetics, Inc.;+ ..+ - 5., . 1"

2. Based on my knowledge, this-report does not contain any.untrue statement of a material fact-or omit .".
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances-under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect.to the period-covered by:this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informatioﬁ-includcd inthis ¢

report:fairly present in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for; the periods presented in this report. .+ > vty

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for-establishing and maintaining .ty .~
* disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢)-and 15d-15(e)) and
~ internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f).and+15d- 1S(f))
for the registrant and have: I AR TIT P SR

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls-and
+ -, procedures to.be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material-information relating to
« the registrant; including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by.others within those
enlities, particularly. during the period:in which this.report is being prepared; .~ - .i:

b) desngned such internal control over financial reportmg, or caused such internal control.over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,.to provide reasonable assurance
- regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with:generally accepted accounting principles; .

¢} evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as
of the end of the period covered by the.report based on such-evaluation; and b

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control-over financial reporting that
- occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter'(the régistrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has' materially affected, or is-reasonably. lnkely to matenally
affect, the registrant’s internal control over:financial reporting; and ": e+, .y° 5 =) 0

5. .The registrant’s other certifying officer.and I have disclosed, based on:our most recent evaluation of ¢

internal control over financial reporting, to.the registrant’s auditors andithe audit committee of :
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): - - s

a) allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation.of internal control
" over financial reporting which-are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and ... . . VT

b) any fraud, whether or not.material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting..” '« +. .} 2.

- ‘ /s/ Kari Stefansson
. 4 Kari Stefansson
e Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 14, 2007 ) T b e o




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Lance Thibault, Chief Financial Officer, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of deCODE genetics, Inc.;.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report fairly present in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operatioris and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d- 15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
- the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others w1th1n those
entitics, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b} designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance ‘with generally accepted accounting principles;

‘¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as
of the end of the period covered by the report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
* occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to matcrlally
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and- '

- The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): .

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design.or operation-of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting,. --

/s/ Lance Thibault
Lance Thibault .
Chief Financial Officer

Dated: March 14, 2007 ) T I




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection w1th the Annual Report on Form 10-K of deCODE genetics, Inc. (the “Reglstrant") for
the year ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report™), the undersigned , Kari Stefansson, Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Registrant, and Lance Thibault, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the Registrant,
each hereby certlflc s, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that: (1) the Report fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and (2) that the
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ Kari Stefansson
Kari Stefansson !
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 14, 2007

/s/ Lance Thibaulit
Lance Thibault '
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Dated: March 14, 2007
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